The original documents are located in Box 17, folder "12/30/74 S425 Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1974 (vetoed) (3)" of the White House Records Office: Legislation Case Files at the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Library.

Copyright Notice

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material. Gerald R. Ford donated to the United States of America his copyrights in all of his unpublished writings in National Archives collections. Works prepared by U.S. Government employees as part of their official duties are in the public domain. The copyrights to materials written by other individuals or organizations are presumed to remain with them. If you think any of the information displayed in the PDF is subject to a valid copyright claim, please contact the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Library.

Exact duplicates within this folder were not digitized.

Calendar No. 378

93D CONGRESS }
1st Session

SENATE

REPORT No. 93-402

SURFACE MINING RECLAMATION ACT OF 1973

REPORT

OF THE

COMMITTEE ON INTERIOR AND INSULAR AFFAIRS UNITED STATES SENATE

TO ACCOMPANY

S. 425



SEPTEMBER 21, 1973.—Ordered to be printed

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

99-010 O

WASHINGTON: 1973

COMMITTEE ON INTERIOR AND INSULAR AFFAIRS

HENRY M. JACKSON, Washington, Chairman

ALAN BIBLE, Nevada
FRANK CHURCH, Idaho
LEE METCALF, Montana
J. BENNETT JOHNSTON, JR., Louisiana
JAMES ABOUREZK, South Dakota
FLOYD K. HASKELL, Colorado
GAYLORD NELSON, Wisconsin

PAUL J. FANNIN, Arizona
CLIFFORD P. HANSEN, Wyoming
MARK O. HATFIELD, Oregon
JAMES L. BUCKLEY, New York
JAMES A. McCLURE, Idaho
DEWEY F. BARTLETT, Oklahoma

JERRY T. VERKLER, Staff Director
WILLIAM J. VAN NESS, Chief Counsel
D. MICHAEL HARVEY, Special Counsel
LUCILLE M. LANGLOIS, Staff Consultant
HARRISON LOESCH, Minority Counsel
W O. CRAFT, Jr., Deputy Minority Counsel

Œ

CONTENTS

a	Pag€
S. 425, as reported	. 1
I. Purpose	32
II. Need	- 33
III. Major provisions	- 33 - 40
IV. Committee recommendation	- 1 0 - 47
V. Legislative history	47
VI. Section-by-section analysis	48
VII. Tabulation of votes cast in committee	. 78
VIII. Cost estimates pursuant to section 252 of the Legislative Reorganization Act of 1970	79
IX. Executive communications	. 79
X. Changes in existing law	. 94

(III)

93D CONGRESS 1st Session

SENATE

REPORT No. 93-402

SURFACE MINING RECLAMATION ACT OF 1973

SEPTEMBER 21, 1973.—Ordered to be printed

Mr. Metcalf, from the Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs submitted the following

REPORT

[To accompany S. 425]

The Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, to which was referred the bill (S. 425) to provide for the cooperation between the Secretary of the Interior and the States with respect to the regulation of surface mining operations, and the acquisition and reclamation of abandoned mines, and for other purposes, having considered the same, reports favorably thereon with an amendment and recommends that the bill, as amended, do pass.

The amendment is as follows:

Strike out all after the enacting clause and insert the following

That this Act may be cited as the "Surface Mining Reclamation Act of 1973".

CONTENTS

TITLE I-STATEMENT OF FINDINGS AND POLICY

Sec. 101. Findings. Sec. 102. Purposes.

TITLE II-EXISTING AND PROSPECTIVE SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATIONS

Sec. 201. Grant of authority: promulgation of Federal regulations.

Sec. 202. Office of Surface Mining, Reclamation, and Enforcement.

Sec. 203. Surface mining operations not subject to this Act.

Sec. 204. State authority; State programs.

Sec. 205. Federal programs.

Sec. 206. Surface mining operations pending State compliance.

Sec. 207. Permits.

Sec. 208. Permit application requirements: Information, insurance, and reclamation plans.

Sec. 209. Permit application approval procedures.

Sec. 210. Performance bonds.

Sec. 211. Release of performance bonds or deposits.

Sec. 212. Revision and revocation of permits.

Sec. 213. Criteria for surface mining and reclamation operations.

Sec. 214. Inspections. Sec. 215. Federal enforcement.

Sec. 216. Designation of land areas unsuitable for surface mining.

Sec. 217. Federal lands.

Sec. 218. Public agencies, public utilities, and public corporations.

Sec. 219. Citizen suits.

TITLE III—ABANDONED AND UNRECLAIMED MINED AREAS

Sec. 301. Abandoned mine reclamation fund.

Sec. 302. Acquisition and reclamation of abandoned and unreclaimed mined areas.

Sec. 303. Filling voids and sealing tunnels.

TITLE IV-STUDIES OF SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION

Sec. 401. Study of reclamation standards.

Sec. 402. A study of means to maximize resource recovery and minimize environmental impacts in mining for coal and other minerals.

Sec. 403. Indian lands study.

TITLE V-ADMINISTRATIVE AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Sec. 501. Definitions.

Sec. 502. Advisory committees.

Sec. 503. Grants to the States.

Sec. 504. Research and demonstration projects.

Sec. 505. Grant authority for other minerals. Sec. 506. Annual report.

Sec. 507. Authorization of appropriations. Sec. 508. Temporary suspension.

Sec. 509. Other Federal laws.

Sec. 510. State laws.

Sec. 511. Protection of the surface owner.

Sec. 512. Preference for persons adversely affected by the Act.

Sec. 513. Severability.

TITLE I—STATEMENT OF FINDINGS AND POLICY

Sec. 101. Findings.—The Congress finds and declares that—

(1) extraction of coal and other minerals from the earth can be accomplished by various methods of mining, including surface mining:

(2) extraction of minerals by surface mining operations is a significant and essential activity which contributes to the eco-

nomic, social, and material well-being of the Nation;

(3) many surface mining operations result in disturbances of surface areas that burden and adversely affect commerce and the public welfare by destroying or diminishing the utility of land for commercial, industrial, residential, recreational, agricultural, and forestry purposes, by causing erosion and landslides, by contributing to floods, by polluting the water, by destroying fish and wildlife habitat, by impairing natural beauty, by damaging the property of citizens, by creating hazards dangerous to life and property, by degrading the quality of life in local communities, and by counteracting governmental programs and efforts to conserve soil, water, and other natural resources;

(4) surface mining and reclamation technology are now developing so that effective and reasonable regulation of coal surface mining operations by the States and by the Federal Government in accordance with the requirements of this Act is an appropriate and necessary means to minimize so far as practicable the adverse, social, economic, and environmental effects of such mining op-

erations:

(5) because of the diversity in terrain, climate, biologic, chemical, and other physical conditions in areas subject to mining operations, the primary governmental responsibility for developing, authorizing, issuing, and enforcing regulations for surface mining and reclamation operations subject to this Act should rest with the States; and

(6) while there is a need to regulate surface mining operations for minerals other than coal, more data and analyses are needed to serve as a basis for effective and reasonable regulation of such

operations.

Sec. 102. Purposes.—It is the long-term goal of Congress to prevent the adverse effect to society and the environment resulting from surface mining operations. Toward that end, it is the purpose of this Act to—

(1) establish a nationwide program in accordance with the policy and objectives of the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970

(30 U.S.C. 21a);

(2) assure that the rights of surface landowners and persons with a valid legal interest in the land are fully protected from such operations;

(3) assure that coal surface mining operations are not conducted

where reclamation as required by this Act is not feasible;

(4) assure that coal surface mining operations are so conducted as to prevent degradation to land and water;

(5) assure that adequate measures are undertaken to reclaim surface areas as contemporaneously as possible with the coal surface mining operations;

(6) assist the States in developing and implementing such a

program;

(7) wherever necessary, exercise the full reach of Federal constitutional powers to insure the protection of the public interest through the effective control of coal surface mining operations;

(8) provide a means for development of the data and analyses necessary to establish effective and reasonable regulation of surface mining operations for other minerals; and

(9) strike a balance between protection of the environment and the Nation's need for coal as an essential source of energy.

TITLE II—EXISTING AND PROSPECTIVE SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATIONS

Sec. 201. Grant of Authority: Promulgation of Federal Regu-LATIONS.—(a) Not later than six months after the date of enactment of this Act, the Secretary, in accordance with the requirements of this Act, and the procedures set forth in this section, shall publish in the Federal Register regulations covering surface mining and reclamation operations for coal which shall set forth in reasonable detail those actions which a State must take to develop a State Program and other-

wise meet the requirements of this Act.

(b) Such regulations shall not be published until the Secretary has first published proposed regulations in the Federal Register, afforded interested persons and State and local governments a period of not less than forty-five days after publication to submit written comments and held one or more public hearings on the proposed regulations. The date, time, and place of such hearings shall be set out in the notice of proposed rule making. The Secretary shall, after considerations of all comments and relevant matter presented, publish the regulations with such modifications from the proposed regulation as he may deem

(c) The Administrative Procedure Act shall be applicable to the administration of this Act: Provided, That whenever procedures provided for in this Act are in conflict with the Administrative Procedure

Act, the provisions of this Act shall prevail.

Sec. 202. Office of Surface Mining, Reclamation, and Enforce-MENT.—(a) There is hereby established in the Department of the Interior the Office of Surface Mining, Reclamation, and Enforcement.

- (b) The Office shall have a Director who shall be appointed by the President, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate, and shall be compensated at the rate provided for level V of the Executive Schedule Pay Rates (5 U.S.C. 5315), and such other employees as may be required. The Director shall have the responsibilities provided for under this Act and such duties and responsibilities as the Secretary of the Interior may assign. Employees of the Office shall be recruited on the basis of their professional competence and capacity to administer objectively the provisions of this Act. Employees may be recruited from the United States Geological Survey, the Bureau of Mines, the Bureau of Land Management, and other departments and agencies of the Federal Government which have expertise pertinent to the responsibilities of the Office. No legal authority which has as its purpose promoting the development or use of coal or other mineral resources, shall be transferred to the Office.
 - (c) The Secretary, acting through the Office, shall—
 - (1) administer the State grant-in-aid program for the development of State programs for surface mining and reclamation operations provided for in title IV of this Act;

(2) administer the grant-in-aid program to the States for the purchase and reclamation of abandoned and unreclaimed mined areas pursuant to title III of this Act:

(3) administer the surface mining and reclamation research and demonstration project authority provided for in section 504

of this Act:

(4) develop and administer any Federal programs for surface mining and reclamation operations which may be required pursuant to this title and review State programs for surface mining and reclamation operations pursuant to this title:

(5) consult with other agencies of the Federal Government having expertise in the control and reclamation of surface mining operations and assist States, local governments, and other eligible

agencies in the coordination of such programs;

(6) maintain a continuing study of surface mining and reclama-

tion operations in the United States;

(7) develop and maintain a Surface Mining and Reclamation Information and Data Center and make the information maintained at the Data Center available to the public and to Federal, regional, State, and local agencies conducting or concerned with land-use planning and agencies concerned with surface mining and reclamation operations:

(8) assist the States in the development of State programs for surface mining and reclamation operations which meet the requirements of this Act and, at the same time, reflect local require-

ments and local environmental conditions: and

(9) assist the States in developing objective scientific criteria and appropriate procedures and institutions for determining those areas of a State to be designated unsuitable for all or cer-

tain types of mining pursuant to section 216, and

(10) monitor all Federal and State research programs dealing with coal extraction and use and recommend research projects designed to (1) improve the feasibility of underground coal mining and (2) develop improved techniques of surface mining and reclamation.

Sec. 203. Surface Mining Operations Not Subject to This Act.— (a) The provisions of this Act shall not apply to any of the following activities:

(1) the extraction of coal by a landowner for his own noncommercial use from land owned or leased by him; and

(2) the extraction of coal for commercial purposes where the

surface mining operation affects two acres or less.

Sec. 204. State Authority; State Programs.—(a) A State, to be eligible to receive financial assistance provided for under titles III and V of this Act and to be eligible to assume exclusive jurisdiction, except as provided by section 215 and title III of this Act, over surface mining and reclamation operations on lands within such State, shall-

(1) have appropriate legal authority under State laws to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations in accordance

with the requirements of this Act:

(2) provide sanctions under State law for violations of State laws, regulations, or conditions of permits concerning surface mining and reclamation operations which meet the requirements of this Act, such sanctions to include civil and criminal penalties, forfeiture of bonds, withholding of permits, and the issuance of cease-and-desist orders by the State regulatory authority or its inspectors:

(3) have available sufficient administrative and technical personnel, adequate interdisciplinary expertise, and sufficient funding to enable the State to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations in accordance with the requirements of this Act;

(4) submit to the Secretary for approval in accordance with the requirements of this Act a State program which provides for the effective implementation, maintenance, and enforcement of a permit system for the regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations for coal on lands within such State;

(5) include in any State program a process for coordinating the review and issuance of permits for surface mining and reclamation operations with any other Federal or State permit proc-

ess applicable to the proposed operation; and

(6) have established a process for designation of areas as unsuitable for surface mining in accordance with section 216 and be actively conducting a review of potential surface mining areas within its boundaries.

(b) The Secretary shall not approve any State program submitted

by a State pursuant to this section until:

(1) he has solicited the views of the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency, the Secretary of Agriculture, and the heads of other Federal agencies concerned with or having special expertise pertinent to the proposed State Program; and

(2) he has provided an opportunity for a public hearing on

the State Program within the State.

(c) The Secretary shall, within four calendar months following the submission of any State Program, approve or disapprove such State Program or any portion thereof. The Secretary shall approve a State Program if he determines that the State Program meets or exceeds the requirements of this Act.

(d) If the Secretary disapproves any proposed State Program, he shall notify the State in writing of his decision and set forth in detail the reasons therefor. The State shall have sixty days in which to re-

submit a revised State Program.

(e) For the purposes of this section and section 205, the inability of a State to take any action the purpose of which is to prepare, submit or enforce a State Program, or any portion thereof, because the action is enjoined by the issuance of an injunction by any court of competent jurisdiction shall not result in a loss of eligibility for financial assistance under titles III and V of this Act or in the imposition of a Federal Program. Regulation of the surface mining and reclamation operations covered or to be covered by the State Program subject to the injunction shall be conducted by the State until such time as the injunction terminates or for one year, whichever is shorter, at which time the requirements of sections 204 and 205 shall again be fully applicable.

Sec. 205. Federal Programs.—(a) The Secretary shall prepare and, subject to the provisions of this section, promulgate and implement a Federal Program for a State if such State—

(1) fails to submit a State Program covering surface mining and reclamation operations within twelve months of the promul-

gation of the Federal regulations for such operations;

(2) fails to resubmit an acceptable State Program within sixty days of disapproval of a proposed State Program: Provided, That the Secretary shall not implement a Federal Program prior to the expiration of the initial period allowed for submission of a State Program as provided for in clause (1) of this subsection;

(3) fails to enforce its approved State Program as provided

for in this Act.

If State compliance with clause (1) of this subsection requires an act of the State legislature the Secretary may extend the period for submission of a State program up to an additional six months. Promulgation and implementation of a Federal program vests the Secretary with exclusive jurisdiction for the regulation and control of surface mining and reclamation operations taking place on lands within any State not in compliance with this Act. After promulgation and implementation of a Federal program the Secretary shall be the regulatory authority. In promulgating and implementing a Federal program for a particular State the Secretary shall take into consideration the nature of that State's terrain, climate, biological, chemical, and other relevant physical conditions.

(b) Prior to promulgation and implementation of any proposed Federal program, the Secretary shall give adequate public notice and

hold a public hearing in the affected State.

(c) Permits issued pursuant to an approved State program shall be valid but reviewable under a Federal program. Immediately following promulgation of a Federal program, the Secretary shall undertake to review such permits to determine that the requirements of this Act are not violated. If the Secretary determines any permit to have been granted contrary to the requirements of this Act, he shall so advise the permittee and provide him a reasonable opportunity for submission of a new application and reasonable time to conform ongoing surface mining and reclamation operations to the requirements of the Federal program.

(d) (1) If a State submits a proposed State program to the Secretary after a Federal program has been promulgated and implemented pursuant to this section, and if the Secretary approves the State program, the Federal program shall cease to be effective thirty days after such approval. Permits issued pursuant to the Federal program shall be valid but reviewable under the approved State program. The State regulatory authority may review such permits to determine that the requirements of this Act and the approved State program are not violated. If the State regulatory authority determines any permit to have been granted contrary to the requirements of the Act or the approved State program, he shall so advise the permittee and provide him a reasonable opportunity for submission of a new application and

reasonable time to conform ongoing surface mining and reclamation operations to the requirements of the Act or approved State program.

(2) Whenever a Federal program is promulgated for a State pursuant to this Act, any statutes or regulations of such State which are in effect to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations subject to this Act shall, insofar as they interfere with the achievement of the purposes and the requirements of this Act and the Federal program, be preempted and superseded by the Federal Program.

(e) Any Federal program shall include a process for coordinating the review and issuance of permits for surface mining and reclamation operations with any other Federal or State permit process applicable

to the proposed operation.

Sec. 206. Surface Mining Operations Pending State Compliance.—From the date of enactment of this Act until twenty-two months after such date (plus the period of any extension granted under section 205(a)) no person shall open or develop any new or previously mined and abandoned site for coal surface mining operations on lands within any State, or expand by more than 15 per centum the area of land affected in the preceding twelve months by a coal surface mining operation existing on the date of enactment of this Act unless such person has first obtained an interim permit issued by the appropriate State regulatory authority which may issue such interim permits upon application made by the operator. Such application and permit shall be in accordance with the requirements of this Act.

Sec. 207. Permits.—(a) After the expiration of the twenty-two month period (plus the period of any extension granted under section 205(a)) following the date of enactment of this Act, no person shall engage in or carry out on lands within a State any surface mining operations unless such person has first obtained a permit issued by such State pursuant to an approved State Program or by the Secretary pursuant to a Federal Program, except that a person conducting surface mining operations existing at the date of enactment of this Act may conduct such operations without a permit beyond such period if an application for a permit with respect to such operations has been filed, but the initial administrative decision has not been rendered. It is the sense of Congress that administrative or judicial appeals in connection with permit applications shall be granted the highest priority and preference in all courts and be resolved as expeditiously as possible.

(b) The term of any permit for surface mining and reclamation operations shall not exceed five years if issued pursuant to an approved State program and shall be for five years if issued pursuant to a Federal program. Each permit shall carry with it a right of successive renewals if the permittee has complied with the requirements of the approved State program or a Federal program for the State within which the operations are conducted and has the capability to implement the reclamation plan applicable to the operations covered by the permit. Prior to approving the renewal of any permit the regulatory authority shall review the permit and the surface mining and reclamation operations and may require such new conditions and requirements as are necessary to deal with changing circumstances. A permit shall be renewed by operation of law unless prior to expiration of the

permit term the permittee has been given timely notice and a hearing in accordance with the rules and regulations of the regulatory authority and the regulatory authority has found that the requirements for renewal have not been satisfied.

(c) A permit shall terminate if the permittee has not commenced the surface mining and reclamation operations covered by such permit

within three years of the issuance of the permit.

SEC. 208. PERMIT APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS: INFORMATION, INSURANCE, AND RECLAZATION PLANS.—(a) Each application for a permit under a State program or Federal program pursuant to the provisions of this Act shall include as a minimum the following information—

(1) the names and addresses of (A) the permit applicant; (B) every legal owner of record of the property (surface and mineral) to be mined; (C) the holders of record of any leasehold interest in the property; (D) any purchaser of record of the property under a real estate contract; (E) the operator if he is a person different from the applicant; and (F) if any of these are business entities other than a single proprietor, the names and addresses of the principals, officers, and resident agent;

(2) the names and addresses of the owners of record of all surface area within five hundred feet of any part of the permit area;

(3) a statement of any current or previous mining permits in

the State held by the applicant and the permit numbers;

(4) if the applicant is a partnership, corporation, association, or other business entity, the following where applicable (A) the name and address of each partner owning 3 per centum or more of the partnership, and (B) the name and address of each shareholder owning 3 per centum or more of the shares, together with the number and percentage of any class of voting shares of the entity which such shareholder is authorized to vote;

(5) a statement of whether the applicant, any subsidiary, affiliate, or persons controlled by or under common control with the applicant, has ever held a Federal or State mining permit which subsequent to 1960 has been suspended or revoked or has had a mining bond or similar security deposited in lieu of bond forfeited

and, if so, a brief explanation of the facts involved;

(6) such maps and topographical information, including the location of all underground mines in the area, as the regulatory authority may require which shall be in sufficient detail to clearly indicate the nature and extent of the overburden to be disturbed, the coal to be mined, and the drainage of the area to be affected;

- (7) a copy of the applicant's advertisement of the ownership, location, and boundaries of the proposed site of the surface mining and reclamation operations, such advertisement shall be placed in a newspaper of general circulation in the locality of the proposed site at least once a week for four successive weeks and may be submitted to the regulating authority after the application is filed;
- (8) the anticipated starting date of the proposed operation; (9) the number of acres of land to be affected by the proposed operation;

(10) the name of the watershed and location of the surface stream or tributary into which surface and pit drainage will be discharged;

(11) evidence of the applicant's legal right to enter and com-

mence surface mining operations on the area affected;

(12) when requested by the regulatory authority, the climatological factors that are peculiar to the locality of the land to be affected, including the average seasonal precipitation, the average direction and velocity of prevailing winds, and the seasonal temperature ranges; and

(13) such other information as the regulatory authority may

require.

(b) Each applicant for a permit shall be required to submit to the regulatory authority as part of the permit application a certificate issued by an insurance company authorized to do business in the United States certifying that the applicant has a public liability insurance policy in force for the surface mining and reclamation operations for which such permit is sought, or evidence that the applicant has satisfied other State or Federal self-insurance requirements. Such policy shall provide for personal injury and property damage protection in an amount adequate to compensate any persons damaged as a result of surface mining and reclamation operations and entitled to compensation under the applicable provisions of State law. Such policy shall be maintained in full force and effect during the term of the permit or any renewal, including the length of all reclamation operations.

(c) Each applicant for a permit shall be required to submit to the regulatory authority as part of the permit application a reclamation

plan which shall meet the requirements of this Act.

Sec. 209. Permit Application Approval Procedures.—(a) The regulatory authority shall notify the applicant for a permit within a period of time established by law or regulation whether the application has been approved or disapproved. If approved, the permit shall be issued after the performance bond or deposit required by section 210 has been filed. If the application is disapproved, specific reasons therefor must be set forth in the notification. Within thirty days after the applicant is notified that the permit or any portion thereof has been denied, the applicant may request a hearing on the reasons for said disapproval. A hearing shall be held within thirty days of the request. Within thirty days after the hearing the regulatory authority shall issue and furnish the applicant the written decision of the regulatory authority granting or denying the permit in whole or in part and stating the reasons therefor.

(b) No permit will be issued unless the regulatory authority finds that (1) all the requirements of this Act and the State or Federal Program have been complied with, and (2) the applicant has demonstrated that reclamation as required by this Act and the State or Federal Program can be accomplished under the Reclamation Plan contained in

the permit application.

(c) The regulatory authority shall not issue any new surface mining permit or renew or revise any existing surface mining permit of any operator if it finds that the applicant or operator has failed and continues to fail to comply with any of the provisions of any State or Federal Program.

(d) Any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected by the proposed surface mining and reclamation operations or any Federal, State, or local governmental agency having responsibilities affected by the proposed operations shall have the right to file written objections to any permit application within thirty days after the last publication of the advertisement pursuant to clause 208(a) (7). If written objections are filed, the regulatory authority shall hold a public hearing in the locality of the proposed surface mining and reclamation operations within thirty days of the receipt of such objections and after appropriate notice and publication of the date, time, and location of such hearing.

(e) Any person or government agency having an interest which is or may be adversely affected by the proposed surface mining operations, who has participated in the administrative procedures as an applicant, protestant or chiector, and who is adversely affected or

applicant, protestant, or objector, and who is adversely affected or aggrieved by the decision of the regulatory authority shall be entitled to judicial review of such decision by a court of competent jurisdiction in accordance with State or Federal law. Where Federal invited

tion in accordance with State or Federal law. Where Federal jurisdiction exists it shall be exercised by the United States district court

for the district in which the proposed surface mining operation is situated.

Sec. 210. Performance Bonds.—(a) After a surface mining and reclamation permit application has been approved but before such a permit is issued, the applicant shall file with the regulatory authority, on a form prescribed and furnished by the regulatory authority, a bond for performance payable, as appropriate, to the United States

or to the State, and conditioned upon faithful performance of all the requirements of this Act and the permit. The bond shall cover that area of land within the permit area upon which the operator will initiate and conduct surface mining and reclamation operations within

the initial term of the permit. As succeeding increments of surface mining and reclamation operations are to be initiated and conducted within the permit area, the permittee shall file with the regulator

authority an additional bond or bonds to cover such increments in accordance with this section. The amount of the bond required for each bonded area shall depend upon the reclamation requirements of the approved permit and shall be determined by the regulatory authority

on the basis of at least two independent estimates. The amount of the bond shall be sufficient to assure the completion of the reclamation

plan if the work had to be performed by a third party in the event of forfeiture and in no case shall the bond be less than \$10,000.

(b) Liability under the bond shall be for the duration of the surface mining and reclamation operation and for a period of five years thereafter, except in those areas where the average annual rainfall is 26 inches or less, the period of liability shall extend for ten years, unless sooner released as hereinafter provided in this Act. The bond shall be executed by the operator and a corporate surety licensed to do business in the State where such operation is located, except that the operator may elect to deposit cash, negotiable bonds of the United States Government or such State, or negotiable certificates of deposit of any bank organized or transacting business in the United States. The cash deposit or market value of such securities shall be equal to or greater than the amount of the bond required for the bonded area.

(c) The regulatory authority may require a deposit or accept the bond of the applicant itself, when the applicant demonstrates to the satisfaction of the regulatory authority the existence of a suitable agent to receive service of process and a history of financial solvency and continuous operation sufficient for authorization to self-insure or bond such amount.

(d) The amount of the bond or deposit required and the terms of each acceptance of the applicant's bond shall be adjusted by the regulatory authority from time to time as affected land acreages are increased or where the cost of future reclamation obviously changes.

Sec. 211. Release of Performance Bonds or Deposits.—(a) The permittee may file a request with the regulatory authority for the release of all or part of the performance bond or deposit. Within thirty days after any application for bond or deposit release has been filed with the regulatory authority, the operator shall submit a copy of an advertisement placed on five successive days in a newspaper of general circulation in the locality of the surface mining operation. Such advertisement shall be considered part of any bond release application and shall contain a notification of the location of the land affected, the number of acres, the permit number and the date approved, the amount of the bond filed and the portion sought to be released, and the type of reclamation work performed. In addition, as part of any bond release application, the applicant shall submit copies of letters which he has sent to adjoining property owners, local governmental bodies, planning agencies, and sewage and water treatment authorities, or water companies in the locality in which the surface mining and reclamation activities took place, notifying them of his intention to seek release from the bond.

(b) The regulatory authority may release in whole or in part said bond or deposit if the authority is satisfied that reclamation covered by the bond or deposit or portion thereof has been accomplished as

required by this Act: Provided, however, That-

(1) no bond shall be fully released until all reclamation require-

ments of this Act are fully met, and

(2) an inspection and evaluation of the affected surface mining and reclamation operations is made by the regulatory authority or

its authorized representative prior to the release.

(c) If the regulatory authority disapproves the application for release of the bond or portion thereof, the authority shall notify the permittee, in writing, stating the reasons for disapproval and recommending corrective actions necessary to secure said release. The permittee shall be afforded a reasonable period of time to take such corrective actions.

(d) If requested by any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected by the failure of the permittee to have complied with the requirements of this Act or by any Federal, State, or local governmental entity, the regulatory authority shall, within 30 days after appropriate public notice, hold a public hearing on the surface mining and reclamation operations covered by a performance bond. Such hearing shall be held after the release of 50 per centum or more and prior to the release of 90 per centum of such bond.

SEC. 212. REVISION AND REVOCATION OF PERMITS.—(a) Once granted a permit may not be revoked unless: (1) the regulatory authority gives

the permittee prior notice of violation of the provisions of the permit, the State Program or Federal Program, or this Act and affords a reasonable period of time of not less than fifteen days or more than one year within which to take corrective action; and (2) the regulatory authority determines, after a public hearing, if requested by the permittee, that the permittee remains in violation. The regulatory authority shall issue and furnish the permittee a written decision either affirming or rescinding the revocation and stating the reasons therefor.

(b) (1) During the term of the permit the permittee may submit an application, together with a revised reclamation plan, to the regulatory

authority for a revision of the permit.

(2) An application for a revision of a permit shall not be approved unless the regulatory authority finds that reclamation as required by this Act and the State or Federal Program can be accomplished under the revised Reclamation Plan. The revision shall be approved or disapproved within a period of time established by the State or Federal Program. The regulatory authority shall establish guidelines for a determination of the scale or extent of a revision request for which all permit application information requirements and procedures, including notice and hearings, shall apply: Provided, That any revisions which propose a substantial change in the intended future use of the land or significant alterations in the Reclamation Plan shall, at a minimum, be subject to notice and hearing requirements.

(3) Any extensions to the area covered by the permit except incidental boundary revisions must be made by application for another

permit.

(c) No transfer, assignment or sale of the rights granted under any permit issued pursuant to this Act shall be made without the writ-

ten approval of the regulatory authority.

SEC. 213. CRITERIA FOR SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERA-TIONS.—(a) Each Reclamation Plan submitted as part of a permit application pursuant to an approved State program or a Federal program under the provisions of this Act shall include, in the degree of detail necessary to demonstrate that reclamation required by the State or Federal Program can be accomplished, a statement of:

(1) the condition of the land to be covered by the permit prior

to any mining including:

(A) the uses existing at the time of the application and, if the land has a history of previous mining, the uses which preceded any mining;

(B) the capability of the land prior to any mining to support a variety of uses giving consideration to soil and foundation characteristics, topography, and vegetative cover;

(2) the use which is proposed to be made of the land following reclamation, including a discussion of the utility and capacity of the reclaimed land to support a variety of alternative uses and the relationship of such use to existing land use policies and plans;

(3) the engineering techniques proposed to be used in mining and reclamation and a description of the major equipment; a plan for the control of surface water drainage and of water accumulation; a plan where appropriate for backfilling, soil stabilization, and compacting, grading, and appropriate revegetation (where

vegetation existed immediately prior to mining); an estimate of the cost per acre of the reclamation, including a statement as to how the permittee plans to comply with each of the requirements set out in subsection (b) of this section;

(4) the steps to be taken to comply with applicable air and water quality laws and regulations and any applicable health and

safety standards;

(5) the consideration which has been given to developing the Reclamation Plan in a manner consistent with local, physical, environmental, and climatological conditions and current mining and reclamation technologies;

(6) the consideration which has been given to insuring the

maximum practicable recovery of the mineral resource;

(7) a detailed estimated timetable for the accomplishment of

each major step in the reclamation plan;

(8) the consideration which has been given to making the surface mining and reclamation operations consistent with applica-

ble State and local land use plans and programs;

(9) all lands, interests in lands, or options on such interests held by the applicant or pending bids on interests in lands by the applicant, which lands are contiguous to the area to be covered by the permit: Provided, That any information required by this section which is not on public file pursuant to State law shall be held in confidence by the regulatory authority; and

(10) the results of test borings which the applicant has made at the area to be covered by the permit, including the location of subsurface water, and an analysis of the chemical properties including acid forming properties of the mineral and overburden: Provided. That information about the mineral shall be withheld by the regulatory authority if the applicant so requests.

(b) Each State Program and each Federal Program shall include

regulations which at a minimum require each permittee to-

(1) return all surface areas to a condition which does not present a hazard to public health, safety, or property and is capable of supporting (a) the uses which existed immediately prior to any mining, or if approved by the regulatory authority pursuant to the approval of the permit or any revision thereof, (b) other

alternate uses suitable to the locality;

(2) backfill, compact (where advisable to insure stability or to prevent leaching of toxic materials) and grade to restore the approximate original contour of the land with all highwalls, spoil piles, and depressions eliminated, unless the operator demonstrates that the overburden is insufficient (giving due consideration to volumetric expansion) to restore the approximate original contour, in which case the backfilling, compacting, and grading required shall be sufficient to cover all acid-forming, saline, and toxic materials, to achieve an angle of repose based upon soil and climate characteristics for the area of land to be affected, and to achieve an environmentally sound condition and a desirable use of the reclaimed area;

(3) stabilize and protect all surface areas affected by the mining and reclamation operations to effectively control erosion and attendant air and water pollution, such stabilization and recla-

mation to include soil compaction, where advisable, and establishment of a stable and self-regenerating vegetative cover (where cover existed prior to mining) which, where advisable, shall be

comprised of native vegetation;

(4) segregate and preserve topsoil unless replaced simultaneously as part of the mining operation and use the best available other soil material from the mining cycle to cover spoil material unless the permit applicant provides evidence in the Reclamation Plan sufficient to satisfy the regulatory authority that another method of soil conservation would be at least equally effective for revegetation purposes:

(5) protect offsite areas from slides or damage occurring during the surface mining and reclamation operations, and not deposit spoil material or locate any part of the operations or waste

accumulations outside the permit area:

- (6) insure that when performing surface mining on steep slopes, no debris, abandoned or disabled equipment, spoil material, or waste mineral matter be placed on the natural downslope below the bench or mining cut, except that soil or spoil material from the initial cut of earth in a new surface mining operation can be placed on a limited and specified area of the downslope below the initial cut if the permittee demonstrates that such soil or spoil material will not slide and that the other requirements of this subsection can still be met;
- (7) protect the quality of water and consider the quantity of water in surface and ground water systems both during and after surface mining and reclamation operations by:
 - (A) avoiding acid mine drainage by (i) preventing or retaining drainage from acid producing deposits, or (ii) treating drainage to acceptable standards of acidity and iron content before releasing it to water courses;

(B) conducting surface mining operations so as to minimize to the extent practicable the adverse effects of water run-

off from the disturbed area:

(C) casing, sealing, or otherwise managing boreholes, shafts, and wells to prevent acid drainage to ground and surface waters; and

(D) not removing, interrupting, or destroying surface waters during the mining or reclamation process except that surface waters may be relocated where consistent with the operator approved reclamation plan;

(E) such other actions as the regulatory authority may

prescribe:

(8) insure the control of surface operations incident to underground mining for the purpose of protecting the surface area, and providing for the proper sealing of shafts, tunnels, and entryways and the filling of exploratory holes no longer necessary for mining, maximizing to the extent practicable return of mine and processing waste, tailings, and any other waste incident to the mining operation, to the mine workings or excavations, and, where such wastes are disposed of in other areas, providing for design and construction of water retention facilities so as to assure (a) that the location will not endanger public health and

safety should failure occur; (b) that construction will be so designed to achieve necessary stability with an adequate margin of safety compatible with that of structures constructed under the Act of August 4, 1954, as amended (16 U.S.C. 1001-09), to assure against failure; (c) that leachate will not pollute surface or ground water; and (d) that final contour of the waste accumulation will be compatible with the surrounding terrain;

(9) insure that all debris, acid forming materials, toxic materials, or materials constituting a fire hazard are treated or disposed of in a manner designed to prevent contamination of ground

or surface waters:

(10) insure that explosives are used only in accordance with existing State and Federal law and the regulations promulgated by the regulatory authority;

(11) insure that all reclamation efforts proceed in an environmentally sound manner and as contemporaneously as practicable

with the surface mining operations; and

(12) meet such other criteria as are necessary to achieve reclamation in accordance with the purposes of this Act, taking into consideration the physical, climatological, and other characteristics of the site, and to insure the maximum practicable recovery of the mineral resources.

Sec. 214. Inspections.—(a) The Secretary shall cause to be made such inspections of any surface mining and reclamation operations as are necessary to evaluate the administration of State Programs, or to develop or enforce any Federal Program, and for such purposes authorized representatives of the Secretary shall have a reasonable right of entry to any surface mining and reclamation operations.

(b) For the purpose of developing or assisting in the development, administration, and enforcement of any State or Federal Program under this Act or in the administration and enforcement of any permit under this Act, or of determining whether any person is in viola

tion of any requirement of this Act-

(1) the regulatory authority shall require each permittee to (A) establish and maintain appropriate records, (B) make reports, (C) install, use, and maintain any necessary monitoring equipment, and (D) provide such other information relative to surface mining and reclamation operations as the regulatory authority deems reasonable and necessary; and

(2) the authorized representatives of the regulatory authority, upon presentation of appropriate credentials (A) shall have a right of entry to, upon or through any surface mining and reclamation operations or any premises in which any records required to be maintained under paragraph (1) of this subsection are located and (B) may at reasonable times have access to and copy any records, inspect any monitoring equipment or method of operation required under this Act.

(c) The inspections by the regulatory authority shall (i) occur on a random basis averaging not less than one inspection per month for the surface mining and reclamation operations covered by each permit; (ii) occur without prior notice to the permittee or his agents or employees and (iii) include the filing of inspection reports adequate to carry out the purposes of this Act. A copy of each inspection report shall be furnished to the permittee and be available for public review. The permittee or his agents or employees shall be given an opportunity to accompany the inspector during the inspection.

(d) Permits issued under State Programs or Federal Programs and the permittees' Reclamation Plans shall be filed on public record with appropriate officials in each county or other appropriate subdivision of the State in which surface mining and reclamation operations un-

der such permits will be conducted.

(e) Each permittee shall conspicuously maintain at the entrances to the surface mining and reclamation operations a clearly visible sign which sets forth the name, business address, and phone number of the permittee and the permit number of the permit which covers such op-

(f) Any records, reports, or information obtained under this section by the regulatory authority which are not within the exceptions of the Freedom of Information Act (5 U.S.C. 552) shall be available to the

Sec. 215. Federal Enforcement.—(a) Whenever, on the basis of any information available to him, the Secretary has reason to believe that any person may be in violation of any requirement of this Act or any permit condition required by this Act, the Secretary shall notify the State regulatory authority in the State in which such alleged violation exists and the State shall proceed under the approved program.

(b) When, on the basis of Federal inspection, the Secretary determines that any person is in violation of any requirement of this Act or any permit condition required by this Act which violation creates a danger to life, health, or property, or would cause significant harm to the environment, the Secretary or his inspectors may immediately order a cessation of surface mining and reclamation operations or the portion thereof causing or contributing to the violation and provide such person a reasonable time to correct the violation. Such person shall be entitled to a hearing concerning such an order of cessation within three days of the issuance of the order. If such person shall fail to obey the order so issued, the Secretary shall immediately institute civil or criminal actions in accordance with this Act.

(c) Whenever the Secretary finds that violations of an approved State Program appear to result from a failure of the State to enforce such State Program effectively, he shall so notify the State. If the Secretary finds that such failure extends beyond the thirtieth day after such notice, he shall give public notice of such finding. During the period beginning with such public notice and ending when such State satisfies the Secretary that it will enforce such State Program, the Secretary shall enforce any permit condition required under this Act with respect to any person by issuing an order to comply with such permit condition or by bringing a civil or criminal action, or both, pur-

suant to this section.

(d) Any order issued under this section shall take effect immediately. A copy of any order issued under this section shall be sent to the State regulatory authority in the State in which the violation occurs. Each order shall set forth with reasonable specificity the nature of the violation and the remedial action required, and establish a reasonable time for compliance, taking into account the seriousness of the violation, any irreparable harmful effects upon the environment, and any good

faith efforts to comply with applicable requirements. In any case in which an order or notice under this section is issued to a corporation, a copy of such order shall be issued to appropriate corporate officers.

(e) At the request of the Secretary, the Attorney General may institute a civil action in the district court of the United States for the district in which the affected operation is located for a restraining order or injunction or other appropriate remedy to enforce any order issued

pursuant to this section.

(f) (1) If any person shall fail to comply with any Federal program, any provision of this Act, or any permit condition required by this Act, after notice of such failure and expiration of any period allowed for corrective action, such person shall be liable for a civil penalty of not more than \$1,000 for each and every day of the continuance of such failure. The Secretary may assess and collect any such penalty.

(2) Any person who knowingly and willfully violates a Federal program, any provision of this Act, or any permit condition required by this Act, or makes any false statement, representation, or certification in any application, record, report, plan, or other document filed or required to be maintained under this Act, or who knowingly and willfully falsifies, tampers with, or knowingly and willfully renders inaccurate any monitoring device or method or record required to be maintained under this Act, shall, upon conviction, be punished by a fine of not more than \$10,000, or by imprisonment for not more than six months, or both.

(g) Wherever a corporation or other entity violates a Federal program, any provisions of this Act, or any permit condition required by this Act, any director, officer, or agent of such corporation or entity who authorized, ordered, or carried out such violation shall be subject to the same fines or imprisonment as provided for under subsection (f)

of this section.

(h) The remedies prescribed in this section shall be concurrent and cumulative and the exercise of one does not preclude the exercise of the others. Further, the remedies prescribed in this section shall be in addition to any other remedies afforded by this Act or by any other

law or regulation.

Sec. 216. Designation of Land Areas Unsuitable for Surface MINING.—(a)(1) Each State Program or Federal Program shall include a process for review of potential surface mining areas capable of making objective decisions based upon competent and scientifically sound data and information as to which, if any, land areas of a State are unsuitable for all or certain types of surface mining operations. This process shall be integrated as closely as possible with existing land use plans and programs. The initial review shall be completed within three years after implementation of the State or Federal Program.

(2) An area may be designated unsuitable for all or certain types

of surface mining operations if—

(A) reclamation pursuant to the requirements of this Act is

not physically or economically possible;

(B) surface mining operations in a particular area would be incompatible with existing land use plans and programs; or

(C) the area is an area of critical environmental concern.

Provided, however, That no area shall be designated unsuitable for surface mining operations on which surface mining operations are being conducted on the date of enactment of this Act or under a permit issued pursuant to this Act, or as to which firm plans for and substantial legal and financial commitments in such operations are in existence prior to the date of enactment of this Act: And provided further, That the designation process shall provide for an appeals process for any interested party as defined by law or regulation concerning the designation of any land as unsuitable for surface mining operations or the termination of such designation when such action is taken other than by Federal or State law.

(3) For purposes of this section the term "area of critical environmental concern" means areas as defined and designated by the State on non-Federal lands where uncontrolled or incompatible development could result in serious damage to the environment, life or property, or the long term public interest which is of more than local significance. Such areas, subject to State definition of their extent, shall

include-

(A) "Fragile or historic lands" where uncontrolled or incompatible development could result in irreversible damage to important historic, cultural, scientific, or esthetic values or natural systems which are of more than local significance, such lands to include shorelands of rivers, lakes, and streams; rare or valuable ecosystems and geological formations; significant wildlife habitats; and unique scenic or historic areas;

(B) "Natural hazard lands" where uncontrolled or incompatible development could reasonably endanger life and property, such lands to include flood plains and areas frequently subject to weather disasters, areas of unstable geological, ice, or snow for-

mations, and areas with seismic or volcanic activity;

(C) "Renewable resource lands" where uncontrolled or incompatible development which results in the loss or reduction of continued long-range productivity could endanger future water, food, and fiber requirements of more than local concern, such lands to include watershed lands, aquifiers and aquifer recharge areas, significant agricultural and grazing lands, and forest lands; and

(D) such additional areas as the State determines to be of critical environmental concern.

Provided, however, That if a State land use plan which designates "areas of critical environmental concern" is in effect, the designations in that plan shall be conclusive for the purposes of this section.

(4) Any interested citizen shall have the right to petition the regulatory authority to have an area designated as unsuitable for surface mining operations, or to have such a designation terminated. When. ever such a petition contains allegations of facts with supporting evidence which would tend to establish the allegations, the regulatory authority shall make a written decision on the petition.

(b) The Secretary is authorized and directed to conduct a review of the Federal lands and to determine, pursuant to the criteria set forth in clause (2) and subject to the other provisions of subsection (a) of this section, whether there are areas on Federal lands which are unsuitable for all or certain types of surface mining operations. When the Secretary determines an area on Federal lands to be unsuitable for all or certain types of surface mining operations, he shall withdraw such area or he may condition any mineral leasing in a manner so as to limit surface mining operations on such area.

(c) No surface mining operation except those which exist on the

date of enactment of this Act shall be permitted—

(1) on any lands within the boundaries of units of the National Park System, the National Wildlife Refuge System, the National System of Trails, the National Wilderness Preservation System, the Wild and Scenic Rivers System, and National Recreation Areas designated by Act of Congress:

(2) which will adversely affect any publicly owned park unless approved jointly by the regulatory authority and the Federal,

State, or local agency with jurisdiction over the park.

Sec. 217. Federal Lands.—(a) No later than six months after the date of enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall promulgate and implement a Federal Lands Program which shall be applicable to all surface mining and reclamation operations taking place pursuant to any Federal law on any Federal lands: Provided, That except as provided in section 403 the provisions of this Act shall not be applicable to Indian lands. The Federal Lands Program shall, at a minimum, incorporate all of the requirements of this Act and shall take into consideration the diverse physical, climatological, and other unique characteristics of the Federal lands in question. Where Federal lands in a State with an approved State Program are involved, the Federal Lands Program shall, at a minimum, include the requirements of the approved State Program.

(b) The requirements of this Act and the Federal Lands Program shall be incorporated by reference or otherwise in any Federal mineral lease, permit, or contract issued by the Secretary which may involve surface mining and reclamation operations. Incorporation of such requirements shall not, however, limit in any way the authority of the Secretary to subsequently issue new regulations, revise the Federal Lands Program to deal with changing conditions or changed technology, and to require any surface mining and reclamation operations to conform with the requirements of this Act and the regulations

issued pursuant to this Act.

(c) The Secretary may enter into agreements with a State or with a number of States to provide for a joint Federal-State Program covering a permit or permits for surface mining and reclamation operations on land areas which contain lands within any State and Federal lands which are interspersed or checkerboarded and which should, for conservation and administrative purposes, be regulated as a single management unit. To implement a joint Federal-State program the Secretary may enter into agreements with the States, may delegate authority to the States, or may accept a delegation of authority from the States for the purpose of avoiding duality of administration of a single permit for surface mining and reclamation operations.

(d) Except as specifically provided in subsection (c) this section shall not be construed as authorizing the Secretary to delegate to the States any authority or jurisdiction to regulate or administer surface mining and reclamation operations or other activities taking place on the Federal lands.

(e) After the date of enactment of this Act, no person shall open or develop any new or previously mined and abandoned site for coal surface mining operations on Federal lands, and no person shall expand by more than 15 per centum existing coal surface mining operations on Federal lands until the Secretary has promulgated and implemented the Federal Lands Program unless such person has first obtained an interim permit issued by the Secretary who may issue such interim permits from the date of enactment of this Act until twenty-two months after such date upon application made by the operator. Such application and permit shall be in accordance with the requirements of this Act.

Sec. 218. Public Agencies, Public Utilities, and Public Corporations.—Any agency, unit or instrumentality of Federal, State, or local government, including any publicly owned utility or publicly owned corporation of Federal, State, or local government, which proposes to engage in surface mining operations which are subject to the requirements of this Act shall comply with the provisions of title II of this Act.

Sec. 219. (a) Citizen Suits.—Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected may commence a civil action on his own behalf—

(1) against any person including— (A) the United States, and

(B) any other governmental instrumentality or agency to the extent permitted by the eleventh amendment to the Constitution who is alleged to be in violation of the provisions of this Act or the regulation promulgated thereunder, or order issued by the regulatory authority; or

(2) against the Secretary or the appropriate State regulatory authority where there is alleged a failure of the Secretary or the appropriate State regulatory authority to perform any act or duty under this Act which is not discretionary with the Secretary or

with the appropriate State regulatory authority.

(b) No action may be commenced—

(1) under subsection (a) (1) of this section—

(A) prior to sixty days after the plaintiff has given notice of the violation (i) to the Secretary, (ii) to the State in which the violation occurs, and (iii) to any alleged violator

of the provisions, regulations, or order, or

(B) if the Secretary or the State has commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil action in a court of the United States or a State to require compliance with the provisions of this Act or the regulations thereunder, or the order, but in any such action in a court of the United States any person may intervene as a matter of right; or

(2) under subsection (a) (2) of this section prior to sixty days after the plaintiff has given notice of such action to the Secretary, in such manner as the Secretary shall by regulation prescribe, or to the appropriate State regulatory authority, except that such action may be brought immediately after such notification in the

case where the violation or order or lack of order complained of constitutes an imminent threat to the health or safety of the plaintiff or would immediately affect a legal interest of the plaintiff.

(c) (1) Any action respecting a violation of this Act or the regulations thereunder may be brought only in the judicial district in which

the surface mining operation complained of is located.

(2) In such action under this section, the Secretary, or the State regulatory authority, if not a party, may intervene as a matter of

right.

(d) The court, in issuing any final order in any action brought pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, may award costs of litigation to any party, whenever the court determines such award is appropriate. The court may, if a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction is sought, require the filing of a bond or equivalent security in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

(e) Nothing in this section shall restrict any right which any person (or class of persons) may have under this or any statute or common law to seek enforcement of any of the provisions of this Act and the regulations thereunder, or to seek any other relief (including relief against the Secretary or the appropriate State regulatory authority).

TITLE III—ABANDONED AND UNRECLAIMED MINED AREAS

Sec. 301. Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund.—(a) There is hereby created in the Treasury of the United States a Fund to be known as the Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund.

(b) There is authorized to be appropriated to the Fund initially the sum \$100,000,000 and such other sums as the Congress may there-

after authorize to be appropriated.

(c) The following other moneys shall be deposited in the Fund-

(1) moneys derived from the sale, lease, or rental of land re-

claimed pursuant to this title;

(2) moneys derived from any user charge imposed on or for land reclaimed pursuant to this title, after expenditures for maintenance have been deducted; and

(3) miscellaneous receipts accruing to the Secretary through the administration of this Act which are not otherwise encumbered.

(d) Moneys in the Fund subject to annual appropriation by the Congress, may be expended by the Secretary for the purposes of this title.

Sec. 302. Acquisition and Reclamation of Abandoned and Un-RECLAIMED MINED AREAS.—(a) The Congress hereby declares that the acquisition of any interest in land or mineral rights in order to construct, operate, or manage reclamation facilities and projects constitutes acquisition for a public use or purpose, notwithstanding that the Secretary plans to hold the interest in land or mineral rights so acquired as an open space or for recreation, or to resell the land following completion of the reclamation facility or project.

(b) The Secretary may acquire by purchase, donation, or otherwise, land or any interest therein which has been affected by surface mining operations prior to the enactment of this Act and has not been returned

to productive or useful purposes. Prior to making any acquisition of land under this section, the Secretary shall make a thorough study with respect to those tracts of land which are available for acquisition under this section and based upon those findings he shall select lands for purchase according to the priorities established in subsection (i). Title to all lands or interests therein acquired shall be taken in the name of the United States, but no deed shall be accepted or purchase price paid until the validity of the title is approved by the Attorney General. The price paid for land under this section shall take into

account the unrestored condition of the land.

(c) For the purposes of this title, when the Secretary seeks to acquire an interest in land or mineral rights and cannot negotiate an agreement with the person holding title to such interest or right he shall request the Attorney General to file a condemnation suit and take such interest or right, following a tender of just compensation as awarded by a jury to such person: Provided, however, That when the Secretary determines that time is of the essence because of the likelihood of continuing or increasingly harmful effects upon the environment which would substantially increase the cost or magnitude of reclamation or of continuing or increasingnly serious threats to life, safety, or health, or to property, the Secretary may take such interest or rights immediately upon payment by the United States either to such person or into a court of competent jurisdiction of such amount as the Secretary shall estimate to be the fair market value of such interest or rights; except that the Secretary shall also pay to such person any further amount that may be subsequently awarded by a jury, with interest from the date of the taking.

(d) For the purposes of this title, when the Secretary takes action to acquire an interest in land or mineral rights and cannot determine which person or persons hold title to such interest or rights, the Secretary shall request the Attorney General to file a condemnation suit, and give notice and may take such interest or rights immediately upon payment into court of such amount as the Secretary shall estimate to be the fair market value of such interest or rights. If a person or persons establish title to such interest or rights within six years from the time of their taking, the court shall transfer the payment to such person or persons and the Secretary shall pay any further amount that may be agreed to pursuant to negotiations or awarded by a jury subsequent to the time of taking. If no person or persons establish title to the interest or rights within six years from the time of such taking, the payment shall revert to the Secretary and be deposited in the

Fund.

(e) States are encouraged to acquire abandoned and unreclaimed mined lands within their boundaries and to donate such lands to the Secretary to be reclaimed under appropriate Federal regulations. The Secretary is authorized to make grants on a matching basis to States in such amounts as he deems appropriate for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this title but in no event shall any grant exceed 90 per centum of the cost of acquisition of the lands for which the grant is made. When a State has made any such land available to the Federal Government under this title, such State shall have a preference right to purchase such lands after reclamation at fair market value less the State portion of the original acquisition price.

(f) The Secretary shall prepare specifications for the reclamation of lands acquired under this title. In preparing specifications, the Secretary shall utilize the specialized knowledge or experience of any Federal department or agency which can assist him in the development or implementation of the reclamation program required under this

(g) The Secretary shall reclaim the lands acquired under this title in accordance with the specifications prepared therefor pursuant to subsection (f) of this section as moneys become available to the Fund.

(h) Administration of all lands reclaimed under this title shall be in the Secretary until disposed of by him as set forth in this title.

(i) In selecting lands to be acquired pursuant to this title and in formulating regulations for the making of grants to the States to acquire lands pursuant to this title, the Secretary shall give priority (1) to lands which, in their unreclaimed state, he deems to have the greatest adverse effect on the environment or constitute the greatest threat to life, health, or safety and (2) to lands which he deems suitable for public recreational use. The Secretary shall direct that the latter lands, once acquired, shall be reclaimed and put to use for recreational purposes. Revenues derived from such lands, once reclaimed and put to recreational use, shall be used first to insure proper maintenance of such lands and facilities thereon, and any remaining moneys shall be deposited in the Fund.

(j) Where land reclaimed pursuant to this title is deemed to be suitable for industrial, commercial, residential, or private recreational development, the Secretary may sell such land pursuant to the pro-

visions of the Surplus Property Act of 1949, as amended.

(k) The Secretary shall hold a public hearing with the appropriate notice, in the county or counties or the appropriate subdivisions of the State in which lands acquired to be reclaimed pursuant to this title are located. The hearing shall be held at a time which shall afford local citizens and governments the maximum opportunity to participate in the decision concerning the use of lands once reclaimed.

Sec. 303. Filling Voids and Sealing Tunnels.—(a) The Con-

gress declares that voids and open and abandoned tunnels, shafts, and entryways resulting from mining constitute a hazard to the public health and safety. The Secretary, at the request of the Governor of any State, is authorized to fill such voids and seal such abandoned tunnels, shafts, and entryways which the Secretary determines could endanger life and property or constitute a hazard to the public health and safety.

(b) The Secretary may acquire by purchase, donation, or otherwise such interest in land as he determines necessary to carry out the provisions of this section.

TITLE IV—STUDIES OF SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION

Sec. 401. Study of Reclamation Standards.—(a) The Chairman of the Council on Environmental Quality is directed to contract with the National Academy of Sciences-National Academy of Engineering, other Government agencies or private groups as appropriate, for an indepth study of current and developing technology for surface mining and reclamation for other minerals and open pit mining designed to assist in the establishment of effective and reasonable regulation of surface and open pit mining and reclamation. The study shall-

(1) assess the degree to which the requirements of this Act

can be met by such technology and the costs involved;
(2) identify areas where the requirements of the Act cannot

be met by current and developing technology; and

(3) in those instances describe requirements most comparable to those of this Act which could be met, the costs involved, and the differences in reclamation results between these requirements and those of this Act.

(b) The study together with specific legislative recommendations shall be submitted to the President and the Congress no later than eighteen months after the date of enactment of this Act: Provided, That, with respect to surface or open pit mining for sand and gravel the study shall be submitted no later than twelve months after the date of enactment of this Act.

(c) There are hereby authorized to be appropriated for the purpose

of this section \$500,000.

Sec. 402. A Study of Means To Maximize Resource Recovery and MINIMIZE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS IN MINING FOR COAL AND OTHER MINERALS.—(a) The Chairman of the Council on Environmental Quality is directed to contract with the National Academy of Sciences-National Academy of Engineering, other Government agencies or private groups as appropriate, for an in-depth study of technologies for increasing the availability of coal and other minerals through improved efficiencies in mining, processing, and recycling in order to reduce environmental and land use impacts of resource recovery.

(b) The study shall, at a minimum—

(1) examine improved surface mining and reclamation techniques including the development of new techniques for surface mining, new applications of known techniques, and the differential impacts of these mining techniques when practiced in different climates and terrains, when used to recover different types of minerals and in the context of a range of adjacent and subsequent planned land uses;

(2) examine improved underground mining techniques to increase resource recovery and to minimize surface disturbance, including the application of known techniques to new uses, and the development of new technologies for mining and the disposal of

deep mine wastes:

(3) in each instance, describe the duration and reversibility of the anticipated impacts, and discuss ways in which mining and reclamation techniques can be adjusted during and after mining to minimize the impacts described. Possible alternatives to these mining and reclamation techniques, if any, shall also be described;

(4) identify alternative geographic sources and mining technologies for various specific commodities, which make possible resource recovery, with the least environmental impact. The study shall also describe the costs and benefits associated with shifting an industry's supply to such sources or technologies; and

(5) describe the specific measures necessary to fully integrate mining operations and reclamation, both in the short and long

(c) After studying the technologies and impacts set forth in subsection (b) above, the study shall also examine and research the development of new mining technologies, or other technological means of increasing substantially the efficiency of mining, mineral processing, and other resource recovery practices. This study shall also include the best estimate of the authors as to the earliest date expected for industrial application of each new technique discussed and the net costs and benefits of implementation compared to present practices.

(d) The study shall examine, for major commodity classes, a range of alternatives to primary resource extraction, including the potential for recycling, salvage, reprocessing, byproduct recovery, material substitution, etc., the potential for Federal policy actions to encourage such actions, and the impact such practices would have on the need for primary extraction and the reduction of consequent environmental

impacts.

(e) For all of the above, the study will assess the likely impact of altering present mining and reclamation practices on the supply and demand of various commodities, on labor and capital requirements for the various mining industries, and for various classes of producers within those industries.

(f) The study, together with specific recommendations for Federal and State policy needs and for action by the mining and mineral processing industries including recommended reclamation standards shall be submitted to the President and to Congress no later than three years from the date of enactment of this Act. Interim reports shall be submitted at the end of the first and second years.

(g) There are hereby authorized to be appropriated for the pur-

poses of this section, \$3,000,000.

Sec. 403. Indian Lands Study.—(a) The Secretary is directed to study the question of the regulation of surface mining on Indian lands which will achieve the purposes of this Act and recognize the special jurisdictional status of these lands.

(b) In carrying out this study the Secretary shall consult with Indian tribes, and may contract with or grant to Indian tribes, quali-

fied institutions, agencies, organizations, and persons.

(c) The study report shall be submitted to the Congress as soon as possible but not later than January 1, 1975.

TITLE V—ADMINISTRATIVE AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Sec. 501. Definitions.—For the purposes of this Act, the term—

(1) "Secretary" means the Secretary of the Interior:

(2) "State" means a State of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, American Samoa, and Guam;

(3) "Office" means the Office of Surface Mining, Reclamation,

and Enforcement established pursuant to section 202;

(4) "Commerce" means trade, traffic, commerce, transportation, transmission, or communication among the several States, or between a State and any other place outside thereof, or between

points in the same State which directly or indirectly affect interstate commerce;

(5) "surface mining operations" means—

(A) activities conducted on the surface of lands in connection with a surface coal mine or surface operations incident to an underground coal mine, the products of which enter commerce or the operations of which directly or indirectly affect commerce. Such activities include excavation for the purpose of obtaining coal by contour, strip, auger, or other form of mining (but not open pit mining); and the cleaning or processing or preparation (excluding refining and smeltering), and loading for interstate commerce of coal at or near the mine site. Such activities do not include (i) the extraction of coal in a liquid or gaseous state by means of wells or pipes unless the process includes in situ distillation or retorting or (ii) the extraction of coal incidental to extraction of other minerals where coal does not exceed 16% per centum of the

tonnage of mineral removed; and

(B) the areas upon which such activities occur or where such activities disturb the natural land surface. Such areas shall also include land affected by coal exploration operations which substantially disturb the natural land surface, and any adjacent land the use of which is incidental to any such activities, all lands affected by the construction of new roads or the improvement or use of existing roads to gain access to the site of such activities and for haulage, and excavations, workings, impoundments, dams, ventilation shafts, entryways, refuse banks, dumps, stockpiles, overburden piles, spoil banks, culm banks, tailings, holes or depressions, repair areas, storage areas, processing areas, shipping areas and other areas upon which are sited structures, facilities, or other property or materials on the surface, resulting from or incident to such activities.

(6) "surface mining and reclamation operations" means surface mining operations and all activities necessary and incident to the reclamation of such operations after the date of enactment of this Act:

(7) "lands within any State" or "lands within such State" means all lands within a State other than Federal lands and Indian lands:

(8) "Federal lands" means any land owned by the United States without regard to how the United States acquired ownership of the land and without regard to the agency having responsibility for management thereof, except Indian lands;

(9) "Indian lands" means all lands within the exterior boundaries of any Indian reservation, notwithstanding the issuance of any patent, and including rights-of-way, and all lands held in trust for an appropriate description.

trust for or supervised by any Indian tribe;

(10) "Indian tribe" means any Indian tribe, band, group, or community having a governing body recognized by the Secretary;

(11) "State Program" means a program established by a State pursuant to section 204 to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations for coal or for other minerals, whichever is rele-

vant, on lands within such State in accord with the requirements of this Act and regulations issued by the Secretary pursuant to this Act:

(12) "Federal Program" means a program established by the Secretary pursuant to section 205 to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations for coal or for other minerals, whichever is relevant on lands within a State in accordance with the requirements of this Act;

(13) "Federal Lands Program" means a program established by the Secretary pursuant to section 217 to regulate surface mining

and reclamation operations on Federal lands;

(14) "Reclamation Plan" means a plan submitted by an applicant for a permit under a State program or Federal program which sets forth a plan for reclamation of the proposed surface mining operations pursuant to section 213;

(15) "State regulatory authority" means the department or agency in each State which has primary responsibility at the

State level for administering this Act;

(16) "regulatory authority" means the State regulatory authority where the State is administering this Act under an approved State program or the Secretary where the Secretary is administering this Act under a Federal program;

(17) "person" means an individual, partnership, association, society, joint stock company, firm, company, corporation, or other

business organization;

(18) "permit" means a permit to conduct surface mining and reclamation operations issued by the State regulatory authority pursuant to a State program or by the Secretary pursuant to a Federal program;

(19) "permit applicant" or "applicant" means a person apply-

ing for a permit;

(20) "permittee" means a person holding a permit;

(21) "Fund" means the Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund

established pursuant to section 301;

(22) "other minerals" means clay, stone, sand, gravel, metalliferous and nonmetalliferous ores, and any other solid material or substances of commercial value excavated in solid form from natural deposits on or in the earth, exclusive of coal and those minerals which occur naturally in liquid or gaseous form;

(23) "backfilling to approximate original contour" means that part of the reclamation process achieved by grading from a point at or above the top of the highwall to a point at or below the toe of the spoil bank in which the maximum slope shall not exceed the original average slope from the horizontal by more than five degrees, and no depressions capable of collecting water shall be permitted except where the retention of water is determined by the regulatory authority to be required or desirable for reclamation purposes; and

(24) "Open pit mining" means surface mining in which (1) the amount of material removed is large in proportion to the surface area disturbed; (2) mining continues in the same area proceeding downward with lateral expansion of the pit necessary to maintain slope stability or as necessary to accommodate the

orderly expansion of the total mining operation; (3) the operations take place on the same relatively limited site for an extended period of time; (4) there is no practicable method to reclaim the land in the manner required by this Act; and (5) there is no practicable alternative method of mining the mineral or ore involved.

Sec. 502. Advisory Committees.—(a) The Secretary shall appoint a National Advisory Committee for surface mining and reclamation operations. The Advisory Committee shall consist of not more than seven members and shall have a balanced representation of Federal, State, and local officials, and persons qualified by experience, or affiliation to present the viewpoint of operators of surface mining operations, of consumers, and of conservation and other public interest groups, to advise him in carrying out the provisions of this Act. The Secretary shall designate the chairman of the Advisory Committee.

(b) Members of the Advisory Committee other than employees of Federal, State, and local governments, while performing Advisory Committee business, shall be entitled to receive compensation at rates fixed by the Secretary, but not exceeding \$100 per day, including traveltime. While serving away from their homes or regular places of business, members may be paid travel expenses and per diem in lieu of subsistence at rates authorized by section 5703 of title 5, United States Code, for persons intermittently employed.

SEC. 503. Grants to the States.—(a) The Secretary is authorized to make annual grants to any State for the purpose of assisting such State in developing, administering, and enforcing State programs under this Act: *Provided*, That such grants shall not exceed 80 per centum of the total costs incurred during the first year; 70 per centum of the total costs incurred during the second and third years; and 60

per centum each year thereafter.

(b) The Secretary is authorized to cooperate with and provide assistance to any State for the purpose of assisting it in the development, administration, and enforcement of its State programs. Such cooperation and assistance shall include—

(1) technical assistance and training, including provision of necessary curricular and instruction materials, in the development, administration, and enforcement of the State programs;

and

(2) assistance in preparing and maintaining a continuing inventory of information on surface mining and reclamation operations for each State for the purposes of evaluating the effectiveness of the State programs. Such assistance shall include all Federal departments and agencies making available data relevant to surface mining and reclamation operations and to the development, administration, and enforcement of State programs concerning such operations.

Sec. 504. Research and Demonstration Projects.—(a) The Secretary is authorized to conduct and promote the coordination and acceleration of research, studies, surveys, experiments, and training in carrying out the provisions of this Act. In conducting the activities authorized by this section, the Secretary may enter into contracts with, and make grants to qualified institutions, agencies, organizations, and

persons.

(b) The Secretary is authorized to enter into contracts with, and make grants to, the States and their political subdivisions, and other public institutions, agencies, organizations, and persons to carry out demonstration projects involving the reclamation of lands which have been disturbed by surface mining operations. Such demonstration projects may include the use of solid and liquid residues from sewage treatment processes.

(c) There are authorized to be appropriated to the Secretary

\$5,000,000 annually for the purposes of this section.

Sec. 505. Grant Authority for Other Minerals.—The Secretary may, when carrying out his responsibilities under sections 503 and 504 of this Act, grant funds and provide assistance to States who presently have a program or are preparing a program which regulates the surface mining of other minerals (including coal) when he determines such State programs effectively control the adverse environmental

and social effects of such mining operations.

Sec. 506. Annual Report.—The Secretary shall submit annually to the President and the Congress a report concerning activities conducted by him, the Federal Government, and the States pursuant to this Act. Among other matters, the Secretary shall include in such report recommendations for additional administrative or legislative action as he deems necessary and desirable to accomplish the purposes of this Act.

Sec. 507. Authorization of Appropriations.—There is authorized to be appropriated to the Secretary for administration of this Act and for the purposes of section 503 for the first fiscal year after the enactment of this Act, the sum of \$10,000,000 and for each of the

next two succeeding fiscal years, the sum of \$20,000,000.

Sec. 508. Temporary Suspension.—(a) The President of the United States is hereby authorized to suspend for a period not to exceed ninety days any requirement of this Act concerning surface mining and reclamation operations when he determines it necessary to do so because of (i) a national emergency, (ii) a critical national or regional electrical power shortage, or (iii) a critical national fuels or mineral shortage.

(b) Any action by the President pursuant to subsection (a) shall be based upon findings and recommendations of the Secretary of the Interior, the Chairman of the Council on Environmental Quality, and

the Chairman of the Federal Power Commission.

(c) Any action taken by the President pursuant to this section shall be followed by a report to the Congress within five days on the nature of the emergency, the action taken, and any legislative recommenda-

tions he may deem necessary.

SEC. 509. OTHER FEDERAL LAWS.—(a) Nothing in this Act shall be construed as superseding, amending, modifying, or repealing the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970 (30 U.S.C. 21a), the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (42 U.S.C. 4321-47), or existing State or Federal law relating to mine health and safety, and air and water quality including, but not limited to—

(1) the Federal Metal and Nonmetallic Mine Safety Act (80

Stat. 722; 30 U.S.C. 721-740);

"(2) the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969 (83 Stat. 742);

"(3) the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (79 Stat. 903), as amended, the State laws enacted pursuant thereto, or other Federal laws relating to preservation of water quality;

"(4) the Clean Air Act, as amended (79 Stat. 992; 42 U.S.C.

1857); and

"(5) the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended (79 Stat. 997;

42 U.S.C. 3251)."

(b) Nothing in this Act shall affect in any way the authority of the Secretary or the heads of other Federal agencies under other provisions of law to include in any lease, license, permit, contract, or other instrument such conditions as may be appropriate to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations on lands under their jurisdiction.

(c) To the greatest extent practicable each Federal agency shall cooperate with the Secretary and the States in carrying out the pro-

visions of this Act.

(d) Approval of the State programs, pursuant to 204(b), promulgation of Federal programs, pursuant to 205, and implementation of the Federal lands programs, pursuant to 217, shall constitute a major action within the meaning of section 102(2)(C) of the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (42 U.S.C. 4332).

Sec. 510. State Laws.—(a) No State law or regulation in effect on the date of enactment of this Act, or which may become effective thereafter, shall be superseded by any provision of this Act or any regulation issued pursuant thereto, except insofar as such State law

or regulation is inconsistent with the provisions of this Act.

(b) Any provision of any State law or regulation in effect upon the date of enactment of this Act, or which may become effective thereafter, which provides for more stringent land use and environmental controls and regulations of surface mining and reclamation operations than do the provisions of this Act or any regulation issued pursuant thereto shall not be construed to be inconsistent with this Act. Any provision of any State law or regulation in effect on the date of enactment of this Act, or which may become effective thereafter, which provides for the control and regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations for which no provision is contained in this Act shall not be construed to be inconsistent with this Act.

SEC. 511. PROTECTION OF THE SURFACE OWNER.—In those instances in which the surface owner is not the owner of the mineral estate proposed to be mined by surface mining operations the applicant for a

permit shall include the following:

(a) the written consent of, or a waiver by, the owner or owners of the surface lands involved to enter and commence surface min-

ing operations on such land, or, in lieu thereof,

(b) the execution of a bond or undertaking to the United States or the State, whichever is applicable, for the use and benefit of the surface owner or owners of the land, to secure the payment of any damages to the surface estate, to the crops, or to the tangible improvements of the surface owner as may be determined by the parties involved or as determined and fixed in an action brought against the permittee or upon the bond in a court of competent jurisdiction. This bond is in addition to the performance bond required for reclamation by this Act.

Sec. 512. Preference for Persons Adversely Affected by the Acr.—(a) In the award of contracts for the reclamation of abondoned and unreclaimed mined areas pursuant to title III and for research and demonstration projects pursuant to section 404 of this Act the Secretary shall develop regulations which will accord a preference to surface mining operators who can demonstrate that their surface mining operations, despite good-faith efforts to comply with the requirements of this Act, have been adversely affected by the regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations pursuant to this Act.

(b) Contracts awarded pursuant to this section shall require the contractor to afford an employment preference to individuals whose em-

ployment has been adversely affected by this Act.

Sec. 513. Severability.—If any provision of this Act or the applicability thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of this Act and the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

I. PURPOSE

The purpose of S. 425, the "Surface Mining Reclamation Act of 1973", is to establish an environmentally strong and administratively realistic program for the regulation of coal surface mining activities and the reclamation of coal mined lands. More specifically, the purposes of S. 425 as reported by the Committee, are to assure that surface coal mining operations—including exploration activities and the surface effects of underground mining—are conducted so as to prevent degradation to the environment, and that such surface coal mining operations are not conducted where reclamation is not feasible according to the terms and conditions of the Act. In addition, S. 425 would protect the rights of persons with a legal interest in land affected by

coal surface mining operations.

Federal legislation regulating surface mining—and particularly surface mining for coal—is needed at this time. While a number of States do have surface mining reclamation programs, regulation of surface coal mining is not uniform, and in many instances is inadequate. S. 425 as reported by the Committee would provide minimum Federal standards for coal surface mining and reclamation activities to be administered and enforced by the States, and by the Secretary of the Interior on public lands. S. 425 would provide assistance to the States to improve their regulatory and enforcement programs and authorizes funding to the States for that purpose. In the event that a State fails to comply with the Act, the bill provides for Federal enforcement of the State Program, or for establishment of a Federal Program under the authority of the Secretary of the Interior.

II. NEED

In recent years the coal industry has experienced a significant shift in technology from predominantly underground mining. Although strip mining first started before World War II, it did not become a significant technology for mining coal until the early 1960's when, for the first time, over 30 percent of the country's coal was produced in surface mines. In 1973, over half of the coal produced came from surface mines.

Each week some 1,000 acres of land are disturbed by the surface mining for coal. As of January 1, 1972, there were 4 million acres of land disturbed by surface mining, of which 1.7 million acres (43 percent) were disturbed by surface mining for coal, 1.3 million of these acres in the Eastern coalfields. Only about half these lands have been reclaimed.

Federal legislation is needed now to regulate surface mining and reclamation, because surface mining has become a national issue and

its regulation a national priority.

The Committee has been most concerned for some time with the problems associated with coal surface mining. The Committee requested and printed a study on "Coal Surface Mining and Reclamation" (Serial No. 93-8) done by the Council on Environmental Quality. The Committee also conducted a study of its own on "Factors Affecting the Use of Coal in Present and Future Energy Markets" (Serial 93-9). In addition to extensive hearings on the regulation of surface mining, the Committee also held hearings on the CEQ study in April 1973 and on "Coal Policy Issues" in June 1973.

On September 10, 1973—the date the Committee reported this bill— President Nixon in his message to Congress termed passage of such legislation a matter of "highest urgency" explaining further that:

Our most abundant domestic source of energy is coal. We must learn to use more of it, and we must learn to do so in a manner which does not damage the land we inhabit or the air we breathe.

Surface mining is both the most economical and the most environmentally destructive method of extracting coal. The damage caused by surface mining, however, can be repaired and the land restored. I believe it is the responsibility of the mining industry to undertake such restorative action and I believe it must be required of them.

Coal surface mining activities, in particular, have imposed large social and environmental costs on the public at large in many areas of the country in the form of unreclaimed lands, water pollution, erosion, floods, slope failures, loss of fish and wildlife resources, and a decline in natural beauty. Uncontrolled surface coal mining in many regions has effected a stark, unjustifiable, and intolerable degradation in the quality of life in local communities.

If surface mining and reclamation are not done carefully, significant environmental damage can result. In addition, unreclaimed or improperly reclaimed surface coal mines pose a continuing threat to the environment, and at times are a danger to public health and safety. public or private property. Similar hazards also occur from the surface effects of underground coal mining, including the dumping of

coal waste piles, subsidence and mine fires.

Erosion and siltation of streams occur as a result of surface mining. In the Eastern coalfields, where spoil is pushed downslope of mountain mines, landslides, erosion, sedimentation and flooding are common hazards of mountain surface mining. Unstable highwalls are a hazard to life and property. Highwalls that crumble and erode from weathering, ruin drainage patterns and significantly add to water pollution. Material falling off the highwall can retard surface water flow. Erosion increases dramatically when the protective vegetative cover is removed and the soil is not stabilized. Suspended sediment concentration in small Appalachian streams draining strip mined areas can be increased 100 times over that in forest lands. Over 7,000 miles of streams have been affected by surface runoff from coal stripping

operations.

In the Western coalfields, many of which are in arid or semi-arid areas, the environmental problems associated with surface mining are somewhat different. Erosion rates on Western range lands are among the highest in the United States for upland areas not under cultivation. The arid climate does not provide sufficient moisture for a protective vegetal cover. Once this fragile vegetative cover has been disturbed by mining, erosion increases dramatically. More important, in areas with little rainfall, restoration of vegetative cover is virtually impossible without irrigation. Furthermore, in most of the Western coalfields the coal beds that lie close to the surface are also aquifers. (For example, the strippable coal seams in the Gillette, Wyo., area serve as an aquifer.) Removal of the coal by surface mining operations would intersect such aguifers that are the source of water for many wells. Flow patterns in such aquifers would be changed and some parts undoubtedly would be dewatered, resulting in reduced availability of water for other uses.

There are also areas which may be totally unsuitable for surface mining such as wilderness areas, areas of historical importance, parks, and wildlife refuges. It may be desirable to prohibit surface mining in such areas, recognizing that it would be incompatible with existing or planned land use patterns. Of course, under the provisions of the Act, no surface mining may take place in an area which cannot be

properly reclaimed.

Because mining conditions, climate, and terrain vary so greatly among the different coalfields, administration of a coal surface mining regulation and reclamation program is more properly done by the States. For example, a program geared to insure proper mining and reclamation in the mountains of Appalachia must understandably be different from one suited to regulating these activities in the arid and semi-arid areas of the West. (Similarly, these regional differences must be reflected in Federal standards promulgated for surface mining and

reclamation on Federal lands.)

While many States already do have laws regulating surface mining operations for coal and other minerals, in many instances these laws are inadequate, or are not fully enforced. Most existing State laws and Federal regulations for surface mining and reclamation are inadequate in that they are tailored to suit ongoing mining practices, rather than requiring modification of mining practices to meet prior environmental standards. It is the purpose of this Act to effect changes in those mining practices which result in unacceptable or permanent environmental damage, and to eliminate those mining operations which cannot be properly reclaimed.

Regardless of the adequacy of a State's mining and reclamation laws, and assuming good faith on the part of the regulatory agency, problems of enforcing such laws frequently stem from a lack of funding and manpower to adequately insure compliance. As a result, viola-

tions of the law and regulations are frequent.

Uniform minimum Federal standards are therefore needed to establish minimum criteria for regulating surface mining and reclamation activities throughout the country, on both public and private lands, and to assure adequate environmental protection from the environmental impacts of surface mining in all States.

In order to assure appropriate local administration of these Federal requirements by the various States, adequate funding and manpower in the State regulatory agencies are essential. For this reason, financial assistance and guidelines are needed for the design and enforcement of State surface mining and reclamation programs in conformance with Federal criteria. It is the purpose of the bill to provide this necessary assistance.

The Committee recognizes that there is an urgent need to balance our growing demand for energy resources with the increasing stress

we place on the environment in satisfying that demand.

Coal, the most abundant of our domestic fuel resources, epitomizes in many ways this energy-environment dilemma. By all estimates our physical coal reserves are sufficient to meet our needs, even at greatly increased rates of consumption, for hundreds of years. Yet the contribution of coal has not kept pace with increasing overall energy demands, particularly for electricity generation, and indeed its proportional share of energy supply has been steadily declining.

Now, although coal represents more than three-quarters of our domestic energy resource base, it supplies barely 20 percent of our

total energy needs.

The essential requirement for an adequate supply of domestic energy resources to support the Nation's social and economic well-being is being increasingly recognized as a major national issue. It is clear, particularly in the case of coal, that we have ample reserves. We are experiencing short- to mid-term logistical difficulties in fuel production and distribution—a kind of liquidity crisis in energy. In coping with this crisis it is difficult to escape the concluson that coal is a key element. We have an abundance of coal in the ground. Simply stated, the crux of the problem is how to get it out of the ground and use it in environmentally acceptable ways and on an economically competitive basis.

Federal legislation to regulate coal surface mining and reclamation is a crucial measure to insure an adequate energy supply while preserving and maintaining a satisfactory level of environmental quality.

The purpose of this bill is to effect the internalization of mining and reclamation costs, which are now being borne by society in the form of ravaged land, polluted water, and other adverse effects, of coal surface mining. The Committee recognizes that in some instances, compliance with the provisions of this Act may result in increased production costs for some mine operators. The cost of the environmental controls and reclamation requirements provided for under the Act are properly borne by the mine operators, although any resultant increases in mining costs will almost certainly be passed on to coal consumers. While numerous estimates of reclamation costs have been made, no precise figure will be valid for all mines. The range of cost estimates available to the Committee indicates that the cost of complete reclamation (including backfilling to original contour) usually will not exceed 60¢/ton more than the cost of mining with no environmental controls

during mining or any reclamation whatsoever. Since virtually all States now require some measure of environmental protection for mining operations, and some degree of reclamation, incremental costs per ton for surface mining and reclamation under this Act will therefore be somewhat less than 60¢/ton for most mining operations. Further,

this cost increase must be reviewed in the proper context.

About 60 percent of all coal is consumed by electric utilities. Using conservative figures of 10,000 Btu/lb. coal and a conversion rate of 10,000 Btu/kwhr the rise of 60¢/ton in the price of coal results in an increase of only 0.03 mils per kwhr of electricity. In addition, the cost of competing fuels is also rising rapidly. Most oil is already more costly than coal on a per Btu basis, and the price of natural gas is expected to rise significantly in the next few years. Accordingly, it does not appear that compliance with the provisions of this Act will adversely affect the competitive position of coal as an energy source, nor that its role as an even greater contributor to domestic energy supply cannot be fulfilled.

This expectation is further reinforced by the fact that strippable coal reserves are a very small percentage both of the Nation's total coal resources, and of the low sulfur coal reserves. Strippable reserves are defined as those reserves under a specified maximum depth of overburden that are economically recoverable with the strip mining technology and equipment presently available or that may be available in the foreseeable future. Economic recovery in strip mining is generally determined by the ratio of overburden to coal, called the stripping ratio. Strippable reserves in many instances can also be recovered by deep mining. Thus, to define reserves as strippable does not mean they

can only be recovered by surface mining techniques.

Although surface mining accounts for half of current coal production, most of the Nation's coal resources will have to be deep mined if they are to be exploited. Only 45 billion tons of the total 1,552 billion tons of mapped resources, less than 3 percent can now be classified as strippable reserves. Almost 70 percent of the strippable reserves are in the West, including Alaska. Only 13 percent are in Appalachia.

The total coal resources of the United States amount to more than three trillion tons, divided into several ranks of coal and distributed in several fields. Of these total coal resources, some 50 percent, or 1.5 trillion tons of bituminous coal and lignite, are considered to be recoverable reserves (i.e., minable under current economic conditions and with present technology, or technology that may be available in the foreseeable future.) From a practical standpoint, for the near and medium term, we need only be concerned with recoverable reserves, rather than with resources, since these reserves clearly constitute an ample supply for the foreseeable future.

The principal coal fields of the contiguous United States can be roughly divided into four groups: the anthracite region of eastern Pennsylvania, the Appalachian bituminous fields, the central bituminous fields (Illinois, Indiana, western Kentucky, and Kansas) and the western fields, which contain bituminous and sub-bituminous coal

and lignite.

The bulk of our recoverable reserves lie in the western coal fields. Almost half (667,518 million tons) are in Montana, North Dakota, and Wyoming. About 45 billion tons-mostly in the western and central fields—are considered to be strippable reserves. More than 1/3 of our reserves are low sulfur coal (less than one percent sulfur). concentrated largely in the West (Montana, New Mexico, and Wyomining), with only West Virginia and eastern Kentucky in the East having any sizable low sulfur deposits. Most coal in the central fields (Illinois, West Kentucky, Missouri, and Ohio) is high sulfur coal (more than 2.0 percent). Relatively little high sulfur coal is found in the West, while the central fields have very little low or medium sulfur coal; the Appalachian coals are mixed. About 3% of our low sulfur coal reserves are strippable.

The following table represents a more detailed description of United States coal reserves, by State, sulfur content and method of recovery.

U.S. COAL RESERVES, BY STATE [Million tons]

	Total coal		Reserves by	Reserves by sulfur content (Jan. 1, 1966)	n. 1, 1966)		Stripping reserve	Stripping reserves by sulfur content (Jan. 1, 1969)	(Jan. 1, 1969)
	resources (excluding anthracite) 0-3,000' overburden, as of Jan. 1, 1967	Recoverable reserves 1971 (assuming 50 percent recovery)	Low (1 percent or less)	Medium (1.1 to 2 percent)	High (2.1 per- cent or more)	Recoverable strippable reserves Jan. 1, 1968	Low (1 percent or less)	Medium (1.1 to 2 percent)	High (2.1 per- cent or more)
Alabama Alaska	33, 538 260, 089	16, 711 130, 043	2, 078 92, 503	10, 625	914	134	33 4, 411	74	
Arkansas.	5, 990	2, 995	350	1, 421	194	387 174 25	28 28 39	118	28
Colorado	226, 637	113, 299	80, 645			202	476	24	
Delaware District of Columbia									
Florida. Georgia Hawaii	78	39	76						
Idaho. Illinois Indiana	239, 756 56, 779 20, 519	119, 675 28, 337 10, 257	574 371	7, 557 8, 094 1, 040	127, 758 26, 577 6, 523	3, 247 1, 096 180		80 293	3, 167
Kansas Kentucky Oriisiana	22, 686 117, 952	11, 340 58, 600	22, 132	5, 428	19, 699 38, 950	1, 785	532	189	1,037
Maine Maryland	1, 572	782		125	1,055	21		90	13

Massachusetts Michigan Minnesota	705	352			205	1			1
Mississippi Missouri Montana Nebraska	23, 359 378, 701	11, 670 189, 347	215, 438	4, 550	78, 760	1, 160 6, 897	6, 133	764	1,160
Nevada New Hampshire New Jaresy									
New Mexico New York	88, 475	44, 235	61, 421			2, 474	2, 474		
North Carolina North Dakota	130	265 328	110			250			
Ohio Oklahoma Oregon	23, 864 23, 299 432	11,645	611 1,022 1,88	2, 488 1, 193	38, 933 1, 087	2, 0/5 1, 033 111	1,6/8	397 126 44	907
Pennsylvania Rhode Island South Carolina	67, 553	33, 495	1, 198	20,048	36, 705	752		225	527
	3, 031	1, 515	2,031	340		160	160		
Texas. Utah Vermont	26, 926 80, 250	13, 463 40, 107	22, 135	9/3 6, 902 1, 675	7, 978 3, 998	1, 309 150	. 625 6	43 684 136	26
Virginia Washington West Virginia	12, 710 36, 178 102, 034	6, 217 18, 089 50, 455	8,060 5,881 41,472	1, 637	4, 122	258	154	66	16
	445, 710 5, 721	222, 843	120, 715		10	13,971	13, 377	65	529
Total	2, 872, 955	1, 429, 010	1, 008, 885	140,060	412, 035	44, 986	31, 787	4, 038	9, 161

III. MAJOR PROVISIONS

1. Coverage of S. 425

S. 425 applies to coal surface mining on Federal and non-Federal lands. This includes all aspects of coal surface mining operations, all surface effects of underground coal mining operations, exploration activities for coal, and the disposal of coal mine and processing wastes.

Regulation of coal surface mining activities is the most pressing national need. Of all land disturbed by all types of surface mining, 43 percent has been disturbed as a result of surface mining for coal. During the last 5 years coal surface mining has accounted for over 50

percent of all surface disturbance.

Open pit mines and surface mining for minerals other than coal are not subject to this bill. Coal surface mining on Indian lands is also excluded. The Committee is fully cognizant of the adverse impacts of these mining operations and intends that these mining operations should be regulated as soon as possible. Of particular concern to the Committee is the need to regulate sand and gravel operations, which account for 25 percent of the acreage disturbed by surface mining, and open pit mining operations. However, in the case of open pit mining and mining for minerals other than coal, the Committee felt that it did not have sufficient information or understanding of the available mining and reclamation technologies for such operations to legislate their regulation in the best possible manner.

In order to assure that appropriate regulations for all surface mining can be developed, appropriate information must be gathered concerning mining operations not now covered by S. 425. The bill therefore provides for two studies to be undertaken by the Council on Environmental Quality in conjunction with the National Academy of Sciences-National Academy of Engineering. The first study covers mining and reclamation technologies for minerals other than coal and for open pit mining. The study report on sand and gravel is due 1 year after enactment. That part of the study dealing with all other minerals is due in 18 months. The second study will examine developing resource recovery and reclamation technologies including recycling to maximize resource recovery with minimal environmental impacts. It is due in 3 years.

In the case of mining operations on Indian lands, the Committee was requested by representatives of a number of affected tribes, to postpone Federal regulation of mining on Indian lands until greater consultation could be sought from the tribes, giving them an opportunity to design mining and reclamation programs for their own lands. The bill therefore also provides for a study by the Secretary of the Interior, to examine the question of applying the provisions of the Act to Indian lands. This study is due no later than January 1, 1975.

As the results of these studies are made available to the Congress, the Committee intends to design appropriate legislation, based on these and other findings, for the regulation of surface mining for all minerals on all lands.

2. State and Federal jurisdiction

Because of the diversity of climate, terrain, mining conditions, and land use patterns in the different areas where coal is mined, the Committee believes that the States, as the governmental entity closest to the problem, are best able to design and enforce coal surface mining and reclamation programs on non-Federal lands within their juris-

However, the Federal Government has a responsibility to protect Federal lands from the adverse effects of coal surface mining, and to assure a uniform minimum standard of environmental protection for all persons affected by coal surface mining operations. In the past, the Congress has reconciled similar jurisdictional responsibilities by promulgating Federal standards to be used as a minimum base for Stateadministered programs, as under the Federal Water Pollution Control Act and the Clean Air Act. This approach largely precludes the possibility of "industrial blackmail," whereby industries threaten to move from one State proposing stringent protection standards, to one with more lenient standards.

Similarly, with respect to coal surface mining and regulation, the Committee has chosen to provide Federal initiative, approval and oversight for a State-administered program. In order to provide assurances that the minimum Federal requirements will be satisfied in all cases, the Committee has provided the Secretary of the Interior with the authority to monitor State enforcement by inspection, and to enforce the requirements of the Act in the event of failure of a State to administer or enforce an approved State program, or any part thereof. Should Federal enforcement of a State program occur, the bill prevents any confusion arising from overlapping or dual Federal-State jurisdictions, by carefully defining the extent of the regulatory power of both the Federal and the State authorities.

The bill facilitates coordination of coal surface mining and reclamation programs on Federal lands with State programs in two ways. First, it requires the program for Federal lands in any State to include at a minimum the requirements of the State's approved program. Second, it provides for limited delegation of authority between the Federal Government and the States, particularly to allow coordinated regulation of mining and reclamation operations on checkerboard

lands.

3. Timing of implementation

S. 425 provides that within 6 months after passage of the Act, the Secretary of the Interior shall promulgate final regulations both for the development of State programs to meet the requirements of the Act, and for the regulation of coal surface mining activities on all Federal lands. Within 1 year from such promulgation (18 months after enactment) all States must have submitted to the Secretary for approval a State program for the regulation of coal surface mining and reclamation activities to the requirements of the Act. The Secretary then has 4 months to approve or disapprove the State plans. Twenty-two months after the date of enactment, all States should be administering approved State plans.

From the date of enactment until 22 months after the Act is passed, no new coal surface mining operations may be opened without an interim permit from the appropriate regulatory authority. Similarly, no existing operation can expand so as to affect an area greater than 15 percent of the area affected by its activities in the preceding 12

months, unless an interim permit is obtained from the appropriate regulatory authority. Any surface mines operating under such an interim permit are subject to the full provisions of this Act. Federal inspections of all such operations are authorized in this interim period to determine compliance with the Act's provisions. During this interim period, all other existing operations continue to be regulated by existing regulatory programs. The Committee fully expects, however, that such operations will be conducted in so far as possible to meet the purposes of this Act.

After 22 months from the date of enactment, no person may mine without a permit issued under an approved program, unless an application for a permit has been filed, but not yet acted upon, or unless a State is prevented by injunction from enforcing its State program. This latter exception is limited to 1 year. The Committee anticipates, however, that both mine operators and the States will work expeditiously and in good faith to effect full implementation of the provisions of the Act, and that exceptions will be kept to a minimum.

The Committee also recognizes that it is possible a hiatus might occur between the expiration of the interim 22-month period and the initiation of a State program, which could result in the cessation of coal surface mining operations in certain States. The Committee expects, however, that with due diligence on the part of both Federal and State regulatory agencies, such a hiatus will not occur. The mere existence of the possibility is in itself an incentive for rapid and timely administration of the requirements of the Act.

4. Provisions for reclamation

There is general agreement among all those concerned that surface mining, measured by any criterion, is a drastic environmental change effected by man's technology. Such complete changes in environmental conditions make total restoration of the original ecosystem impossible. Rehabilitation can be accomplished only when planning prior to the actual mining includes the establishment of desirable and attainable objectives for the use of the land after mining. Rehabilitation objectives are achieved through careful management including monitoring of mining and reclamation techniques, reshaping the spoils, prompt revegetation, control of erosion, and prevention of damage to hydrologic systems. The rehabilitation of a specific site will depend on the physical characteristics of the site and the post-mining land use objectives.

The selection of the mining technique is most commonly made on the basis of economics. When rehabilitation is considered part of the mining operation, extraction techniques may well be expected to change to those which most economically facilitate rehabilitation.

Reclamation plans

The Committee believes that submission of a detailed reclamation

plan is an essential element of effective regulation.

No surface mining for coal should be permitted on either public or private lands without the prior development of reclamation plans designed to minimize environmental impacts, to meet on- and off-site air and water pollution regulations, and to define a timetable for reclamation concurrent with the mining operation. The preplanning

should be part of an original environmental impact analysis and should clearly indicate the basis on which conditions at the proposed mine site are evaluated. It is important that adequate provision for public participation be a part of the review of the preplans.

Reclamation criteria

The bill reported by the Committee contains reclamation criteria designed to assure that coal surface mining and reclamation operations are conducted so as to prevent adverse short- and long-term environmental impacts and be consistent with State and local land use plans and programs.

Two of the most important of these criteria deal with restoration of surface mined lands to their original contour (213(b)(2)), and the prohibition against dumping of spoil on the down slope when mining

on steep slopes (213(b)(6)).

Original contour

This provides that reclamation will include the backfilling, compacting (where necessary) and regrading of all disturbed areas to restore the land to approximate original contour, and eliminate all highwalls, spoil piles, and depressions, except where there is insufficient overburden produced throughout the mining operation to do so.

The Committee believes that this requirement will significantly increase the range of possible post mining land uses for surface mined areas. It will eliminate the long useless ribbons of benches in mountainous areas which may be as much as 200 feet wide and run for miles along mountain sides. In both area and contour mining, the retention of highwalls results in the isolation of land-usually land above the mining operation and not otherwise affected by mining. Such isolated land, surrounded by a highwall of 30 to 200 feet, is preempted from any future land use, and is inaccessible to wildlife as well as to man. In heavily surface mined areas, such isolation has caused severe problems not only by precluding use of the land, but also by denying access in case of fire. There have been instances in which forest fires have burned unchecked because the forest was surrounded by highwalls and could not be reached by firefighters.

The Committee does not intend to preclude such current practices as creation of a reservoir for recreational purposes, or the creation of flat land by "mountain-top" mining. Under the definition of "back-filling to approximate original contour," the regulatory agency has the discretionary authority to permit retention of water for creation of a reservoir or recreation area. "Mountain-top" mining is surface mining on steep slopes in which the entire top of a mountain is removed in a process similar to area mining. This can result in the creation of flat land, which can be used, for example, for airports. Housing developments or industrial parks can also be built on such land if the necessary services (electricity, water, gas, and so forth) can be provided to these more remote areas. Since this mining method does not leave highwalls, no backfilling is needed. Further, in such instances there is usually sufficient overburden to restore the approximate original contour of the mountain top if flat land is not needed for the planned post-mining use of the land.

Recognizing these problems, States which have experienced heavy surface mining have taken steps to eliminate the highwalls. Ohio, Pennsylvania, and West Virginia have legislatively and administratively limited the retention of highwalls. Ohio and Pennsylvania usually require complete backfilling of all highwalls. West Virginia limits the permissible height of highwalls left after mining. However, restricting the height of highwalls, while it does significantly reduce the adverse esthetic impacts of surface mining, does not deal adequately with the problem of isolation. The Committee therefore feels strongly that backfilling to original contour as required in this bill is essential to good reclamation.

This practice is not new to the mining industry. In recent years, the industry trade journals have reported mining operations in West Virginia, Pennsylvania, and Tennessee that have completely eliminated the highwall, using a number of different mining and reclamation techniques. Since the passage of the 1971 West Virginia surface mining law, a number of mining companies in that State have voluntarily adopted the policy of placing no spoil on outslopes, and totally eliminated the state of the state of the policy of placing no spoil on outslopes, and totally eliminated the state of th

nating highwalls.

Although costs vary according to mining technique, many operators who do restore to original contour report that overall costs are not much different from those incurred for lower levels of restoration. In cases where mining techniques were altered to minimize the handling of overburden, total mining costs have been reported to decline.

It has been suggested that in adopting this provision, the Committee is applying nationwide a standard used by the State of Pennsylvania and which, for reasons of geology and terrain, is not applicable beyond that State. There are a number of errors in this assump-

tion.

First, while inclusion of this provision in this bill was supported by the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Resources and by both Senator Schweiker and Senator Scott of Pennsylvania, the language adopted is not identical to the Pennsylvania law.

Second, although there are some variations in the geology of different coal seams and fields, there are also certain geological constants: sandstone, slate, and shale are found wherever there is coal. This same basic geology of sandstone and slate overburden is common not only

to Pennsylvania and West Virginia, but also in the West.

Third, the degree of slope on which a mine is located is immaterial to the feasibility of backfilling to original contour. In West Virginia complete backfilling is required now on all slopes up to 30 degrees. As reported in the trade journals of that State at least two large West Virginia mining companies have adopted a policy of restoring the mined land to approximate original contour regardless of slope. Surface mine operators in Pennsylvania have adopted similar policies to meet that State's requirement that all highwalls be backfilled to approximate original contour.

Finally, and most important, implicit in these arguments is the assumption that the requirement of "regrading to approximate original contour" is a requirement to use a particular mining technique widely used in Pennsylvania called the modified block-cut. This is not the case. The Committee is prescribing performance standards to achieve a certain degree of reclamation—the Committee has no intention of

dictating how these standards are achieved. In fact, surface mines in West Virginia and Tennessee are reclaiming to approximate original contour, backfilling all highwalls, not using the modified block cut, but retrieving overburden from the spoil pile on the downslope. Obviously, this technique requires more handling of the spoil, and may be more costly than the block-cut technique, but it is being done.

The Committee does not intend to place undue hardship on surface mine operators by this requirement. For this reason they have included a provision that where overburden produced is insufficient, even allowing for volumetric expansion, backfilling to approximate

original contour will not be required.

Spoil on downslopes

This standard provides that, when mining on steep slopes, no soil, spoil, debris, or other waste material be placed on the natural downslope below the bench or mining cut, except that the spoil from the initial cut may be placed in a limited and specified area of the downslope if the permittee can demonstrate that it will not slide, and that the other environmental requirements of the bill can still be met.

This provision is crucial to assuring that the environmental impacts of mining are minimized, and confined to the permit area. Most of the damage that occurs as a result of surface mining on steeper slopes, such as landslides, erosion, sedimentation, and flooding results from placing spoil on the downslope. In areas with both steep slopes and significant rainfall, these problems are further aggravated. The least environmental damage usually results when the deposition of overbur-

den on otherwise undisturbed outslopes is minimized.

Recognizing the importance of spoil management to environmental protection, most Appalachian States do restrict spoil placement on the downslope and prohibit fill benches on the steepest slopes (over 30 degrees in West Virginia; over 33 degrees in Maryland; and over 28 degrees in both Kentucky and Tennessee). Most contour surface mining in the Appalachian States occurs on steep slopes between 14 and 33 degrees. West Virginia has recently adopted administrative regulations that require total spoil management. The Committee did not attempt to specify the precise definition of "steep slopes" in terms of degrees. The Committee intends that the Federal regulations promulgated by the Secretary will define the term so as to make this provision applicable to any slope on which spoil cannot be easily controlled.

Under the requirements of S. 425, the only spoil that may be placed on the downslope of the mining operation is that from the initial cut. In adopting this provision, it was the clear understanding of the Committee that this initial cut consisted only of that original excavation made to gain first access to and first expose the coal. In most instances this initial cut should be less than 100 feet along the contour of the slope—enough room simply to install the first set of equipment and remove the first cut of coal. The Committee does not intend or expect that "initial cut" could be construed to mean the entire first contour cut into a seam.

The purpose of the Committee in adopting this measure was to assure that spoil would only be deposited on already mined and disturbed areas, and not on otherwise undisturbed land. The exception al-

lowing for spoil placement from the initial cut in a specified spoil disposal area is a recognition of the fact that at the outset of a new mining operation, there is no undisturbed land except for the access road, which would not likely be suitable for spoil disposal.

It must be understood a mine operator need not necessarily use the downslope for spoil disposition if, for example, the permit area includes flat land which may be used, if approved by the regulatory authority, as a spoil pit for the spoil from the initial cut. Particularly in areas where slides on steep slopes mining operations have been common occurrences, the operator must demonstrate what different practices he will use to prevent such slides and erosion in the new operation.

Other criteria

In addition to the two criteria described above, the Act also requires that the affected land be returned to a nonhazardous and useful condition. Further, all disturbed terrain must be stabilized, protected

from erosion and revegetated.

All offsite areas are to be protected from the adverse impacts of the mining operations. No surface waters may be disturbed by mining operations unless their relocation has been previously approved by the regulatory authority; and all such waters must be protected from acid drainage, siltation, and other adverse impacts of water runoff from the areas disturbed by coal surface mining operations. In addition, all shafts, voids, and tunnels from underground coal mines are to be sealed. All waste from underground coal mining and from coal processing operations must be carefully disposed of underground; or, if this is not feasible, in a safe and stable and environmentally acceptable manner compatible with the surrounding terrain. Any disposal of such wastes in contact with surface waters, or use of such wastes as water retention facilities, must be done in compliance with State and Federal water quality requirements, and, so as not to endanger public health and safety, with the requirements for safe impoundment construction set forth under Public Law 566.

5. Prohibition of mining under certain conditions

It is the express intent of the Committee that coal surface mining operations should not be conducted where reclamation (as required by this Act) is not feasible. The mining and reclamation requirements

in S. 425 have been designed to accomplish this purpose.

In addition to this general standard, the bill provides a vehicle for designating certain lands unsuitable for mining, under both Federal and State jurisdiction. Under this program States are authorized to designate as unsuitable for mining areas: (1) which economically or technologically cannot be reclaimed according to the requirements of the Act; (2) where coal surface mining would be incompatible with existing land uses, plans, or programs; and (3) which are of critical environmental concern. A similar designation is directed for Federal lands.

This provision does not require that States designate any land at all as unsuitable for mining. It does require each State to review the lands within its boundaries to determine if any should be designated unsuitable. It would allow a State to declare all land within its jurisdiction as unsuitable for surface mining, should it so choose.

The bill does explicitly define certain areas as unsuitable for mining. These include national parks, national wildlife refuges, the National System of Trails, the National Wilderness Preservation System, the Wild and Scenic Rivers System, National Recreation areas, and any area which will adversely affect a publicly owned park, unless approved by both the regulatory agency and the agency having jurisdiction over the park.

6. Protection of surface owner rights

When the surface estate and the mineral estate are separate, primacy has frequently been accorded to the rights of the mineral owner over those of the surface owner. But given the adverse nature of the impacts of coal surface mining it is the intent of the Committee that the rights of the surface owner be protected as well. To this end, in cases where the mineral rights are owned separately from the surface rights, the bill provides that no coal surface mining may take place without the express written consent of the surface owner to allow surface mining, unless a bond separate from the reclamation bond has been posted to pay for all damages suffered by the surface owner(s) as a result of the coal surface mining operation. This provision applies to all cases involving separate estates, whether the mineral rights are held by the Federal Government or whether the mineral and the surface rights are both privately owned. It follows the rule used for many years where the Federal Government owns the minerals.

IV. COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

The Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs recommends that S. 425, as amended, be approved by the Senate.

V. LEGISLATIVE HISTORY

Surface mining has been the subject of legislation for several years. The first hearings were held by the Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs in the 90th Congress. No bills were reported during the 90th and 91st Congresses. During the 92d Congress, the Subcommittee on Minerals, Materials, and Fuels held 4 days of hearings. The Committee unanimously reported a bill (S. 630) in September 1972 with the understanding that Committee members reserved the option to offer amendments on the Senate floor.

The House of Representatives passed a bill (H.R. 6482) in October 1972. The 92d Congress adjourned before the Senate considered either

bill.

The surface mining bills pending before the Committee this year are:

S. 425 (Jackson, Buckley, Mansfield, Metcalf, and Moss); S. 923 (Jackson and Fannin—administration proposal); S. 1163 (Baker); S. 1185 (Case), S. 1612 (Metcalf), S. 946 (Stevenson) which deals with demonstration projects.

The Full Committee held hearings on bills then before it on March 13, 14, 15, and 16. On April 30 the Subcommittee on Minerals, Materials, and Fuels held a hearing on the report prepared by the Council on Environmental Quality entitled "Coal Surface Mining and Re-

\(\frac{1}{4}\)

clamation-An Environmental and Economic Assessment of Alternatives."

In addition, as part of the study of National Fuels and Energy Policy, the Full Committee and ex-officio members held 3 days of hearings on coal policy issues, which included discussion of the poten-

tial impact of Federal surface mining legislation on coal development. The Committee agreed to mark up S. 425 and met in public mark-up session for 10 days to consider amendments to the bill. On September 10, 1973, the Committee completed action on the bill and ordered S. 425 favorably reported to the Senate with the recommendation that the bill as amended be passed.

VI. SECTION-BY-SECTION ANALYSIS

SECTION 1

This section states the official citation of the Act as the "Surface Mining Reclamation Act of 1973".

TITLE I-STATEMENT ON FINDINGS AND POLICY

SECTION 101. FINDINGS

This section sets out congressional findings relating to surface mining of coal and other minerals. These include the fact that (1) surface mining is only one of various methods of mining; (2) surface mining is a significant activity in our national economy; (3) surface mining has numerous adverse economic environmental and social effects; and (4) surface mining and reclamation technology are developing so that effective and reasonable regulation of surface coal mining is appropriate and necessary to minimize these adverse effects.

These findings conclude that (1) because of the diversity of terrain, climate, biologic, chemical, and other physical conditions, the States should have the primary responsibility for regulating surface mining and reclamation and (2) while there is a need to regulate surface mining operations for minerals other than coal, more data and analyses are needed to provide a basis for effective and reasonable regulation.

SECTION 102. PURPOSES

Section 102 states that the long-term goal of Congress is to prevent the adverse effects to society and the environment resulting from surface mining. It sets out nine specific purposes as steps toward achieving that goal. These recognize that, while all adverse effects of surface mining cannot be prevented immediately and that coal is an essential source of energy, a strong nationwide regulatory program based on minimum Federal standards should be implemented rapidly. This program would assure that coal surface mining operations are not conducted where reclamation which meets these minimum standards is not feasible. The Federal Government would assist the States in developing and implementing such a program. If and when a State manifests a lack of desire or an inability to participate in or implement that program and to meet the requirements of the Act, the Federal Government is to exercise the full reach of Federal constitutional powers to insure the effectiveness of that program.

Another significant purpose of the Act is to provide a means for development of the data and analyses necessary to establish effective and reasonable regulation of surface mining for all minerals other than coal.

TITLE II—EXISTING AND PROSPECTIVE SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATIONS

SECTION 201. GRANT OF AUTHORITY: PROMULGATION OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS

This section places authority for the administration of the Act with the Secretary of the Interior. The Secretary's initial responsibilities are to prepare and publish within 6 months, regulations concerning coal surface mining and reclamation operations and a detailed description of actions to be taken by a State to develop an acceptable State program to regulate such operations.

This section also provides procedures for publication of the proposed

regulations and for public hearings on them.

Subsection 201(c) provides that the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) is to be applicable to the administration of the Act.

Throughout the Act are provisions which insure due process not only for surface mine operators, but also for State and local governments, surface owners, persons with interests which are or may be adversely affected, and local citizens. Due process is insured through numerous reporting and notice provisions, burden of proof provisions, public hearing provisions, and administrative and judicial review provisions. Where the provisions of the Act depart from or are more specific than the APA, the provisions of the Act will prevail.

SECTION 202. OFFICE OF SURFACE MINING, RECLAMATION, AND ENFORCEMENT

To insure administration of the program by an independent agency with neither a resource development (the promotion of mining, marketing, or use of minerals) or resource preservation (pollution control, wilderness, or wildlife management) bias or mission, this section establishes the Office of Reclamation and Enforcement in the Department of the Interior. This Office will be separate from any of the Department's existing bureaus or agencies. It is intended that the Office exercise independent and objective judgment in implementing

To insure sufficient authority to administer the Act the Office will have a Director to be compensated at the rate provided for in level V of the Executive Pay Schedule. Officers and employees of the Office are to be recruited on the basis of their professional competence and capacity to administer the Act objectively. The Act specifically states that there cannot be transferred to the Office any legal authority which has as its purpose, promoting the development or use of coal or other minerals.

The duties of the Secretary, acting through the Office, include: Administering the various grant-in-aid programs provided in the Act; administering research and development projects provided in the Act; reviewing and approving State programs for surface mining and reclamation operations; developing and administering any Federal program for surface mining and reclamation operations for States which do not have or are not enforcing State Programs; maintaining a Surface Mining and Reclamation Information and Data Center; cooperating with States in dissemination of relevant data and in standardizing methods of collecting and classifying such data; providing technical assistance to the States to enable them to undertake responsibilities provided for in the Act; monitoring all Federal and State research programs dealing with coal extraction; and recommending research projects designed to improve the feasibility of underground coal mining or develop improved surface mining and reclamation techniques.

SECTION 203. SURFACE MINING OPERATIONS NOT SUBJECT TO THIS ACT

This section provides specific exemptions for two types of coal surface mining which would otherwise be subject to the Act.

These are (1) the extraction of coal by a landowner for his own non-commercial use from land owned or leased by him, and (2) the extraction of coal where surface mining affects 2 acres or less.

The Committee felt that these two classes of surface mining cause very little environmental damage and that regulation of them would place a heavy burden on both the miner and the regulatory authority. The exemption for "noncommercial" use does not include coal surface mining done by one unit of an integrated company which uses all of the coal in its own manufacturing plants (e.g., surface mining of metallurgical coal owned by a steel company for use in the company's steel mills, or surface mining for coal owned by an electric utility for use in its own powerplants).

SECTION 204. STATE AUTHORITY; STATE PROGRAMS

Subsection (a) establishes the six prerequisites for any State to continue to obtain financial assistance and to assume full responsibility for all regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations within the State. The State is required to:

(1) Have appropriate legal authority to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations in accordance with the Act's requirements;

(2) Provide sanctions, including civil and criminal sanctions, bond forfeitures, and cease and desist orders for violations of State laws, regulations or permit conditions concerning surface mining and reclamation operations which meet the requirements of the Act;

(3) Have sufficient personnel, interdisciplinary expertise, and financial resources to enable the State to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations in accord with the Act's requirements;

(4) Submit to the Secretary for his approval a State program for the effective implementation and enforcement of a permit system for surface mining and reclamation operations for coal;

(5) Include in its State program a process for coordinating issuance of surface mining permits with any other applicable Federal or State permit process; and

(6) Have established a process for designation of areas as unsuitable for surface mining in accordance with Section 216 and to be con-

ducting a review of potential surface mining areas.

Subsections (b), (c), and (d) set out the time periods and procedures for the Secretary's approval or disapproval of State programs and for revisions and resubmittals of disapproved State programs. Prior to approving a State program, the Secretary is directed to hold a public hearing within the State and solicit the views of the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency, the Secretary of Agriculture, and the heads of other Federal agencies with relevant expertise.

Subsection (c) requires the Secretary to approve or disapprove a State program within 4 months after its submission. The Secretary is directed to approve a State program which meets or exceeds the

requirements of the Act.

Subsection (d) requires the Secretary, when he disapproves a State program, to notify the affected State and allow the State 60 days to resubmit a revised program. The notification is to be in writing and is to contain the reasons for disapproval. It is intended that the Secretary's notification be very specific. Only with such specificity will a State know how best to revise its State program so it will meet with the Secretary's approval.

Subsection (e) provides that States that are prevented from preparing, submitting, or enforcing a State program because of a court injunction remain eligible for financial assistance under the Act.

This subsection further provides that, despite the provision of Section 205, no Federal program shall be initiated for a State under the circumstances. This bar on imposition of a Federal program ends when the injunction terminates or after 1 year, whichever comes first. The Committee did not want to penalize States which were making a good faith effort to comply with the Act but were prevented from doing so by court action. On the other hand, the Committee does not want to have any undue delay in establishment of a regulatory program which meets the requirements of the Act.

SECTION 205. FEDERAL PROGRAMS

This section provides for Federal regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations in any State which proves unwilling or unable to do the job itself. In accord with the purposes and findings in Title I, Federal regulation is to occur only if a particular State wishes to forego or fails to assume primary responsibility for regulating surface mining operations within its boundaries.

Subsection (a) directs the Secretary to prepare, promulgate, and implement a Federal program covering surface mining and reclamation operations for any State which (a) fails to submit a State program within 12 months of the promulgation of the Federal regulations required by Section 201, (b) fails to resubmit an acceptable revised State program after the Secretary's disapproval of the original submission, or (c) fails to enforce its approved State program.

If an Act of the State legislature is required to enable the State to comply with the Act, the Secretary is authorized to extend the deadline for submission of a State program up to an additional 6 months.

All State legislatures will meet no later than 1975, so the 6-month extension should give the State adequate time to adopt acceptable

Promulgation of a Federal program gives the Secretary exclusive jurisdiction for regulation of surface mining operations in the State. Surface mine operators need to know which regulations—Federal or State—they must follow at any given point in time.

In preparing and implementing a Federal program, the Secretary is directed to take into account the affected State's terrain, climate,

and other physical conditions.

Subsection (b) requires that a public hearing must be held in the

affected State prior to promulgation of the Federal program.

Subsection (c) provides that all permits issued under an approved State program remain valid after implementation of a Federal program. However, the Secretary is directed to undertake a review of such permits and where such permits fail to meet the requirements of the Act, to afford the permittee reasonable time to conform his operations with those requirements or to submit a new permit application.

Subsection (d) provides procedures and timetables for the lifting of the Federal program in any State when a new State program receives the Secretary's approval. It provides that permits issued under the Federal program remain valid under the State program but are subject to review and revision by this State regulatory authority. It further provides that any State laws or regulations regulating surface mining are preempted by the Federal program. This preemption is designed to make it clear to surface mine operators which laws and regulations they must comply with. Other State laws applicable to the operation, such as those relating to air and water quality would not be affected.

Subsection (e) provides that any Federal program shall contain a process for coordinating issuance of permits with any other applicable

Federal or State permit process.

The assumption of regulatory authority over surface mining operations in any State by the Secretary through promulgation of a Federal program for that State is regarded as a "last resort" measure. It is certainly preferable that the State regulate such operations through State programs which meet the requirements of the Act. The Committee hopes and expects that the States, in good faith, will develop and implement strong State programs. However, if they fail to do so, the purpose of the Act and this section in particular is to insure that the full reach of the Federal constitutional powers will be exercised to achieve the purposes of the Act.

SECTION 206. SURFACE MINING OPERATIONS PENDING STATE COMPLIANCE

This section establishes an interim surface mining permit program, which would be in effect from enactment of the Act until the deadline for approval of a State program, which is expected to be no later than 22 months after enactment of the Act. (The Secretary has 6 months to

promulgate regulations (Section 201), the States have 12 months after that to submit State programs (205(a)) and the Secretary has 4 months to approve or disapprove the State program (204(c).)

During the 22-month period an interim permit, issued by the appropriate State regulatory authority, would be required to open or develop any new or previously mined and developed site for coal surface mining or to expand by a surface mining operation in existence on the date of enactment of this Act so as to affect an area greater than 15 percent of the area affected by that operation in the preceding 12 months. The interim permit application and the terms of the interim permit would have to meet the requirements of the Act, which are set

out in Sections 208, 210, and 213.

As introduced, this section of S. 425 provided a moratorium on new starts, or the reopening of abandoned mines, or the acceleration of existing activities in or for the surface mining of coal until permits for the surface mining and reclamation of coal are obtained under an approved State program. The Committee felt that this was too stringent a step which might lead to shortages of coal, particularly for generation of electricity. At the same time, the Committee did not want to multiply the social and environment costs of surface mining by encouraging new and accelerated operations before the State programs, provided for in the Act, to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations for coal can take effect.

The interim permit program was designed to allow new supplies of coal to be made available pending full implementation of the Act, subject to the reclamation standards and requirements of the Act.

The Committee recognizes that if approved State programs are not in effect at the time when the interim permit program terminates, that there may be a hiatus before a Federal program could be implemented. Such a hiatus would preclude new operations and could shut down existing ones. However, this possibility should serve as an incentive to the States to take the initiative to exercise State responsibility and assure State, rather than Federal, regulation.

It should also serve as an incentive to surface mine operators to support, rather than block, efforts to develop effective State programs

which meet the requirements of the Act.

SECTION 207, PERMITS

This section provides a timetable for obtaining permits to conduct surface mining and reclamation operations pursuant to the Act from either the State regulatory authority under a State program or the Secretary under a Federal program. (Hereafter, the words "regulatory authority" will be used to mean the State regulatory authority where the State is administering the Act under State programs or the Secretary where the Secretary is administering the Act under Federal programs.)

Under subsection (a) no person can engage in surface mining without a valid permit under an approved State program or a Federal program beginning 22 months (plus any extension granted under 205 (a)) after the enactment of the Act. There is one exception to this rule. Where there is an approved State program or a Federal program an operation existing on the date of enactment of the Act may continue without a permit if a permit application has been filed but the initial administrative decision has not been rendered. The Committee did not want to force current operations to shut down simply because of administrative delay. However, the Committee believes that a firm deadline must be established to serve as an incentive to the Secretary, the States and the operators to comply with the Act.

This deadline provides the States with a reasonable period of time after the Secretary promulgates his regulations to prepare their State programs. (Federal regulations for coal are due 6 months after enactment, State programs are due 12 months after that, and the Secretary must approve or disapprove a State program within 4 months after its submission.) The Committee urges the States to develop acceptable programs as rapidly as possible to avoid a hiatus after the deadline. It also expects the Secretary to issue regulations rapidly and actively assist the States to develop acceptable programs.

The exception for operations existing on the date of enactment recognizes that there may be delays in the processing of applications which are not the fault of the applicant and for which he should not be penalized. The applicant would be subject to the requirements of

the State or Federal program during this period.

Subsection (b) provides that the term of permits issued under State programs shall not exceed 5 years and shall be for 5 years if issued under a Federal program. The Committee believes that 5 years is a reasonable time period but since many States have 1- or 2-year permits it wishes to allow these to continue. The permit includes the right to successive renewals if the permittee has complied with the State or Federal program. As part of the renewal process the regulatory authority may require new conditions or requirements needed to deal with changing conditions.

In order to avoid the possibility of a permit lapsing because of administrative neglect or delay this subsection provides that if an application for renewal has been timely filed before expiration of the existing permit, but not acted upon, permits are renewed by operation of law unless prior to the expiration of the permit term the regulatory authority finds, after notice and a hearing, that the renewal requirements have not been met. The burden of proof is on the permittee to demonstrate compliance. If the regulatory authority fails to act timely but finds that there is a violation, it can, of course, proceed to revoke the permit pursuant to Section 212 of the Act.

To assure that no one will be locked into outdated reclamation requirements because permits are taken out and renewed without operations being undertaken, subsection (c) provides that permits will terminate if the permittee has not begun operations within 3 years of

the issuance of the permit.

SECTION 208. PERMIT APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS: INFORMATION, INSURANCE, AND RECLAMATION PLANS

Section 208 describes the three principal submissions necessary for a complete application for a permit for surface mining and reclamation operations under a State or Federal program or for an interim permit under Section 206: (1) administrative information; (2) a certificate of public liability insurance; and (3) a reclamation plan.

Subsection (a) specifies the minimum administrative information including names and addresses of the applicant and its officers, of any property owners or holders of lease hold interest in the property to be mined, and of owners of all surface areas within 500 feet of the proposed mining and reclamation site; statement of any permits held or bonds posted by the applicant which have been suspended or revoked since 1960; maps and topographical information; the acreage to be affected, watersheds and streams into which drainage will be discharged, climatic factors; and a copy of the applicant's advertisement in the local newspaper (which must appear at least once a week for 4 successive weeks). These requirements insure public notice, particularly to local governments and citizens, and sufficient information to insure a meaningful hearing on the permit application, as required in Section 209.

Subsection (b) requires the applicant to submit either a certificate issued by an insurance company certifying that he has a public liability insurance policy for the proposed surface mining and reclamation operations or appropriate evidence that he has satisfied other State or Federal self-insurance requirements which meet the requirements of the regulations promulgated pursuant to the Act.

This insurance must be maintained in full force and effect during the term of the permit and all renewals until reclamation operations

are complete.

The most important submission which an applicant must make is the reclamation plan required by subsection (c). The reclamation plan must establish that reclamation of all affected lands in a manner which will fully meet the detailed requirements set forth in Section 213 can be accomplished.

The elements of the reclamation plan are set out in Section 213(a).

SECTION 209. PERMIT APPLICATION APPROVAL PROCEDURES

This section establishes the procedures for review and approval or disapproval of a permit application under a State or Federal program. Subsection (a) provides for time limits for initial approval or disapproval of the permit application by the regulatory authority.

It specifies that no permit will be issued until the performance bond required by Section 210 has been filed. It gives the applicant a right to a hearing on the reasons for disapproval, and requires the regulatory authority to issue a written decision if a hearing is held.

Under subsection (b) no permit will be issued unless the regulatory authority finds that (1) all the requirements of this Act and the State or Federal program have been complied with and (2) the applicant has demonstrated that the required reclamation can be accomplished. The Committee believes that the burden of proof is appropriately on the applicant First, the applicant either already possesses or is in the best position to obtain any and all information necessary to meet the burden of proof. Second, to place the burden of proof upon the regulatory agency would only frustrate the purposes of the Act. Such a step would administratively and financially burden the regulatory authority and could foster either endless delays in processing permit applications or pro forma approval of applicants.

Subsection (c) provides that no operator can obtain a new or revised permit or have an existing permit renewed if the regulatory authority finds that he is failing to comply with any State or Federal program. This additional sanction for noncompliance should encourage compliance by responsible operators and prevent irresponsible ones from starting new operations.

Subsection (d) gives any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected by a proposed surface mining operation or any Federal, State, or local government agency affected the right to file objections to any permit application. If objections are filed, the regulatory authority must hold a public hearing in the locality of the pro-

posed operation.

Subsection (e) entitles any person adversely affected or aggrieved by the decision of the regulatory authority to judicial review. State courts would review decisions under State programs while Federal courts would review Federal program decisions.

This entire section is designed to insure full public information about and review of applications and to provide due process to all interested

parties.

In determining who should have standing to participate in the administrative and judicial review process, the Committee adopted the test established by the Supreme Court in Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727 (1972).

SECTION 210. PERFORMANCE BONDS

This section sets out the requirements for one of the most important aspects of any program to regulate surface mining and reclamationthe performance bond. The requirements of this section will apply to

interim permits as well as State and Federal programs.

Subsection (a) provides that once an application is approved a performance bond must be filed before a permit is issued. The amount of bond must be sufficient to assure completion of the reclamation plan if the work had to be performed by a third party at no expense to the public. The regulatory authority sets the amount of the bond on the basis of at least two independent estimates of these costs.

The bond covers the area to be mined during the initial term of

the permit. As additional land is mined the bond is increased.

Subsection (b) requires that bond liability extend for a period of 5 years after completion of reclamation including revegetation or for 10 years in areas where the average annual rainfall is 26 inches or less. This extension is necessary to assure that the bond will be available if revegetation or other reclamation measures fail after initial accomplishment. The longer time period for liability in arid areas recognizes that permanent reclamation, particularly revegetation, is more difficult and uncertain in such areas. This subsection also permits the deposit of cash and negotiable Government bonds or certificates of deposit in lieu of posting a bond. These meet the objectives of the bond, i.e., having a fund available to accomplish reclamation, just as effectively as a bond.

Subsection (c) recognizes that some applicants can satisfy the objectives of the bond requirement through self-insurance or bonding.

Subsection (d) provides that the bond or deposit may be adjusted upward at any time if as a result of experience or changed circumstances, it is determined to be inadequate.

SECTION 211. RELEASE OF PERFORMANCE BONDS OR DEPOSITS

This section establishes the procedures for release of all or part of

the performance bond or deposit.

Subsection (a) is designed to assure that there is public notice of the release application by requiring publication of a newspaper advertisement and letters to adjoining property owners, local government bodies, and water and sewer agencies.

Subsection (b) authorizes release of all or part of the bond or deposit if the regulatory authority is satisfied that the required reclama tion has been accomplished. No bond can be fully released until all reclamation requirements are met and an authorized representative of the regulatory authority inspects the surface mining and reclamation operations covered by the bond.

Subsection (c) provides for written notice to the permittee of rea-

sons for denial of release and recommended corrective actions.

Subsection (d) provides for a hearing when a request is made by any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected by the failure of the permittee to have complied with the requirements of the Act or by a governmental body. The hearing must be scheduled in a manner so as not to unduly burden the permittee with continuous hearings when a bond is released in phases, but so as to insure public participation before so much of the bond is released as to make forfeiture of the remainder, rather than full accomplishment of reclamation, inviting. Therefore, the section requires that the hearing be held after 50 percent but before 90 percent of the bond is released.

SECTION 212. REVISION AND REVOCATION OF PERMITS

This section describes procedures and time limits for revision and

revocation of permits by the regulatory authority.

Subsection (a) spells out revocation procedures including written notice detailing the reasons for revocation, a reasonable time for the permittee to take corrective action, and a hearing, if requested by the permittee. Violations of permit conditions, the State program, or the Federal Program are sufficient to invoke revocation. Consistent with the "due process" concern throughout the Act, revocation is regarded as a last resort, after cease and desist orders and other procedures have failed.

Subsection (b) provides that the permittee can request a revision of the permit. The regulatory authority is to establish guidelines for the scale or extent of a revision request for which all permit application information and procedural requirements, including notice and hearing, will apply. However, (1) any revisions which propose a substantial change in the intended future use of the land (such as from a residential development to a shopping complex) or significant alterations in the Reclamation Plan (e.g., changes in treatment of surface and ground water) must, at a minimum, be subject to the permit application notice and, hearing requirements, and (2) any extensions to the area covered by the permit, other than incidental boundary revisions (such as additional footage to permit the better siting of an access road), may be accomplished only through application for new permits, not through revision applications.

Revisions will not be approved unless the regulatory authority finds that reclamation required by the Act and the State or Federal program can be accomplished under the revised reclamation plan. This is the same requirement that applies to approval of the original per-

Subsection (c) provides that no transfer, assignment, or sale of the rights granted under a permit may be made without the written approval of the regulatory authority.

SECTION 213. CRITERIA FOR SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATIONS

Section 213 is the substantive heart of the bill. It contains the criteria which would be required to be met by all surface mining and reclamation operations under a State program (section 204), a Federal program (section 205), the Federal Lands Program (section 217), or the State or Federal interim permit (section 206 and 217). These

requirements are set out in two general categories.

Subsection (a) enumerates the information which, as a minimum, would be required to be set forth in any reclamation plan submitted as part of an application for a surface mining permit. Subsection (b) enumerates the minimum requirements which would be required to be placed upon any permittee by regulations promulgated by the regulatory authority. The Committee expects the regulations for this section promulgated by the Secretary and the State regulation au-

thorities will expand on these provisions.

Subsection 213(a). Reclamation plans. There is general agreement that, since careful preplanning is the key to successful reclamation, submission of a reclamation plan prior to issuance of a mining permit is an essential element of effective regulation. This subsection enumerates the minimum items of information required in any reclamation plan submitted by an applicant for a permit to conduct surface mining operations. A reclamation plan is required by subsection 208(c) as part of the permit application. The plan is the basis by which the regulatory authority determines the feasibility and adequacy of reclamation which is proposed to be done by the applicant under the terms of his permit. It also provides that information provided in the reclamation plan be in the degree of detail necessary to demonstrate that reclamation can be accomplished. The burden of proof is on the applicant. The following specific items of information are required.

213(a) (1). A description of the condition of the land area which will be effected by the proposed mining and reclamation must be provided. This description is intended to include general topography, vegetative cover, the cultural development. If the area has been previously mined, the description should cover both the uses of the land existing at the time of the application and those which existed prior to any mining at the site. The description must also include an evaluaton of the capability of the site to support a variety of uses prior to any mining disturbance. This description should give consideration to soil and foundation characteristics, topography, and vegetative cover.

The description is to serve as a benchmark against which the adequacy of reclamation and the degradation resulting from the proposed mining may be measured. It is important that the potential utility which the land had for a variety of uses be the benchmark rather than any single, possibly low value, use which by circumstances

may have existed at the time mining began.

213(a)(2). A similar description is also required of the use to which the land affected by the proposed mining is to be put following reclamation and its capacity to support a variety of alternative uses. The relationship of the proposed use to land use policies and plans existing at the time the reclamation plan is filed must also be prescribed. The comparison of this description with that required by 213(a) (1) will provide an evaluation of the net impact which the proposed mining and reclamation will have upon the usefulness of the area affected.

213(a)(3). This section requires a statement of the techniques and equipment which will be used in the mining and reclamation operations. This should be a complete statement adequate to insure that the reclamation proposed to be accomplished is capable of achievement and that each of the requirements set forth in subsection 213(b) and any regulations promulgated pursuant to that subsection can be com-

plied with.

A cost estimate for the reclamation is also required as a basis for review of the adequacy of the performance bond required by section

213(a)(4). The techniques and procedures which will be used by the applicant to insure compliance with all applicable air and water quality laws and regulations, and health and safety standards must be described in sufficient detail to permit an evaluation of their adequacy and probable effectiveness.

213(a)(5). The reclamation plan must set forth a description of the particular considerations which have been given to the conditions found at each site: for example, the effect of precipitation, temperatures, wind, and soil characteristics upon revegetation at the site. Furthermore, there must be a statement of the consideration which has been given to new or alternative reclamation technologies.

It is probable that a number of surface mining and reclamation operations, particularly those in the same general locality, will be similar in terms of general problems and technologies. The purpose of this requirement is to insure that reclamation plans do not become stereotypes and ignore the unique conditions of specific sites.

213(a) (6). There must be a discussion of the potential recovery of the mineral resources of the site to be mined. To the extent that any portion of the resource will not be recovered, the reasons and justifica-

tion for nonrecovery shall be set forth.

213(a) (7). A detailed time schedule for the completion of the rec-

lamation which is being proposed is to be provided.

213(a) (8). A statement is required demonstrating that the permittee has considered all applicable State and local land use plans and

213(a) (9). A disclosure to the regulatory authority of all rights and interests in lands held by the applicant which are contiguous to the lands covered by the permit application is required. The purpose of this disclosure is to provide the regulatory authority with information on the prospective long-term plans of the applicant in the immediate vicinity. The bill would not require public disclosure of this information, however, it does not preclude State law from requiring disclosure

of part or all of it.

213(a) (10). A disclosure to the regulatory authority of the results of test borings made by the applicant in the area covered by the permit and the results of chemical analyses of the coal or other minerals and overburden is required. This information is essential for the critical evaluation of the adequacy of the reclamation plan by the regulatory authority and the interested public. Because of its proprietory nature, information about the mineral (not the overburden) will be kept confidential if requested by the applicant.

213(b). Reclamation criteria. This subsection sets forth the minimum criteria which must be required by State or Federal programs, the Federal Lands Program, and the interim permit programs regulat-

ing surface mining and reclamation operations for coal.

In this subsection and elsewhere in the bill, the Committee has used the term "practicable" to modify certain requirements. It is the intent of the Committee that this term not be considered solely in the context of economic feasibility. Profitability does not determine practicability. Although economics is a consideration in determining practicability, at least equal concerns here are those of technical feasibility and envi-

ronmental protection.

213(b) (1). The basic criterion for reclamation is to require all surface areas to be returned to a condition at least fully capable of supporting the uses which they were capable of supporting prior to any mining. In other words, the original utility of the site for a variety of purposes is to be maintained or enhanced. There is provision for return of the surface to a condition capable of supporting alternative uses suitable to the locality. This can be done where approved by the regulatory authority pursuant to the permit application approval process.

Section 213(b)(2). This provides that reclamation will include the backfilling, compacting (where necessary) and regrading of all disturbed areas, to restore the land to approximate original contour, and eliminate all highwalls, spoil piles, and depressions, except where there is insufficient overburden produced throughout the mining operation to do so. This provision is crucial to achieving the goal of S. 425, namely, to insure restoration of surface mined land to a condition

useful for a range of postmining land uses.

In both area and contour mining, the retention of highwalls results in the isolation of land—usually land above the mining operation and not otherwise affected by mining. Such isolated land, surrounded by a highwall of 30 to 200 feet, is preempted from any future land use, and is inaccessible to wildlife as well as to man. In heavily surface mined areas, such isolation has caused severe problems not only by precluding use of the land, but also by denying access in case of fire. There have been instances in which forest fires have burned unchecked because the forest was surrounded by highwalls and could not be reached by firefighters.

Recognizing these problems, States which have experienced heavy surface mining have taken steps to prevent the isolation of land by mining operations. Ohio, Pennsylvania, and West Virginia have legislatively and administratively limited the retention of highwalls. Ohio and Pennsylvania usually require complete backfilling of all highwalls. West Virginia limits the permissible height of highwalls left after mining. However, restricting the height of highwalls, while it does significantly reduce the adverse esthetic impacts of surface mining, does not deal adequately with the problem of isolation. The Committee therefore feels strongly that backfilling to original contour as required in this bill is essential to good reclamation.

This practice is not new to the mining industry. In recent years, the industry trade journals have reported mining operations in West Virginia, Pennsylvania, and Tennessee that have completely eliminated the highwall, using a number of different mining and reclamation techniques. Since the passage of the 1971 West Virginia surface mining law, a number of mining companies in that State have voluntarily adopted the policy of placing no spoil on outslopes, and totally eliminating highwalls. Although costs vary according to mining technique, operators who do restore to original contour report that overall costs are not much different from those incurred for lower levels of restoration. In cases where mining techniques were altered to minimize the handling of overburden, total mining costs have been reported to decline.

The Committee believes that this requirement will significantly increase the range of possible post mining land uses for surface mined areas. It will eliminate the long useless ribbons of benches in mountainous areas, which may be as wide as 200 feet and run for miles along mountainsides. In addition, it will not preclude such current practices as creation of a reservoir for recreational purposes, or the creation of flat land by "mountain-top" mining. Under the definition of "backfilling to approximate original contour," the regulatory agency has the discretionary authority to permit retention of water for creation of a reservoir or recreation area. "Mountain-top" mining is surface mining on steep slopes in which the entire top of a mountain is removed in a process similar to area mining. This can result in the creation of flat land, which can be used, for example, for airports. Housing developments or industrial parks can also be built on such land if the necessary services (electricity, water, gas) can be provided to these more remote areas. Since this mining method does not leave highwalls, no backfilling is needed. Further, in such instances there is usually sufficient overburden to restore the original contour of the mountain top, if the planned postmining use of the land does not require flat land.

It has been suggested that in adopting this provision, the Committee is applying nationwide a standard used by the State of Pennsylvania and which, for reasons of geology and terrain, is not applicable beyond that State. There are a number of errors in this assumption. First, while inclusion of this provision in this bill was supported by the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Resources and by both Senator Schweiker and Senator Scott of Pennsylvania, the language adopted is not identical to the Pennsylvania law. Second, although there are some variations in the geology of different coal seams and fields, there are also certain geological constants: sandstone, slate, and shale are found wherever there is coal. This same basic geology of sandstone and slate overburden is common not only to Pennsylvania and West Virginia, but also in the West.

Third, the degree of slope on which a mine is located is immaterial to the feasibility of backfilling to original contour. Testimony to this effect was presented this summer to the West Virginia Legislature. In West Virginia, complete backfilling is required now on slopes up to 30 degrees. As reported in the trade journals of that State at least two large West Virginia mining companies have adopted a policy of restoring to approximate original contour regardless of slope. Surface mine operators in Pennsylvania have adopted similar policies to meet that State's requirement that all highwalls be backfilled to approximate original contour.

Finally, and most important, implicit in these arguments is the assumption that the requirements of "regrading to approximate original contour" is a requirement to use a particular mining technique widely used in Pennsylvania called the modified block-out. This is not the case. The Committee is prescribing performance standards to achieve a certain degree of reclamation—the Committee has no intention of dictating how these standards are achieved. In fact, surface mines in West Virginia and Tennessee are reclaiming to approximate original contour, backfilling all highwalls, not using the modified block cut, but retrieving overburden from the spoil pile on the downslope. Obviously, this technique requires more handling of the spoil, and may be more costly than the block-cut technique, but it is being done.

The Committee does not intend to place undue hardship on surface mine operators by this requirement. For this reason they have included a provision that where overburden is insufficient, even allowing for volumetric expansion, backfilling to approximate original contour will not be required. Expansion of overburden varies somewhat with mining technique and overburden characteristics: in most operations a "swell factor" of 30 to 50 percent can be expected. This means that all mines with a stripping ratio of 3:1 or higher (which covers most mines) will likely be able to backfill to original contour as required by this section. In those instances where overburden is not sufficient for complete restoration of approximate original contour, the highwall must be backfilled and reduced to a stable angle of repose and otherwise reclaimed to an environmentally sound condition. Highwall reduction and access to the land above the highwall in these instances could be greatly facilitated by including in the mining and reclamation plan, plans for angle blasting of the last cut, to achieve a sloping rather than vertical highwall. Such possibilities only serve to emphasize the need for integrated preplanning for all mining and reclamation activities to minimize the environmental impacts of surface mining operations.

213(b)(3). All areas affected by the mining and reclamation operations shall be stabilized by means of compaction where advisable and by means of vegetation which will control erosion both immediately after the reclamation is completed and permanently in the long term. A stable and self-regenerating vegetative cover is to be established where cover existed prior to mining. Whenever possible native vegetation is to be employed.

There are situations (such as heavy clay soils) in which compaction of surface soils may be inadvisable or detrimental to the success of revegetation and should not be required. In some situations non-native species of vegetation may be required to achieve successful revegetation

or they may be preferable to native species for environmentally productive or esthetic reasons, and should be permitted. There may be a need for establishment of vegetation where none existed prior to mining to control erosion.

213(b)(4). The topsoil to be removed from the mined area is required to be segregated and preserved so that it will be available to be used for reclamation purposes. The topsoil need not be stored and replaced on the same area from which it was removed if it is replaced on the top layer of another part of the mined area as part of an ongoing reclamation process.

Other methods of soil conservation are permitted if the regulatory authority determines that another method of soil conservation would

be at least equally effective for revegetation.

213(b) (5). Offsite areas must be protected from damages caused by slides which might occur during mining and reclamation operations. Furthermore, all waste accumulations and damages must be contained within the permit area. This provision not only serves to protect landowners not associated with the mining, it also insures that the permit will encompass an area which covers the entire mining activity, including the storage or disposal of spoil and waste. Therefore, the entire activity will be subject to all of the terms of the permit. The Committee intends that permits be limited to the minimum area necessary to accommodate the operation.

Section 213(b) (6). This section provides that, when mining on steep slopes, no soil, spoil, debris, or other waste material be placed on the natural downslope below the bench or mining cut, except that the spoil from the initial cut may be placed in a limited and specified area of the downslope if the permittee can demonstrate that it will not slide, and that the other environmental requirements of the bill can still be met. This is a crucial provision to assuring that the environmental impacts of mining are minimized, and confined to the permit area. Most of the damage that occurs as a result of surface mining on steeper slopes results from placing spoil on the downslope: landslides, erosion, sedimentation, flooding, and so forth. In areas with both steep slopes and significant rainfall, these problems are further aggravated. The least environmental damage usually results when the deposition of overburden on otherwise undisturbed outslopes is minimized.

Recognizing the importance of spoil management to environmental protection, most Appalachian States do restrict spoil placement on the downslope and prohibit fill benches on the steepest slopes (over 30 degress in West Virginia; over 33 degrees in Maryland; and over 28 degrees in both Kentucky and Tennessee). West Virginia has recently adopted administrative regulations that require total spoil management.

Under the requirements of S. 425, the only spoil that may be placed on the downslope of the mining operation is that from the initial cut. In adopting this provision, it was the clear understanding of the Committee that this initial cut consisted only of that original excavation made to gain first access to and first expose the coal. In most instances this initial cut should be less than 100 feet along the contour of the slope: enough room simply to install the first set of equipment and remove the first cut of coal. The Committee does not intend or

expect that "initial cut" could be construed to mean the entire first contour cut into a seam.

The purpose of the Committee in adopting this measure was to assure that spoil would only be deposited on already mined and disturbed areas, and not on otherwise undisturbed land. The exception allowed for spoil placement from the initial cut in a specified spoil disposal area is a recognition of the fact that at the outset of a new mining operation, there is no undisturbed land except for the access road, which would not likely be suitable for spoil disposal.

The downslope site for disposition of the spoil from the initial cut, is to be a limited and specified area: the entire downslope or immediate downslope cannot be considered suitable disposal areas for this spoil. The Committee expects that soil disposal at a specified site will be done in such a manner as to prevent slides and erosion, includ-

ing compaction and vegetation if necessary.

It must be understood a mine operator need not necessarily use the downslope for spoil disposition if, for example, the permit area includes flat land which may be used, if approved by the regulatory authority, as a spoil pit for the spoil from the initial cut. In fact, the burden of proof rests with an operator to demonstrate why he should be allowed to dispose of any spoil on the downslope. Particularly in areas where slides on steep slope mining operations have been common occurrences, the operator must demonstrate what different practices he will use to prevent such slides and erosion in the new operation.

Wherever this spoil is placed, it must be in such a manner that, should it begin to slide or erode heavily, the spoil material can be re-

moved by the mine operator, and replaced elsewhere.

213(b) (7). The quality of surface and groundwaters in the area is to be protected and the quantity of such waters is to be considered both during and after the term of the mining and reclamation opera-

tions. Specifically:

(A). Acid mine drainage must be prevented from entering surface and groundwater sources by preventing the contact of water with acid forming materials, retaining acid waters, or treating acid waters to acceptable standards of acidity and iron content before releasing them to water courses. Whichever means are adopted, the reclamation plan must provide for continuation of the protection after the completion of reclamation for so long as may be required.

(B). During the course of mining and reclamation activities

at the site, regulations shall insure that effective practices are observed which will minimize to the extent practicable the adverse effects of water runoff from the disturbed area both during and after mining. It should be noted that this provision recognized the practical impossibility of preventing all silt runoff during earth moving operations. Reclamation standards require, however, that remaining reclaimed surfaces be graded and otherwise protected to prevent further erosion.

(C). Bore holes, shafts, and wells are to be appropriately treated to prevent acid mine waters from draining out of them or into

groundwater bodies by means of them.

(D). Surface waters may not be removed, interrupted, or destroyed during mining and reclamation. Surface waters may be relocated if consistent with the reclamation plan.

(E). The regulatory authority may prescribe other practices or

methods to protect water quality and quantity.

Section 213(b)(8). The purpose of this paragraph is to regulate the surface operations incident to underground coal mining so as to eliminate the serious adverse impacts they have on both the human and natural environment, including subsidence, air pollution and land disturbance from mine fires, and unsightly and unsafe disposal of mine

and processing plant wastes.

This provision requires that mine shafts, tunnels, and entryways be properly sealed, and that exploratory holes be filled. It also requires that all mine and processing waste and tailings be disposed of by stowing or backfilling in the mine excavation to the maximum extent practicable. Where, for some reason, such disposal by back-filling mine voids is not possible, wastes are to be disposed of in a stable and environmentally sound manner, compatible with surrounding terrain, and without polluting surface or ground waters. This section further provides that where processing wastes are used as water impoundments, these impoundments must be located such that a failure would not endanger public health and safety, and be stably constructed in accordance with the standards for construction of impoundment structures issued under Public Law 566.

213(b)(9). The disposal of debris from mining and reclamation operations must be done in a manner which will prevent contamination

of surface or ground waters.

213(b) (10). Explosives are to be used in conformance with existing State and Federal law and regulations of the regulatory authority.

213(b)(11). Reclamation efforts are to proceed as contemporaneously as practicable with the mining both to avoid the situation where large unreclaimed areas would be permitted to exist for the duration of adjacent mining operations and to provide experience with the results of reclamation procedures and opportunity for improvements as the work progresses.

213(b) (12). Such other regulations may be promulgated as are found to be necessary to achieve the objectives of the bill, particularly to insure that where surface disturbance is sustained, the maximum practicable recovery of the mineral resource is achieved, with minimal

environmental damage.

SECTION 214. INSPECTIONS

This section establishes the minimum information requirements which a permitee must fulfill—either through reporting, monitoring, or affording rights of entry to the regulatory authority's inspectors—

once a permit is granted.

Subsection (a) directs the Secretary of the Interior to make whatever inspections are necessary to evaluate the administration of State programs or to develop and enforce any Federal program. The section provides that authorized representatives of the Secretary are to have a reasonable right of entry to permitee's operations. "Reasonable" is to be interpreted so as not to overly burden the permittee but also provide the inspectors with the best possible opportunities to evaluate the operations in relation to the requirements of the Act.

To insure that the requirements of this Act are met, subsection (b) directs the regulatory authority to require the permittee to keep records, make reports, install and maintain monitoring equipment, and provide other necessary information which will assist the authority to carry out the purposes of the Act. For example, the permittee might be required to report periodically on acres mined; acres reclaimed; deviations, if any, from the reclamation plan, in particular, its time schedule.

This subsection also establishes the right of entry to and inspections of the surface mining and reclamation operations, premises where records are kept, and the records themselves by the regulatory authority.

Subsection (c) provides that the inspections are to occur on a random basis averaging not less than one per month. They must be conducted without prior notice, and need not be during normal working hours. However the operator must be given an opportunity to accompany the inspector. Inspection reports must be filed upon their conclusion. Copies of these reports must be available for public review and to the permittee. The "irregular basis" and "without prior notice" requirements are to insure that the permittee is not capable of making merely "cosmetic" or momentary changes in an operation which otherwise would not meet the requirements of the Act because he has been forewarned of an inspection. Inspections are the heart of any regulatory program and when they become either too "friendly" or too "infrequent" the regulatory program inevitably suffers a loss of effectiveness.

Subsection (d) requires that permits and permittees' reclamation plans must be filed on public record with appropriate officials in each county or other appropriate subdivision of the State in which the operations covered by the permits will be conducted. The purpose of this provision is to insure readily accessible information to concerned citizens and affected local governments so that their participation, as provided for throughout the Act, will be meaningful and effective.

Subsection (e) requires each permittee to conspicuously maintain at the entrances to his operations a clearly visible sign showing his name, business address, and phone number, and his permit number. The purpose of this provision is identical to the one directly above.

SECTION 215. FEDERAL ENFORCEMENT

This section outlines the Federal sanctions under a Federal program

or for violations of the Act under a State program.

Subsection (a) provides that if the Secretary has reason to believe that a violation exists in a State with an approved State program he notifies the State regulatory authority. The regulatory authority is directed to take corrective action pursuant to the State program. This carries out the Act's basic concept that the States should be responsible for regulation.

Subsection (b) provides that when a violation which creates a danger to life, health, or property or would cause significant harm to the environment is discovered by Federal inspection the Secretary or his inspectors may issue an immediate cease and desist order. Where such an order is issued a hearing must be held within 3 days if requested by

the alleged violator.

Subsection (c) provides for Federal enforcement when the Secretary determines violations of an approved State program are so widespread as to indicate a failure of the State to enforce its program. Time limits are provided for the State to take corrective action. A public hearing is also required before Federal enforcement would occur. Under Federal enforcement, the Secretary must enforce all permit conditions required under the Act either by issuing an order for compliance or bringing a civil or criminal action. Of course, if the State's unwillingness to enforce its program continues for any length of time, the Secretary is expected to promulgate and implement a Federal program pursuant to Section 205 rather than to enforce those aspects of the State program and those requirements of permits issued under the State program which are required by the Act. In such cases the State would no longer be eligible to receive financial aid under sections 503, 504, and 505 of this Act.

Subsection (d) describes in greater detail the contents of any order

issued by the Secretary.

Subsection (e) provides for the institution of civil action for restraining orders, injunctions, or other appropriate remedies, by the Attorney General, at the request of the Secretary of the Interior. All civil actions are to be in the United States district court for the district

in which the affected operation is located.

Subsection (f) provides for a civil penalty to be assessed against any person who after notice of failure to comply and the expiration of any period allowed for corrective action, continues to fail to comply with the Act, any Federal program, or any permit condition reguired by the Act. The penalty must not exceed \$1,000 per day. It also provides for a criminal penalty for anyone who knowingly or willfully violates the requirements of the Act, any Federal program, or any permit condition required by the Act, or falsifies or tampers with any records required to be maintained by the Act. The criminal penalty is to consist of a fine of not more than \$10,000 or imprisonment for not more than 6 months or both.

Subsection (g) provides for application of this section's penalties

when the person in violation is a corporation or other entity.

Subsection (h) states that this section's remedies may be exercised concurrently and are in addition to any other remedies afforded by the Act or any other law or regulation.

SECTION 216, DESIGNATION OF LAND AREAS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE MINING

This section sets out the guidelines for one of the required elements of a State or Federal program—the establishment of a process for designation of areas as unsuitable for surface mining. The process is designed to develop the technical data needed to enable the regulatory authority to make objective decisions as to which, if any, land areas of a State are unsuitable for all or certain types of surface mining.

The Committee wishes to emphasize that this section does not require the designation of areas as unsuitable for surface mining. The States could determine that no lands should be so designated. On the other hand, a State could prohibit all or some forms of surface mining entirely. This section recognizes that surface mining is a very significant use of land which even with stringent reclamation requirements has a severe impact on the resources involved. The fact that a strippable coal deposit exists in a particular tract of land does not mean that strip mining is the most appropriate use of that tract. For this reason, the bill calls for close coordination of the designation process with existing land use plans and programs. ("Existing" refers to those plans and programs in existence at the time the review takes place.) It is the intent of the bill that the review will be a continuing process, and requires that the initial review be completed within 3 years after implementation of the State or Federal program. The designation process also serves to let surface mine operators know in advance whether and under what conditions lands may be surface mined. This gives them a better basis for planning future operations.

Subsection (a) (2) sets out three types of areas that may be designated unsuitable for all or certain types of surface mining. These are (1) areas where reclamation is not physically or economically possible, (2) areas where surface mining would be incompatible with existing land use plans and programs, and (3) areas of critical environmental concern. The definition of "areas of critical environmental concern" is identical to the definition in S. 268—The Land Use Policy and Planning Assistance Act of 1973—as passed by the Senate earlier this year. In order to preclude duplication of effort or inconsistent designations, the bill specifies that if a State land use plan which designates such areas is in effect, the designations in that plan are conclusive for purposes of this Act.

Enactment of the bill would place all coal owners and surface mine operators on notice that there is a possibility that lands may be desig-

nated as unsuitable for surface mining.

However, to preclude shutdowns of existing operations, this subsection does provide that no area may be designated unsuitable for surface mining (1) on which surface mining is being conducted on the date of enactment of the Act; (2) where a permit has been issued pursuant to this Act, and (3) or where firm plans and financial commitments for such operations are in existence prior to the enactment of the Act. Mere ownership of the coal resource with the intent to surface mine would not qualify for the exemption from designation as unsuitable for surface mining based on "firm plans for and substantial legal and financial commitments". In order to preclude designation, it must be established that specific plans and specific contracts for sale of coal and purchase of necessary equipment for an actual mining operation were in existence on the date of enactment.

Subsection (a) (2) also provides that the designation process must include an appeals process concerning the designation of areas as unsuitable for mining or the termination of such designations. This provision, together with subsection (a) (4) which provides a right to petition the regulatory authority to have an area designated as unsuitable or to terminate such a designation, assures that both surface mine operators and those wishing to preclude surface mining have an opportunity to present their case for or against designation.

Subsection (b) directs the Secretary of the Interior to review the Federal lands to determine whether areas of Federal lands are un-

suitable for all or any types of surface mining. The Secretary's review is subject to the same criteria and procedures as the review for non-Federal lands. If the Secretary determines that an area of Federal lands is unsuitable for all forms of surface mining, he is directed to withdraw it from coal leasing. If the Secretary determines that certain types of surface mining should not be allowed, he is authorized to condition any mineral leases to so limit surface mining.

Subsection (c) sets out two categories of surface mining operations which will not be permitted unless they were in existence on the date of enactment of the Act. The first category includes all operations on lands within the boundaries of units of national systems established to preserve special values of the lands involved such as the National Park, Wildlife Refuge, and Wilderness Preservation Systems.

The second category includes operations which will adversely affect any publicly owned parks unless approved jointly by the regulatory authority and the agency with jurisdiction over the park. This includes operations involving coal underlying park lands and operations outside the park boundaries which would adversely affect the park. The Committee expects the regulatory authority and the park agency to maintain close coordination to assure proper protection of all parks.

SECTION 217. FEDERAL LANDS

This section requires the Federal Government to "put its own house in order" at the same time that, through this legislation, it requires the

States to establish strong regulatory programs.

Subsection (a) requires the Secretary of the Interior to promulgate and implement a Federal Lands Program applicable to all surface mining and reclamation operations taking place pursuant to any Federal law on any Federal lands no later than six months after enactment of the Act. The Federal Lands Program must, at a minimum, incorporate all of the Act's requirements and where the Federal lands are in a State with an approved State program, the requirements imposed by the State. Thus, while the Secretary could, for example, impose more stringent reclamation requirements on Federal lands than were required on non-Federal lands in the State, he could not permit less stringent requirements.

stringent requirements.

Subsection (b) provides that the requirements of the Act and the Federal Lands Program are to be incorporated in all Federal mineral leases, permits, or contracts issued by the Secretary involving surface

mining and reclamation operations.

Subsection (c) provides for joint Federal-State Programs covering permits on land areas which contain State and Federal lands either interspersed or checker-boarded within the scope of a single permit or more than one permit for essentially a single operation and which, for conservation and administrative purposes, should be regulated as single management units. The purpose of this provision is to alleviate a significant problem in Western mining. Where Federal and non-Federal lands are checker-boarded, mining operators could find themselves working under two separate permits, two separate bonds, and two entirely different regulatory systems—Federal and State. The joint Federal-State programs should allow the operator to conduct his operation under a single regulatory system. In order to implement

joint Federal-State programs the Secretary is authorized to enter into agreements with the States, to delegate authority to the States, or to

accept a delegation of authority from the States.

Subsection (d) makes it clear that except as provided in subsection (c) the Secretary is not to delegate to the States his primary authority or jurisdiction to regulate or administer mining or other activities on the Federal lands.

Subsection (e) provides that on Federal lands no new surface mines will be started or existing operations expanded by more than 15 percent of the area affected in the previous 12 months until the Secretary has implemented the Federal Lands program or unless the operator ob-

tains an interim permit.

The Committee feels very strongly that stringent reclamation requirements must be developed before any new or expanded coal surface mining operations are permitted on Federal lands. The Committee expects the Secretary to meet the 6-month deadline for implementation of this program established by subsection (a). However, it is possible that unforeseen delays may prevent timely compliance. In order to avoid locking up Federal coal deposits because of these delays, this section authorizes the Secretary to issue interim permits for new and expanded operations for 22 months after enactment of the Act. As is the case with interim permits on non-Federal lands issued under section 206, Federal interim permits must comply with all requirements of the Act, particularly Sections 208, 210 and 213.

SECTION 218. PUBLIC AGENCIES, PUBLIC UTILITIES, AND PUBLIC CORPORATIONS

This section applies the requirements contained in the Act to public corporations, public agencies, and publicly owned utilities, including, for example, the Tennessee Valley Authority, which engage in surface mining.

SECTION 219. CITIZEN SUITS

Section 219 provides for citizen participation in the enforcement of the Act by civil law suits (1) against any person who is alleged to be in violation of the Act or an order of the regulatory authority or (2) against the regulatory authority for alleged failure to perform a nondiscretionary act or duty.

Suits may be brought by "any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected". The Committee intends that this includes persons who meet the requirements for standing to sue set out by the Supreme Court in Sierra Club v. Morton (405 U.S. 727 (1972)).

Subsection (b) requires that no action for violation of the law may be started for 60 days after notice of the alleged violation to the alleged violator, the Secretary, and the State in which the violation occurs. If the regulatory authority begins a civil action against the violation, no court action could take place on the citizen's suit. The 60-day waiting period does not apply when the violation or failure to act constitutes an imminent threat to the plaintiff's health or safety or would immediately affect a legal interest of the plaintiff.

Under subsection (c) actions for violations of the law or regulation may be brought only in the judicial district in which the surface min-

ing operation involved is located.

Subsection (d) provides that the court may award costs of litigation to any party and require a bond where a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction is sought.

This section is not intended to override the specific provisions of Sections 209 and 211 of the bill which provide more precise requirements for citizen participation in the permit application and per-

formance bond release proceedings.

The Committee believes that citizen suits can play an important role in assuring that regulatory agencies and surface operators comply with the requirements of the Act and approved regulatory programs. The possibility of a citizen suit should help to keep program administrators "on their toes."

TITLE III—ABANDONED AND UNRECLAIMED MINED AREAS

While Title II deals with existing or future surface mining operations, Title III is addressed to the correction of the worst effects of previous surface mining operations. The increasing national awareness of the need for surface mining regulation has been based upon observation of the past adverse impacts of surface mining. The past surface mining which presents the greatest reclamation problem and to which this Title is directed is that associated with lands which were never adequately reclaimed and are now abandoned.

SECTION 301. ABANDONED MINE RECLAMATION FUND

There is created in Section 301 an "Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund." The Fund will have an initial appropriations authorization of \$100 million. In addition, the Fund will be augmented by moneys derived from the sale, lease, or rental of land reclaimed pursuant to Section 302, from any user charge imposed on or for land reclaimed pursuant to Section 302, and miscellaneous receipts accruing to the Secretary through the administration of the Act which are not otherwise encumbered.

SECTION 302. ACQUISITION AND RECLAMATION OF ABANDONED AND UNRECLAIMED MINED AREAS

This Section authorizes the Secretary to use the moneys of the Fund to reclaim abandoned land which has been subjected to the worst ravages of past surface mining activities or has suffered subsidence from past underground mining activities.

Subsection (a) establishes that acquisition of any interest in land or mineral rights for reclamation purposes is a public use or purpose, even if the Secretary plans to hold the reclaimed land as open space or for

recreation or to resell it.

Subsection (b) authorizes the Secretary to acquire abandoned and unreclaimed land or any interest therein by purchase, donation, or otherwise. Prior to making any acquisition, the Secretary is required to make a thorough study of the available tracts. Based upon the study, the Secretary is to select lands for purchase according to the priorities of subsection (i).

Subsections (c) and (d) establish the procedures for condemnation of abandoned and unreclaimed land for land for which title cannot be established. Immediate taking procedures are authorized when the Secretary determines that time is of the essence because of the likelihood of continuing or increasingly harmful effects upon the environment which would substantially increase the cost or magnitude of reclamation, or of the environment of the environment which would be a to be substantially increasingly serious threats to life,

safety, or health or to property.

Subsection (e) encourages the States to acquire abandoned and unreclaimed mined lands and donate those lands to the Secretary to be reclaimed pursuant to this title. The encouragement is in the form of grants to the States not to exceed 90 percent of the cost of acquisition of the lands to be acquired. The States are also to have a preference right to purchase the lands they have donated to the Secretary, once they are reclaimed, at fair market value (less the State's portion of the original acquisition price). The States are invited to participate in Title III for the same reasons they are given the primary regulatory role in the Act. They are more sensitive to local conditions and local needs. Thus, presumably their selection of lands to be acquired would more closely approximate the wishes and priorities of local citizens and governments.

Subsection (f) requires the Secretary, with the assistance of other Federal departments and agencies, to prepare specifications for the reclamation of lands acquired under this title. And subsection (g) requires the Secretary to follow those specifications in reclaiming land

with moneys from the fund.

Subsection (h) places administrative responsibility for lands reclaimed under this title with the Secretary until he disposes of the lands.

Subsection (i) establishes the priorities for purchasing and reclaiming abandoned and unreclaimed lands under this title. Priority is to be given (1) to lands which the Secretary believes to have the greatest adverse effect on the environment or constitute the greatest threat to life, health, or safety, and (2) to lands which he finds suitable for public recreational use. The latter lands, once reclaimed, must be put to use for public recreational purposes.

Where reclaimed land is found by the Secretary to be suitable for industrial, commercial, residential or private recreational development, the Secretary is authorized to sell such land pursuant to the

provisions of the Surplus Property Act of 1949, as amended.

Subsection (k) requires the Secretary to hold hearings in the areas in which lands acquired to be reclaimed are located. The hearings are to be held at a time which will give local citizens and governments the maximum opportunity to participate in the decision concerning the use of the lands once reclaimed. Subsection (k) is of particular importance in that the Secretary should take great pains to insure that reclamation is accomplished in a manner that is compatible with the wishes of local citizens and governments.

SECTION 303. FILLING VOIDS AND SEALING TUNNELS

This Section authorizes the Secretary to use the Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund to fill voids in abandoned mines and to seal abandoned tunnels, shafts and entry ways, which create a hazard to public health and safety. The Secretary would not act unless requested by the Governor of the State involved.

TITLE IV-STUDIES OF SURFACE MINING AND RECLAMATION

The Committee added this title to S. 425 as a result of information developed during the hearings and revisions made during Committee mark-up of the bill. It provides for three separate studies, each designed to meet a specific need identified by the Committee.

SECTION 401. STUDY OF RECLAMATION STANDARDS

Section 401 is designed to meet short-term needs for information. It directs the Chairman of the Council on Environmental Quality to contract with the National Academy of Sciences—National Academy of Engineering, and such other government agencies or private groups as may be needed, for an indepth study of current and developing technology for surface mining of minerals other than coal and of open pit mining. This study is to be designed to assist in the establishment of effective and reasonable regulation of surface and open pit mining and reclamation.

The Committee's decision to limit the scope of S. 425 to coal surface mining was based on several factors. One of these was that it did not have sufficient information about the nature and characteristics of surface mining for other minerals and about open pit mining.

Surface mining of coal is the most immediate and pressing problem. It accounts for 43 percent of the total land disturbed in the United States by all forms of surface mining. However, the Committee recognizes the need to regulate surface mining for other minerals, particularly sand and gravel which accounts for 25 percent of the total surface area disturbed by surface mining. Thus, subsection 401(b) requires that the study together with specific legislative recommendations shall be submitted to the Congress and the President within 18 months after enactment of the Act. The study and recommendations with respect to surface and open pit mining for sand and gravel is to be submitted within one year.

SECTION 402. A STUDY OF MEANS TO MAXIMIZE RESOURCE RECOVERY AND MINIMIZE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS IN MINING FOR COAL AND OTHER MINERALS

Section 402 is designed to meet longer-range information needs to help maximize resource recovery in and minimize adverse environmental impacts from all mining. It authorizes the Chairman of the Council on Environmental Quality to contract with the National Academy of Sciences-National Academy of Engineering, and such others as may be needed, for an in-depth study of technologies for increasing the availability of coal and other minerals through improved efficiencies in mining, processing, consumption, and recycling in order to reduce environmental and land use impacts.

Subsections (b) through (f) provide that the study will cover all forms of mining for all minerals. It will consider a broad range of alternative methods of mining and reclamation and sources of minerals, including consumption and recycling, and recommend Federal-State policies and industry actions best designed to achieve the pur-

pose of the Act.

75

The study directed by Section 402 should include the examination of the full range of possible surface and subsurface environmental impacts from all forms of mining and mining practices.

The study and recommendations are to be submitted to Congress

and the President within 3 years after enactment of the Act.

Subsection (g) authorizes the appropriation of \$3,000,000 for this study.

SECTION 403. INDIAN LANDS STUDY

Section 403 directs the Secretary of the Interior to study the question of regulation of surface mining on Indian lands which will achieve the purposes of the Act and recognize the special jurisdictional status of Indian lands. The Secretary is directed to consult with Indian tribes and to report to Congress as soon as possible but no later

than January 1, 1975.

As introduced, S. 425 directed the Secretary of the Interior to regulate surface mining on Indian lands, as well as Federal lands. During its deliberations on the bill, the Committee initially decided to give the Indian tribes the opportunity to develop their own regulatory programs in much the same manner as the States. However, since no Indian testimony was taken during the Committee's hearings, nor did the Department of the Interior address itself to the effect of regulation or how Indian tribal governments could participate, the Committee decided to exempt temporarily all Indian lands from the Act.

The Committee intends to have hearings on this subject as soon as the study report called for by this section has been received. These hearings will give Indians an opportunity to express their views and give their recommendations directly to Congress. In the interim, the Committee expects the Secretary of the Interior to protect the surface values of all Indian lands from the potential ravages of surface mining through his authority to approve all mineral leases and permits. The Committee expects that the Secretary will include terms and conditions in such leases which will meet the criteria set out in this Act.

TITLE V-ADMINISTRATIVE AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SECTION 501. DEFINITIONS

This section contains 24 definitions. Of importance to this analysis are "surface mining operations," "Indian lands," "lands within any State," "other minerals," "backfilling to approximate contour," and

"open pit mining."

"Surface mining operations" is so defined to include not only traditionally regarded coal surface mining activities but also surface operations incident to underground coal mining, and exploration activities. The effect of this definition is that only coal surface mining is subject to regulation under the Act. Activities included are excavation to obtain coal by contour, strip, augur, dredging, in situ distillation or retorting and leaching or any other form of mining except open pit mining; and the cleaning, or other processing or preparation and loading for interstate commerce of coal at or near the mine site. Activities not included (other than those excluded by Section 203) are

the extraction of coal in a liquid or gaseous state by means of wells or pipes unless the process includes in situ distillation or retorting and the extraction of coal incidental to extraction of other minerals where coal does not exceed 16% percent of the tonnage removed. The last exception is designed to exclude operations, such as limestone quarries, where coal is found but is not the mineral being sought. "Surface mining operations" also includes all areas (1) upon which occur surface mining activities and surface activities incident to underground mining, and (2) coal exploration activities which disturb the natural land surface. It also includes all roads, facilities structures, property, and materials on the surface resulting from or incident to such activities, such as refuse banks, dumps, culm banks, impoundments and processing wastes.

"Indian lands" is defined to mean all lands within the exterior boundaries of Indian reservations, and all lands held in trust for or supervised by any Indian tribe. Coal surface mining on these lands

is not subject to regulation under the Act.

"Land within any State" is so defined and used throughout the Act so as to insure that the States, through their State programs, will not assert any additional authority over Federal lands or Indian lands, other than that authority delegated to them by the Secretary in developing joint Federal-State programs pursuant to subsection 217(c).

"Other minerals" is defined to include clay, stone, sand, gravel, metalliferous and nonmetalliferous ores, and any other solid material or substance of commercial value excavated in solid form from natural deposits on or in the earth, exclusive of coal and those minerals which

occur naturally in liquid or gaseous form.

The study required by Section 401 is designed to provide a basis for future legislation to regulate surface mining and reclamation for these minerals.

"Backfilling to approximate original contour" is defined so as to give a five degree leeway from the original average slope and so as to bar depressions capable of collecting water except where retention of water is determined by the regulatory authority to be required or

desirable for reclamation purposes.

"Open pit mining" is defined to be surface mining in which (1) the amount of material removed is large in proportion to the surface area disturbed; (2) mining continues in the same area proceeding downward with only that lateral expansion of the pit necessary to maintain slope stability or as necessary to accommodate the orderly expansion of the total mining operation; (3) the operations take place on the same relative limited site for an extended period of time; (4) there is no practicable method to reclaim the land in the manner required by this Act; and (5) there is no practicable alternative method of mining the mineral or ore involved.

All five of these factors have to be present in order to qualify an operation as an open pit mine. The Committee felt that all open pit mining operations should be treated equally regardless of the mineral being mined. The Committee adopted this very narrow definition in order to make it clear that only bona fide open pit mines would qualify for the exemption. The Committee feels that area surface mines involv-

ing thick coal seams such as those found in the western States are not exempt from regulation under this Act.

SECTION 502. ADVISORY COMMITTEES

This section establishes a National Advisory Committee for surface mining and reclamation operations. The Committee will have seven members appointed by the Secretary. The membership should be balanced among Federal, State, and local officials, consumers, and representatives of conservation or other public interest groups.

SECTION 503. GRANTS TO THE STATES

Subsection (a) contains the administrative provisions for the grant program to assist the States to develop, administer and enforce State programs for surface mining and reclamation. The grants are not to exceed 80 percent of the total costs incurred during the first year, 70 percent in the second and third years, and 60 percent each year thereafter.

Subsection (b) directs the Secretary to render training and technical assistance to the States. All Federal agencies are to make relevant data available to the States.

SECTION 504. RESEARCH AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECTS

This section authorizes to be appropriated \$5,000,000 annually to the Secretary for purposes of conducting and promoting, through contracts or grants, the coordination and acceleration of research, studies, surveys, experiments, and training in carrying out the purposes of the Act. In addition, the funds can be used to contract with or make grants to States and their subdivisions, other public organizations, and persons to carry out demonstration projects for reclaiming lands which have been disturbed by surface mining operations.

SECTION 505. GRANT AUTHORITY FOR OTHER MINERALS

In recognition of the desirability of regulating surface mining operations for other minerals, this Section authorizes the Secretary to grant funds and provide assistance to States which have or are developing programs for such regulation. Grants or assistance could be provided when the Secretary determined that such State programs effectively control the adverse environmental and social effects of such mining. This provision does not contemplate that the Secretary would force the States to regulate surface mining for other minerals prior to the further Congressional action contemplated by this Act.

SECTION 506. ANNUAL REPORT

The Secretary must report annually to the President and Congress concerning activities conducted by him, the Federal Government, and the States pursuant to the Act, and any recommendations he may have for additional administrative or legislative action.

SECTION 507. AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS

Appropriations for administration of the Act and for Section 503 grants to States is \$10,000,000 for the first fiscal year after enactment of the Act; \$20,000,000 for the next two succeeding fiscal years.

It is the Committee's intent that Federal funding for operation of State programs will be continued indefinitely. However, since the Act establishes a new program, the Committee believes that a thorough review of the program's effectiveness should be conducted after it has been in operation for 2 or 3 years. This review will be triggered by the need to extend the authorization provision.

SECTION 508. TEMPORARY SUSPENSION

This section authorizes the President to suspend once any of the provisions of the Act under emergency conditions. This includes the authority to suspend all the provisions of the Act. The temporary suspension would be for ninety days and could not be extended, and would only be made if suspension of the provisions of the Act would effectively remedy or alleviate emergency conditions. The emergency conditions are a national emergency, a critical national or regional electrical power shortage, or a critical national fuels or mineral

The President is to make the suspension based upon the findings and recommendations of the Secretary of the Interior, the Chairman of the Council on Environmental Quality, and the Chairman of the Federal Power Commission.

Any suspension must be followed by a report to the Congress within 5 days of the suspension order. Congress will then be in a position to take whatever remedial long-term action appears necessary.

SECTION 509. OTHER FEDERAL LAWS

This section contains the standard savings clauses concerning existing State or Federal mine health and safety, and air and water quality laws, and the mining responsibilities of the Secretary and heads of other Federal agencies for lands under their jurisdiction.

Subsection (d) states that approval of State programs, promulgation of Federal programs, and implementation of the Federal Lands Program are major Federal actions requiring the preparation of an environmental impact statement pursuant to the National Environmental Policy Act. The Committee believes that preparation of a series of at least partially redundant environmental statements would be unnecessary and could delay implementation of the Act. At the same time, the Committee wished to be sure that environmental impact statements are prepared at the critical points of the implementation process.

SECTION 510. STATE LAWS

This section contains the standard savings clauses protecting the States rights to have or develop laws and regulations providing more stringent or different controls of surface mining and reclamation operations.

SECTION 511. PROTECTION OF THE SURFACE OWNER

Where the surface owner is not the owner of the mineral estate Section 511 provides the following protection:

(1) The applicant for a surface mining permit must include in his application the written consent of the surface owner or owners to

surface mining; or

(2) The applicant must execute a bond or an undertaking to the United States or the State, whichever is applicable, to secure the payment to the surface owner or owners of any damages to the surface estate, crops, or tangible improvements of the surface owner or owners. This bond is in addition to the performance bond required by the Act.

The Committee understands that the damages for which the surface owner would be compensated would include the loss of the use of the surface from the time mining began until reclamation was completed.

This provision is of special importance in those States where broad form deeds, often signed before the technology of surface mining existed, have been interpreted to give the mineral rights owners complete rights to fully destroy the surface and thus deprive the surface owner of any use of his property. It is based on the rule which has been applied to Federally-owned mineral rights for many years.

SECTION 512. PREFERENCE FOR PERSONS ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY THE ACT

This section requires the Secretary to develop regulations which will accord a preference in the award of contracts for reclamation pursuant to Title III and demonstration projects pursuant to Section 404 to surface mining operators and individuals who have been adversely affected by the operation of the Act. The purpose of this section is to alleviate any social dislocations and costs which occur as a result of the application of the Act. In many sections of the country, surface mining operations are of critical importance to the economic and material well being of local communities. Thus any dampening effect the Act may have on such operations may work hardships on local economies and employment. This provision should mitigate those hardships and also insure that the skills and equipment developed and used in surface mining will not be ignored in or lost to the reclamation efforts.

SECTION 513, SEVERABILITY

This section contains a standard severability clause.

VII. TABULATION OF VOTES CAST IN COMMITTEE

Pursuant to Section 133(b) of the Legislative Reorganization Act of 1946, as amended, the following is a tabulation of votes of the

Committee during consideration of S. 425:

1. During the Committee's consideration of the Surface Mining Reclamation Act of 1973 many voice votes and formal roll call votes were taken on amendments to the bill. These votes were taken in open public session and, because they were previously announced by the Committee in accord with the provisions of Section 133(b), it is not necessary that they be tabulated in the Committee Report.

2. S. 425 was ordered favorably reported to the Senate on a roll call vote of 14 yeas and no nays. The vote was as follows:

Jackson—Yea	Fannin— Yea
Bible—Yea	Hansen—Yea
Church—Yea	Hatfield—Yea
Metcalf—Yea	Buckley-Yea
Johnston-Yea	McClure—Yea
Abourezk—Yea	Bartlett—Yea
Haskell—Yea	
Nelson—Yea	

VIII. COST ESTIMATES PURSUANT TO SECTION 252 OF THE LEGISLATIVE REORGANIZATION ACT OF 1970

In accordance with Section 252(a) of the Legislative Reorganization Act of 1970 (Public Law 91–150, 91st Congress) the Committee provides the following estimate of cost.

—For administration of the Act, \$10 million in the first year after enactment, and \$20 million for each of the next 2 succeeding years.

—For the studies designed to examine various resource recovery and reclamation techniques, \$3.5 million in the 3 years following enactment.

—For research and demonstration projects, including the award of contracts and grants to the States for such projects, \$5 million annually.

—For reclamation of abandoned and unreclaimed mined lands, \$100 million to establish the Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund.

IX. EXECUTIVE COMMUNICATIONS

U.S. Department of the Interior, Office of the Secretary, Washington, D.C., March 12, 1973.

Hon. Henry M. Jackson, Chairman, Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, U.S. Senate, Washington, D.C.

Dear Mr. Chairman: This is in response to your request for the views of this Department on S. 425, a bill to provide for the cooperation between the Secretary of the Interior and the States with respect to the regulation of surface mining operations, and the acquisition and reclamation of abandoned mines, and for other purposes.

We oppose the enactment of S. 425 and recommend in lieu thereof the enactment of S. 923, the Administration's proposal "To provide for the cooperation between the Federal Government and the States with respect to environmental regulations for mining operations, and for

other purposes".

The Administration and this Department actively support the objective of both S. 425 and S. 923 of preventing or substantially reducing the adverse environmental effects of mining operations. These effects have been well-documented, and it is essential that all ongoing and future mining activities be conducted in such a way so as to minimize their adverse environmental impacts.

There are many similarities between the two bills. Both would encourage States to establish a regulatory program which, if it met the statutory criteria and was approved by the Secretary of the Interior, would make the State eligible for Federal grants. Under both bills, if the State fails to develop a regulatory program meeting the standards of the Act, the Secretary of the Interior is directed to enforce a regulatory program within that State. Each bill contains provisions for advisory committees, Federal inspections, penalties, and federally sponsored research and training.

Although there are similarities between S. 425 and the Mined Area Protection Act of 1973 (S. 923), the following represents the major differences which constitute the basis for our recommendation that

S. 923 be enacted.

1. Scope

(a) Lands. S. 425 would regulate mining activities on all lands within a State including Federal and Indian lands. Federal and Indian lands are, however, excluded from the provisions of S. 923. These lands are covered by regulations promulgated by the Secretary of the Interior and provide for a high degree of environmental protection. In addition, the Administration's proposed Mineral Leasing Law of 1973 would direct the Secretary of the Interior to administer Federal lands under his jurisdiction in conformance with strict performance standards. In administering these lands, the Secretary cannot, under the provisions of that proposal, be less stringent than the State's regulatory program where the lands are located.

(b) Mining Operations. The Administration's bill covers underground mining as well as surface mines, while S. 425 covers only surface mining and surface operations incidental to an underground mine. The potential environmental hazards of underground mines are serious and, while the technology for dealing with them may not be as advanced as it is with respect to surface mines, it is important that immediate consideration be given to the development and application of improved technology to deal with the environmental problems associated with underground mines. Some of the major problems include underground seepage which pollutes our Nation's waters, mine fires and unintentional subsidence, and it is unclear as to whether S. 425 controls such occurrences.

S. 923 includes all activities associated with the exploration, development or extraction of minerals. S. 425, however, excludes certain activities associated with mineral exploration. The exemption of exploration sampling in which less than 240 tons are removed from one location could result in considerable surface damage or the cumulative effect of numerous sampling operations. In addition, the amount of overburden removed or where it is to be placed in order to obtain such a sample is not mentioned. The Administration's bill would clarify these ambiguities and possible environmental hazards by expressly including all exploration activities within the operative sections of the bill and excluding only prospecting, which is clearly defined in the legislation.

2. Reclamation Requirements

(a) Performance Standards. The Administration's bill provides that State regulations be developed in accordance with minimum Fed-

eral performance standards which will require that environmental considerations be built into the mining operation. It gives the Secretary the responsibility for continually updating performance standards to include the latest technical knowledge and advances in mining and reclamation. The bill sets forth the stringent qualifications which the Secretary must follow in adopting the minimum Federal standards for surface, open pit and underground mining. This approach is preferable to the provisions of S. 425, which direct the States to include minimum reclamation requirements outlined in the bill. These

requirements are less specific and less stringent.

(b) Reclamation Timing. It has been the experience of this Department that in order to have effective mined area reclamation it is necessary to conduct the reclamation activities concurrently with the total mining operation. Therefore, S. 923 requires that reclamation be made an integral part of the mining operation and spells out specific requirements as to how this must be done, which the Secretary will elaborate through performance standards. Concurrent reclamation decreases the temporary but potentially significant environmental impacts such as silation and acid mine drainage during the actual mining operation. S. 425 is less explicit as to this important question, merely providing that reclamation efforts be as contemporaneous as possible with the mining operation. This creates the possibility that timely reclamation would not take place, thereby increasing the possibility of interim environmental damages.

3. Funding

(a) Regulatory Programs. Both bills authorize appropriations for Federal grants to develop, administer, and enforce State programs. S. 425 proposes to authorize the Secretary to make annual grants of 80% in the first year, 70% in the second year and 60% for all subsequent years. We believe such a measure would lessen State's incentives to assume full regulatory responsibility for their programs. The Administration's proposal recognizes that such programs should not continue to be federally funded but should become self-sustaining. Consequently, grants under S. 923 to cover 80% of the costs of developing State regulations a year prior to Secretarial approval and 60%, 45%, 30%, and 15% for the next four years respectively, and then terminating after the fifth year is the better approach.

(b) Designation of Land Unsuitable for Mining. The Administration's bill requires that the State regulatory program include the identification of lands which are unsuitable for mining because they could not be adequately reclaimed under present technology. S. 425 does not make this identification a mandatory part of the program, however, it provides Federal funds to encourage States to implement such a

program.

(c) Open Ended Authorization. The Administration's proposal authorizes the appropriation of such sums as are necessary to carry out all provisions of the bill. This allows maximum flexibility to meet the needs as they develop and to assist the States in the implementation of effective programs. S. 425, however, authorizes specific maximum amounts in four categories: State programs, designation of unsuitable lands, research and slope limitation study.

4. Federal-State Relationship

Both bills recognize that the responsibility for developing and enforcing regulations should rest with the States. The time limitations in S. 425, however, are inadequate to allow the States to develop effective environmental programs. The 12-month time limit for submission of State programs after promulgation of Federal regulations is insufficient for some States to enact new legislation and establish the procedures necessary to ensure that such laws will be effectively administered. This is especially true for those States that do not have such laws in effect and for those States whose legislatures meet biennially.

The Administration's proposal provides a more realistic time allowance for voluntary State compliance. Each State would be given up to two years after the date of enactment to submit an acceptable regula-

tory program.

5. Moratorium on Surface Coal Mining Operations

S. 425 contains a provision which prohibits any operator from (1) opening or developing a new or previously mined coal operation, or (2) significantly increasing existing coal operations with a provision that the Secretary may, in certain instances, waive the moratorium. The imposition of a moratorium on surface coal mining, which could last for 18 months, could adversely impact the Nation's energy supply situation. Such a scheme outlined in S. 425 could inhibit planning for and the development of new mines whose output will be needed if we are to avert a critical energy shortage.

6. Restoration of Past Mining Damage

S. 425 proposes to establish a strip mining reclamation fund with an appropriation of \$100 million to finance the acquisition and restoration of lands damaged by past mining activities. While we agree that such "orphan lands" are a serious problem, the costs of corrective programs are extremely high. Typically there is no legal remedy to require the party causing the damage to repaid it. We believe that the use of scarce Federal tax dollars to support these high cost corrective programs cannot be justified on a priority basis. The Administration's bill is based on the conviction that the first priority in mined area protection must be to arrest ongoing damage presently being inflicted on the land and that all available Federal funds should be devoted to accomplishing this objective.

However, S. 923 does indirectly address itself to the problem of past damaged lands. A large percentage of previously mined areas contain mineral deposits which become commercially valuable as technology advances. The reworking of these areas affords the opportunity for the reclamation of the entire area. S. 923 requires the States, as a part of the State program, to adopt regulations which will encourage the reworking of past mined areas and provide for the reclamation of the entire area. This program will not require Federal expenditures and should result in significant rehabilitation of past damaged lands. We think this concept holds considerable promise, for example, in Appalachia a large percentage of the coal to be strip mined during the next decade will be taken from reworked areas.

As we have stated, both bills have numerous similarities in developing a system to regulate mining in order to restore the mined lands to an optimum condition. We believe that S. 923, for the reasons stated,

will best promote the restoration of mined lands without jeopardizing the country's ability to develop its mineral resources to meet the energy demands. We therefore believe that your Committee should act favorably upon S. 923.

The Office of Management and Budget has advised that there is no objection to the presentation of this report and that enactment of S. 923 would be in accord with the Administration's program.

Sincerely yours,

JOHN C. WHITAKER, Acting Secretary of the Interior.

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY,
Washington, D.C., February 15, 1973.

Hon. Spiro T. Agnew, President of the Senate, Washington, D.C.

Dear Mr. President: There is enclosed a draft bill "To provide for the cooperation between the Federal government and the States with respect to environmental regulations for mining operations, and for other purposes".

We recommend that this bill, a part of the environmental program announced February 15, 1973, by the President in his Environment and Natural Resources State of the Union Message, be referred to the appropriate committee for consideration and that it be enacted.

These adverse environmental effects that can result from mining operations have been a subject of growing national concern in recent years. The ever increasing demand for minerals, coupled with dramatic developments in our ability to recover them has led to an increase in mining activity. These activities will continue to be an important part of the American economy.

Mining operations, however, also pose a serious threat to the environment. In varying degrees State legislatures and mining companies have responded to the problem, but this effort suffers from lack of

uniformity and unanimity.

The proposed bill would require that all ongoing and future mining activities be conducted in a way as to minimize their adverse environmental effects. The legislation provides for the development of State regulations based on minimum Federal performance standards which will require environmental consideration to be built into the mining operation.

The Administration's bill recognizes that the responsibility for developing and enforcing regulations rests with the States, while also recognizing that the effort must be nationwide with minimum standards enforced to protect the environment, and to the extent possible, place industry on an equal level in every State. The bill gives the States the opportunity to develop and submit regulations, in accordance with specific minimum performance standards, for approval by the Secretary of the Interior. If the State fails to develop an acceptable program within two years after enactment or if the State fails to enforce effectively its approved program at any time, the

bill authorizes the Secretary to administer and enforce a mining and reclamation program within the State.

This legislation is long overdue. The longer it is put off, the larger

the ultimate cost will be.

The Office of Management and Budget has advised that this legislative proposal is in accord with the program of the President.

Sincerely yours,

ROGERS C. B. MORTON, Secretary of the Interior.

Enclosure.

A BILL To provide for the cooperation between the Federal government and the States with respect to environmental regulations for mining operations, and for other purposes

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States of America in Congress assembled, That this Act may be cited as the "Mined Area Protection Act of 1973".

TITLE I

Sec. 101. Definitions. For the purpose of this Act, the terms-

(a) "Secretary" means the Secretary of the Interior;

(b) "mining operations" means (1) activities conducted on the surface or underground for the exploration for, development of, or extraction of minerals, organic or inorganic, from their natural occurrences, including strip or auger mining, dredging, quarrying, open pit, in situ distillation or retorting and leaching; and (2) the cleaning, concentrating, refining, or other processing or preparation (excluding smeltering) and loading for interstate commerce of crude minerals at or near the mine site. It does not include the extraction of minerals in a liquid or gaseous state by means of wells or pipes unless the process includes in situ distillation or retorting. For the purpose of this Act, prospecting activities are excluded from this definition;

(c) "prospecting" means the first on-the-ground or airborne phase of a search limited to the gathering of evidence of mineralization of potential commercial worth and is not for the purpose of establishing mineral reserves. Prospecting includes geological reconnaissance, the use of geophysical and geochemical methods, and preliminary sampling but does not include the construction of access roads, mechanical trenching, construction of semi-permanent camp facilities or other activities which will result in appreciable disturbances to the

natural condition of the area;

(d) "underground mining operations" means those mining operations carried out beneath the surface by means of shafts, tunnels, or other underground mine openings and such use of the adjacent surface as is incidental thereto:

(e) "surface mining operations" means those mining operations carried out on the surface, including strip, area strip, contour strip, or auger mining, dredging, and leaching, or any combination thereof,

and activities related thereto:

(f) "open pit mining" means that surface mining method in which the overburden is removed from atop the mineral and in which, by virtue of the thickness of the deposits, mining continues in the same

area proceeding predominantly downward with lateral expansion of the pit necessary to maintain slope stability and necessary to accommodate the orderly expansion of the total mining operation. For the purposes of this Act, this definition shall include caving methods and leaching activities associated with open pit mining. For the purposes of this Act, the mining of surface coal deposits, except those relating to open pit anthracite coal operations, is excluded from this definition;

(g) "mined area" means the surface and subsurface of an area in which mining operations are being or have been conducted including private ways and roads appurtenant to any such area, land excavations, workings, refuse banks, tailings, spoil banks, and areas in which structures, facilities, equipment, machines, tools, or other materials or property which result from or are used in, mining operations are

situated:

(h) "operator of a mining operation" means an individual, society, joint stock company or a partnership, association, corporation, or other

organization controlling or managing a mining operation;

(i) "previously mined area" means a mined area on which mining operations have been abandoned prior to the enactment of this Act or a mined area on which mining operations are abandoned subsequent to the enactment of this Act due to the impracticability of the mining operation under reclamation standards established by or under regulations pursuant to this Act;

(i) "State" means a State of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands,

American Samoa, and Guam;

(k) "reclamation" means the process of restoring a mined area affected by a mining operation to its original or other similarly appropriate condition, considering past and possible future uses of the area and the surrounding topography and taking into account environmental, economic and social conditions; and

(1) "soil" means all of the overburden materials that overlay a natural deposit of minerals, organic or inorganic, and also means such overburden materials after removal from their natural state by mining

operations.

Sec. 102. Congressional Findings and Declarations. The Congress finds and declares-

(a) that mining operations are essential activities affecting interstate commerce which contribute to the economic well-being, security

and general welfare of the Nation;

(b) that there are mining operations on public and private lands in the Nation which adversely affect the environment by destroying or diminishing the availability of public and private land for commercial, industrial, recreational, agricultural, and forestry purposes, by causing erosion and landslides, by contributing to floods and the pollution of waters and air, by destroying fish and wildlife habitat and impairing natural beauty, by frustrating efforts to conserve soil, water and other natural resources, by destroying public and private property, and by creating hazards to life and property;

(c) that the initial and principal continuing responsibility for developing and enforcing environmental regulations for mining operations

should rest with the States;

(d) that the cooperative effort established by this Act is necessary to the prevention and elimination of the adverse environmental effects of

present and future mining operations; and

(e) that it is the purpose of this Act to encourage a nationwide effort to regulate mining operations to prevent or substantially reduce their adverse environmental effects, to stimulate and encourage the development of new, environmentally sound mining and reclamation techniques, and to assist the States in carrying out programs for those purposes.

TITLE II—ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS FOR MINING OPERATIONS

Sec. 201. State Environmental Regulations for Mining Operations.

(a) Each State, after public hearings and within two years of the date of enactment of this Act, may submit to the Secretary for review and approval or disapproval in accordance with this section State environmental regulations for mining operations on all lands within such State, except Federally-owned land or land held in trust by the United States for Indians. A State may at any time thereafter submit revisions to such regulations to the Secretary for review and approval or disapproval in accordance with this section. The Secretary shall approve the regulations or revision of such regulations submitted

to him if in his judgment:

(1) the regulations require that, for any mining operation or mining operation activity, as defined in section 101(b), not in existence on the date of the Secretary's approval of the regulations, the operator proposing to initiate such operation or activity must obtain a permit prior to the commencement thereof from a State agency established to administer the regulations and provide that such a permit will be issued only after the operator (i) files a mining and reclamation plan describing the manner in which his reclamation activity will be conducted showing that such activity will be conducted in a manner consistent with the regulations and (ii) establishes to the satisfaction of the State agency that the operator has the physical and financial capacity to conduct his mining and reclamation activity in accordance with

the reclamation plan;

(2) the regulations require operators of mining operations in existence on the date of the Secretary's approval of the regulations to obtain permits in accordance with paragraph (1) of this subsection within one year of such date, except that (i) permits issued for such operations may allow up to two years from the date of the Secretary's approval of the regulations for the operators to come into compliance with performance standards adopted or designated under paragraphs (b)(3), (b)(4), and (b)(5) of this section; and (ii) permits issued for such operations producing less than 10,000 tons per year of mine run material may allow departures from the performance standards for up to five years from the date of the Secretary's approval of the regulations, to the extent found by the State agency to be necessary on the basis of the small size of such operations, their significance to the local economy, and the extent of possible environmental damage;

(3) the regulations contain requirements designed to insure that the mining operation (i) will not result in a violation of applicable water or air effluent or emission standards and regulations, (ii) will control or prevent erosion or flooding, release of toxic substances, accidental subsidence of mined areas or land or rock slides, underground, outcrop, or refuse bank fires, damage to fish, or wildlife or their habitat, or public or private property, and hazards to public health and safety, and (iii) will be in conformance with any State land use planning process or program;

(4) the regulations require reclamation of mined areas and that reclamation work be performed as an integral part of the mining operation and be completed within reasonable prescribed time limits, and that, in the case of mining operations for which the Secretary has adopted performance standards; except that in order to encourage the reworking and reclamation of previously mined areas, the regulations may allow reclamation to depart from the specifications adopted by the Secretary pursuant to subsection (b)(3)(ii) in those individual cases where the State determines that the cost of reclamation on a previously mined area in strict compliance with such specifications is impracticable, and that the environmental quality of the entire permit area would, on balance, be clearly enhanced;

(5) the regulations allow the State agency, in order to encourage advances in mining and reclamation practices, to authorize departures in individual cases on an experimental basis from the specifications adopted by the Secretary pursuant to subsection (b)(3)(ii) of this section, if the experimental practices are potentially more or at least as environmentally protective, during and after mining operations, as those required by such specifications, and if the mining operation is no larger than necessary to

determine the effectiveness and economic feasibility of the experimental practices;

(6) the regulations require posting of performance bonds or other equally appropriate financial arrangements, in amounts and upon conditions at all times sufficient to insure the reclamation of mined areas in the event that the regulations are not complied with or that reclamation is not completed in accordance with the mining and reclamation plan;

(7) the regulations provide for filing, updating, and permanent retention of engineering maps of all active surface and underground mining operations and of all inactive surface and underground mining operations for which engineering or other maps

are available;

(8) the regulations provide that the responsible State agency will identify areas or types of areas in the State which, if mined, cannot be reclaimed with existing techniques to satisfy applicable performance standards adopted by the Secretary, and that the State agency will not issue permits to mine such areas until it determines that the technology is available to satisfy applicable performance standards;

(9) the regulations provide that regular reports will be made to the Secretary concerning the progress made by the State in

carrying out the purposes of this title;

(10) the regulations require operators to make periodic reports to the responsible State agency, showing the progress of mining operations and of all required reclamation activities, and require regular monitoring by the State agency of environmental changes in mined areas to assess the effectiveness of the environmental

regulation for mining operations;

(11) the regulations designate a single agency, or with the Secretary's approval, an interstate organization upon which the responsibility for administering and enforcing the regulations is conferred by the State or States and will insure full participation of those agencies responsible for State land use planning and management, air quality, water quality and other areas of environmental protection;

(12) the State agency or interstate organization responsible for the administration and enforcement of the regulations has vested in it the regulatory and other authorities necessary to carry out the purposes of this Act including, but not limited to, the authority to obtain the cessation of mining operations for violation of applicable laws and regulations adopted pursuant to this Act;

(13) the regulations were developed with full participation of all interested Federal departments and agencies, State agencies, local governments, and other interested bodies and groups;

(14) the regulations provide for regular review and updating, and for public notice and an opportunity for public participation

in their revision;

(15) funding and manpower are or will be committed to the administration and enforcement of the regulations sufficient to carry out the purposes of this title;

(16) the regulations are authorized by law and will become effective no later than sixty days after approval by the Secretary;

(17) training programs will be established, as necessary, for persons engaged in mining operations and in enforcement of environmental regulations;

(18) the regulations are compatible to the maximum extent practicable with approved regulations of adjacent States; and

(19) the regulations which are developed by the State agency to meet or exceed performance standards should consider in addition to relative degrees of environmental protection, the relative costs involved;

(b) (1) In choosing among specifications or other requirements which satisfy the performance standards in this subsection the Secretary shall consider in addition to the relative degrees of environmental protection, the relative costs involved.

(b) (2) The criteria set forth in subsection (a) of this section shall be further elaborated by the Secretary through guidelines which will be issued within 90 days after enactment of this Act and revised

periodically as the Secretary deems appropriate.

(3) Within 180 days after enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall by regulation adopt performance standards for the reclamation of mined areas affected by surface mining operations. Those performance standards shall include specifications that will ensure (i) that mined areas will be returned, as soon as feasible, to their original contour or to a contour similarly appropriate considering the surrounding topography and possible future uses of the areas; (ii) that there is no deposition of spoil material, except as necessary to the original excavation of earth in a new mining operation, on the undisturbed or natural surface within or adjacent to the mined area, and that reclamation be conducted concurrently with the mining operation; except that the State agency may allow departures from such specifications either through a State approved program pursuant to (a) (5) of this section or if the operator demonstrates that such departures will provide equal or better protection of life, property, and environmental quality; (iii) that throughout the mined area, soil conditions be stabilized and water management be conducted such that landslides are prevented, erosion is minimized, and water pollution by siltation and by acid, highly mineralized or toxic material drainage is minimized; and (iv) that the original type or similarly appropriate type of vegetation will be re-established on the area disturbed by the mining operations as soon after the soil handling is completed as feasible. He shall revise all such per-

formance standards periodically as necessary.

(4) Within 180 days after the enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall by regulation adopt performance standards for the reclamation of areas affected by open pit mining, taking into consideration the unique nature of such operations. Those performance standards should ensure (i) that new mined areas should be returned, to the extent feasible, to approximately their original contour or to a contour similarly appropriate considering the surrounding topography and possible future uses of the area; (ii) that, to the extent feasible, there is no permanent deposition of spoil material on undisturbed or natural surface within or adjacent to the mined area; (iii) that, throughout the permit area, soil conditions will be stabilized and water management conducted, such that landslides are prevented, erosion is minimized, and pollution of water, including that in water impoundments created by the mining operation, by siltation and by acid, highly mineralized and toxic material drainage is minimized; and (iv) that, to the extent feasible, original type or similarly appropriate type vegetation will be re-established on the disturbed land areas. He shall revise all such performance standards periodically as necessary.

(5) Within one year after enactment of this Act the Secretary shall by regulation adopt performance standards for reclamation of areas affected by underground mining operations in order to prevent, minimize or correct environmental harm, including standards for minimizing subsidence and the continuing discharge of acid, mineralized and toxic material drainage. He shall revise all such performance stand-

ards periodically as necessary.

(c) To advise the Secretary in developing guidelines and performance standards under subsection (b) of this section, there is established an Advisory Committee composed of representatives from the Departments of Agriculture and Commerce, the Environmental Protection Agency, the Tennessee Valley Authority and the Appalachian Regional Commission, the Council of State Governments, and such other representatives as the Secretary may designate. In order to ensure consistency with the purpose of the Clean Air Act and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Secretary shall obtain the concurrence of the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency in those aspects of the guidelines and regulations under sub-

section (b) which affect air or water quality.

(d) The Secretary shall not approve regulations submitted by a State pursuant to this section until he has solicited the views of Federal agencies principally interested in such regulations. In order to ensure consistency with the purposes of the Clean Air Act and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Secretary shall obtain the concurrence of the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency in those aspects of each State's regulations which affect air or water quality. The Secretary shall approve or reject the State regulations within 180 days after such regulations are filed.

(e) If the Secretary approves the regulations or revision thereof submitted to him by a State for approval, he shall conduct a continuing review and evaluation of the effectiveness of the regulations and the administration and enforcement thereof. As a result of the evalua-

tion and review the Secretary may determine that:

(1) the State has failed to enforce the regulations adequately; (2) the State's regulations require revision as a result of experience or the guidelines on regulations issued by the Secretary pursuant to section 201(b); and

(3) the State has otherwise failed to comply with the purposes

of this Act.

Upon making such determination the Secretary shall notify the State and suggest appropriate action, remedies, or revisions to the regulations affording the State an opportunity for a hearing. If within a reasonable time, as determined by the Secretary, the State has not taken appropriate action as determined by the Secretary, the Secretary shall withdraw his approval of the regulations, and issue regulations for such State under section 202 of this title. After withdrawal of his approval and pending the issuance of regulations under section 202, the Secretary may administer and enforce the State regulations. Following the issuance of regulations under section 202 and while they are in effect, the Secretary is authorized to administer and enforce such regulations within such State.

Sec. 202. Federal Regulation of Mining Operations.

(a) If, at the expiration of two years after the date of enactment of this Act, a State has failed to submit environmental regulations for mining operations, or has submitted regulations which have been disapproved and within such period has failed to submit revised regulations for approval, the Secretary shall promptly issue environmental regulations for mining operations within such State. The Federal regulations issued by the Secretary for a particular State shall meet the requirements of the principles set forth in subsections (a) and (b) of section 201 of this Act.

(b) Regulations under this section shall be issued pursuant to the

Federal Rule Making Procedures set forth in 5 U.S.C. 553.

(c) The Secretary may from time to time revise such regulations in

accordance with the procedure prescribed in 5 U.S.C. 553.

Sec. 203. Where the Secretary administers and enforces the program for the State, or when the Secretary administers and enforces State regulations under section 201(e) of this title, he shall recover the full cost of administering and enforcing the program through the use of mining permit charges to be levied against operators of mining operations within the State.

Sec. 204. Termination of Federal Regulations. If a State submits proposed State regulations to the Secretary after Federal regulations have been issued pursuant to section 202 of this title, and if the Secretary approves such regulations, such Federal regulations shall cease to be applicable to the State at such time as the State regulations become effective. Such Federal regulations, as changed or modified by the Secretary, shall again become effective if the Secretary subsequently withdraws his approval of the State regulations pursuant to subsec-

tion (e) of section 201 of this title.

Sec. 205. Inspections and Investigations. The Secretary is authorized to make such inspections and investigations of mining operations and mined areas as he considers necessary or appropriate to evaluate the administration and enforcement of any State's regulations, or to develop or enforce Federal regulations, or otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Act, and for such purposes authorized representatives of the Secretary shall have the right of entry to any mining operation and into any mined areas. In order to enforce the right of entry into a specific mining operation or mined area the Secretary may obtain a warrant from the appropriate district court to authorize such entry.

Sec. 206. Injunctions. At the request of the Secretary, the Attorney General may institute a civil action in a district court of the United States or a Federal District Court of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam or the High Court of American Samoa for an injunction or other appropriate order (1) to prevent any operator of a mining operation from engaging in mining operations in violation of Federal regulations issued under section 202 of this title or State regulations which the Secretary is authorized to enforce under section 201(e) of this title; (2) to prevent an operator of a mining operation from placing in commerce the minerals produced by a mining operation in violation of State regulations approved under section 201 of this title; (3) to enforce a warrant issued under section 205 of this title; or (4) to collect a penalty under section 207(a) of this title. The district court of the United States or a Federal District Court of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and Guam or the High Court of American Samoa for the district in which such operator of a mining operation resides or is doing business shall have jurisdiction to issue such injunction or order.

Sec. 207. Penalties. (a) If any person fails to comply with any regulation issued under section 202 of this title for a period of fifteen days after notice of such failure, the Secretary may order cessation of such person's mining operations and such person shall be liable for a civil penalty of not more than \$1,000 for each day of continuance of such failure after said fifteen days.

(b) Any person who knowingly violates any regulation issued pursuant to section 202 of this title shall, upon conviction, be punished by a fine not exceeding \$10,000, or by imprisonment not exceeding one year, or both.

(c) The penalties prescribed in this section shall be in addition to any other remedies afforded by this title or by any other law or

regulation.

Sec. 208. (a) Review of the Secretary's action in (i) promulgating any standards of performance under sections 201(b)(2), (b)(3), (b) (4), and (b) (5); and (ii) approving or disapproving a State environmental regulations and standards or revision to those under section 201(a); may be had by any interested person in the Circuit Court of Appeals of the United States for the Federal judicial district in which such person resides or transacts such business upon application by such person. Any such application shall be made within 90 days from the date of such determination, approval, promulgation, issuance or denial, or after such date only if such application is based solely on grounds which arose after such ninetieth day.

(b) Action of the Secretary with respect to which review could have been obtained under paragraph (a) of this subsection shall not be subject to judicial review in any civil or criminal proceeding for

enforcement.

SEC. 209. Research. The Secretary is authorized to conduct or promote research, or training programs to carry out the purposes of this title. In so doing, the Secretary may enter into contracts with institutions, agencies, organizations, or individuals and make grants to non-profit organizations and collect and make available information re-

sulting therefrom.

SEC. 210. Grants. (a) The Secretary is authorized to make a grant to any State for the purpose of assisting such State in developing, administering and enforcing environmental regulations under this title provided that such grants do not exceed 80% of the program development costs incurred during the year preceding approval by the Secretary and do not exceed 60% of the total costs incurred during the first year following approval, 45% during the second year following approval, 30% during the third year following approval and 15% during the fourth year following approval, at which time the Federal grants shall cease.

(b) The Secretary is authorized to cooperate with and provide non-financial assistance to any State for the purpose of assisting it in the administration and enforcement of its regulations. Such cooperation

and assistance may include:

(1) technical assistance and training, including provision of necessary curricular and instructional materials, in the administration and enforcement of the State regulations or program; or

(2) assistance in preparing and maintaining a continuing inventory of mining operations and mined areas in such State for the purposes of evaluating the effectiveness of its environmental regulations for mining operations programs and identifying current and future needs of the State's activities under this Act.

SEC. 211. In extending technical assistance to States under section 210 and in the enforcement of regulations issued by the Secretary under section 202 concerning matters relating to the reclamation of areas affected by surface mining, the Secretary may utilize the services of the Secretary of Agriculture and the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency, and may transfer funds to cover the cost thereof.

Sec. 212. Any records, reports, or information obtained under this Act shall be available to the public, except that upon a showing satisfactory to the Secretary by any person that records, reports, or information, or particular part thereof, to which the Secretary had access under this Act if made public, would divulge methods or processes entitled to protection as trade secrets of such person, the Secretary shall consider such record, report, or information or particular portion

thereof confidential in accordance with the purposes of section 1905 of title 18 of the United States Code, except that such record, report, or information may be disclosed to other officers, employees, or authorized representatives of the United States concerned with carrying out this Act or when relevant in any proceeding under this Act.

SEC. 213. Rules and Regulations. The Secretary is authorized to promulgate such rules and regulations as he considers necessary to

carry out the provisions of this title.

Sec. 214. Authorization of Appropriations. There are authorized to be appropriated to the Secretary such sums as may be necessary to carry out the provisions of this Act.

TITLE III

SEC. 301. (a) The heads of all Federal departments or agencies which have jurisdiction over land on which mining operations are permitted are authorized to promulgate environmental regulations to govern such mining operations. Such department or agency heads shall issue regulations to assure at least the same degree of environmental protection and reclamation on lands under their jurisdiction as is required by any law and regulation established under an approved State program for the State in which such land is situated. Each Federal department and agency shall cooperate with the Secretary and the States, to the greatest extent practicable, in carrying out the provisions of this Act.

(b) Nothing in this Act or in any State regulations approved pursuant to it shall be construed to conflict with any of the following

Acts or with any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder:

(1) the Federal Metal and Nonmetallic Mine Safety Act (80 Stat. 772; 30 U.S.C. 721-740);

(2) the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969

(83 Stat. 742);

(3) the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (79 Stat. 903), as amended, the State laws enacted pursuant thereto, or other Federal laws relating to preservation of water quality;

(4) the Clean Air Act, as amended (79 Stat. 992; 42 U.S.C.

1857); and

(5) the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended (79 Stat. 997;

42 U.S.C. 3251).

Sec. 302. Separability. If any provision of this Act of the applicability thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid the remainder of this Act and the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE,
OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY,
Washington, D.C., March 12, 1973.

Hon. Henry M. Jackson,
Chairman, Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs. U.S. Senate,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN: This is in response to your letter of February 6, 1973, requesting the views of this Department on S. 425, a bill "To provide for the cooperation between the Secretary of the Interior

and the States with respect to the regulation of surface mining operations, and the acquisition and reclamation of abandoned mines, and for

other purposes."

S. 425 requires the States to develop a State program for the regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations consistent with Federal regulations, and authorizes Federal assistance in the development of such programs. It further provides for a Federal regulatory program in States which fail to develop and carry out an acceptable program. It also provides for treatment of abandoned and unreclaimed mined areas.

While recognizing that S. 425 has many desirable provisions, this Department recommends that the Administration's bill, S. 923, "Mined Area Protection Act of 1973," be enacted instead of S. 425. S. 923 is broader in scope, applying both to surface and underground mining. Furthermore, S. 923 assures that States adopt regulations in compliance with more stringent and specific performance standards.

The Office of Management and Budget advises that there is no objection to the presentation of this report and that enactment of S. 923 would be in accord with the President's program.

Sincerely.

J. Phil Campbell, Under Secretary.

EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT,
OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET,
Washington, D.C., March 13, 1973.

Hon. Henry M. Jackson,
Chairman, Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, U.S. Senate,
Washington, D.C.

Dear Mr. Chairman: This is in response to your request of February 6, 1973, for the views of the Office of Management and Budget on S. 425, a bill entitled the "Surface Mining Reclamation Act of 1973."

The Department of the Interior has recently submitted to the Congress a related bill, S. 923, entitled the "Mined Area Protection Act of 1973" and in the Department's report on S. 425, it recommends enactment of S. 923 in lieu of S. 425. Enactment of S. 923 would be in accord with the program of the President.

Sincerely,

WILFRED H. ROMMEL, Assistant Director for Legislative Reference.

X. CHANGES IN EXISTING LAW

Subsection (4) of rule XXIX of the Standing Rules of the Senate requires a statement of any changes in existing law made by the bill ordered reported. S. 425 as reported makes no amendment to or changes in existing laws.

C



SURFACE MINING CONTROL AND RECLAMATION ACT OF 1974

DEBEMBER 5, 1974.—Ordered to be printed

Mr. Udall, from the committee of conference, submitted the following

CONFERENCE REPORT

[To accompany S. 425]

The committee of conference on the disagreeing votes of the two Houses on the amendment of the House to the bill (S. 425) to provide for the cooperation between the Secretary of the Interior and the States with respect to the regulation of surface mining operations, and the acquisition and reclamation of abandoned mines, and for other purposes, having met, after full and free conference, have agreed to recommend and do recommend to their respective Houses as follows:

That the Senate recede from its disagreement to the amendment of the House and agree to the same with an amendment as follows:

In lieu of the matter proposed to be inserted by the House amendment insert the following:

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE I-STATEMENT OF FINDINGS AND POLICY

Sec. 101. Findings. Sec. 102. Purposes.

TITLE II-OFFICE OF SURFACE MINING RECLAMATION AND ENFORCEMENT

Sec. 201. Creation of the Office.

TITLE III—STATE MINING AND MINERAL RESOURCES INSTITUTE

Sec. 301. Authorization of State allotments in institutes.

Sec. 302. Research funds to institutes.

Sec. 303. Funding criteria.

Sec. 304. Duties of Secretary.

Sec. 305. Autonomy.

Sec. 306. Miscellaneous provisions.

Sec. 307. Center for cataloging.

Sec. 308. Interagency cooperation.

Sec. 309. Advisory committee.

TITLE IV-ABANDONED MINE RECLAMATION

Sec.	401.	Abandoned	l Coal	Mine	Reclamation	Fund
Sec.	402.	Objectives	of Fu	nd.		

Sec. 403. Eligible lands.

Sec. 404. Reclamation of rural lands.

Sec. 405. Acquisition and reclamation of abandoned and unreclaimed mined lands.

Sec. 406. Filling voids and sealing tunnels.

Sec. 407. Fund report. Sec. 408. Transfer of funds.

TITLE V-CONTROL OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF SURFACE COAL MINING

Sec. 501. Environmental protection standards.

Sec. 502. Initial regulatory procedures.

Sec. 503. State programs.

Seo. 504. Federal programs.

Sec. 505. State laws.

Sec. 506. Permits.

Sec. 507. Application requirements.

Sec. 508. Reclamation plan requirements.

Sec. 509. Performance bonds.

Sec. 510. Permit approval or denial.

Sec. 511. Revision of permits.

Sec. 512. Coal exploration permits.

Sec. 513. Public notice and public hearings.

Sec. 514. Decisions of regulatory authority and appeals.

Sec. 515. Environmental protection performance standards. Sec. 516. Surface effects of underground coal mining operations.

Sec. 517. Inspections and monitoring.

Sec. 518. Penalties.

Sec. 519. Release of performance bonds or deposits.

Sec. 520. Citizen suits.

Sec. 521. Enforcement.

Sec. 522. Designation of land areas unsuitable for surface mining.

Sec. 523. Federal lands.

Sec. 524. Public agencies, public utilities, and public corporations.

Sec. 525. Review by Secretary.

Sec. 526. Judicial review.

Sec. 527. Special bituminous coal mines.

Sec. 528. Surface mining operations not subject to this Act.

Sec. 529. Anthracite coal mines.

TITLE VI-DESIGNATION OF LANDS UNSUITABLE FOR NON-COAL

Sec. 601. Designation procedures.

TITLE VII-ADMINISTRATIVE AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Sec. 701. Definitions.

Sec. 702. Other Federal laws.

Sec. 703. Employee protection.

Sec. 704. Protection of governmental employees.

Sec. 705. Grants to the States.

Sec. 706, Annual report.

Sec. 707. Preference for persons adversely affected by the Act.

Sec. 708. Employment impact and unemployment assistance.

Sec. 709. Severability.

Sec. 710. Alaskan surface coal mine study.

Sec. 711. Study of reclamation standards for surface mining of other minerals.

Sec. 712. Indian lands.

Sec. 713. Experimental practices.

Sec. 714. Authorization of appropriations.

Sec. 715. Research and demonstration projects on alternative coal mining technologies.

Sec. 716. Surface owner protection.

Sec. 717. Federal lessee protection.

TITLE I-STATEMENT OF FINDINGS AND POLICY

FINDINGS

Sec. 101. The Congress finds and declares that—

(a) extraction of coal and other minerals from the earth can be accomplished by various methods of mining, including surface mining:

(b) coal mining operations presently contribute significantly to the Nation's energy requirements; surface coal mining constitutes one method of extraction of the resource; the overwhelming percentage of the Nation's coal reserves can only be extracted by underground mining methods, and it is, therefore, essential to the national interest to insure the existence of an expanding and economically healthy underground coal mining industry:

(c) many surface mining operations result in disturbances of surface areas that burden and adversely affect commerce and the public welfare by destroying or diminishing the utility of land for commercial, industrial, residential, recreational, agricultural, and forestry purposes, by causing erosion and landslides, by contributing to floods, by polluting the water, by destroying fish and wildlife habitats, by impairing natural beauty, by damaging the property of citizens, by creating hazards dangerous to life and property, by degrading the quality of life in local communities, and by counteracting governmental programs and efforts to conserve soil, water, and other natural resources:

(d) surface mining and reclamation technology are now developed so that effective and reasonable regulation of surface coal mining operations by the States and by the Federal Government in accordance with the requirements of this Act is an appropriate and necessary means to minimize so far as practicable the adverse social, economic, and environmental effects of such mining operations:

(e) because of the diversity in terrain, climate, biologic, chemical, and other physical conditions in areas subject to mining operations, the primary governmental responsibility for developing, authorizing, issuing, and enforcing regulations for surface mining and reclamation operations subject to this Act should rest with the States:

(f) while there is a need to regulate surface mining operations for minerals other than coal, more data and analyses are needed to serve as a basis for effective and reasonable regulation of such operations:

(g) surface and underground coal mining operations affect interstate commerce, contribute to the economic well-being, security, and general welfare of the Nation and should be conducted in an environmentally sound manner; and

(h) the cooperative effort established by this Act is necessary to prevent or mitigate adverse environmental effects of present and future surface coal mining operations.

PURPOSES

SEC. 102. It is the purpose of this Act to-

(a) establish a nationwide program to prevent the adverse effects to society and the environment resulting from surface coal mining operations and surface impacts of underground coal mining operations;

(b) assure that the rights of surface landowners and other persons with a legal interest in the land or appurtenances thereto are

fully protected from such operations:

(c) assure that surface coal mining operations are not conducted where reclamation as required by this Act is not feasible;

(d) assure that surface coal mining operations are so conducted

as to protect the environment:

(e) assure that adequate procedures are undertaken to reclaim surface areas as contemporaneously as possible with the surface

coal mining operations;

(f) assure that the coal supply essential to the Nation's energy requirements, and to its economic and social well-being is provided and strike a balance between protection of the environment and the Nation's need for coal as an essential source of energy;

(g) assist the States in developing and implementing a program

to achieve the purposes of this Act:

(h) promote the reclamation of mined areas left without adequate reclamation prior to the enactment of this Act and which continue, in their unreclaimed condition, to substantially degrade the quality of the environment, prevent or damage the beneficial use of land or water resources, or endanger the health or safety of the public;

(i) assure that appropriate procedures are provided for the public participation in the development, revision, and enforcement of regulations, standards, reclamation plans, or programs established

by the Secretary or any State under this Act:

(j) encourage the full utilization of coal resources through the development and application of underground extraction technologies:

(k) provide a means for development of the data and analyses necessary to establish effective and reasonable regulation of sur-

face mining operations for other minerals;

(l) stimulate, sponsor, provide for and/or supplement present programs for the conduct of research investigations, experiments, and demonstrations, in the exploration, extraction, processing, development, and production of minerals and the training of mineral engineers and scientists in the fields of mining, minerals resources, and technology, and the establishment of an appropriate research and training center in various States; and

(m) wherever necessary, exercise the full reach of Federal constitutional powers to insure the protection of the public interest through effective control of surface coal mining operations.

TITLE II—OFFICE OF SURFACE MINING RECLAMATION AND ENFORCEMENT

CREATION OF THE OFFICE

SEC. 201. (a) There is established in the Department of the Interior, the Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement (herein-

after referred to as the "Office").

(b) The Office shall have a Director who shall be appointed by the President, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate, and shall be compensated at the rate provided for level V of the Executive Schedule under section 5315 of title 5 of the United States Code, and such other employees as may be required. The Director shall have the responsibilities provided under subsection (c) of this section and those duties and responsibilities relating to the functions of the office which the Secretary may assign, consistent with this Act. Employees of the Office shall be recruited on the basis of their professional competence and capacity to administer the provisions of this Act. No legal authority, program, or function in any Federal agency which has as its purpose promoting the development or use of coal or other mineral resources, shall be transferred to the Office.

(c) The Secretary, acting through the Office, shall—

(1) administer the programs for controlling surface coal mining operations which are required by this Act; review and approve or disapprove State programs for controlling surface coal mining operations; make those investigations and inspections necessary to insure compliance with this Act; conduct hearings, administer oaths, issue subpenas, and compel the attendance of witnesses and production of written or printed material as provided for in this Act; issue cease-and-desist orders; review and vacate or modify or approve orders and decisions; and order the suspension, revocation, or withholding of any permit for failure to comply with any of the provisions of this Act or any rules and regulations adopted pursuant thereto;

(2) publish and promulgate such rules and regulations as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and provisions of this Act;

(3) administer the State grant-in-aid program for the development of State programs for surface coal mining and reclamation operations provided for in title V of this Act;

(4) administer the program for the purchase and reclamation of abandoned and unreclaimed mined areas pursuant to title IV of this Act;

(5) administer the surface mining and reclamation research and demonstration project authority provided for in this Act;

(6) consult with other agencies of the Federal Government having expertise in the control and reclamation of surface mining operations and assist States, local governments, and other eligible agencies in the coordination of such programs;

(7) maintain a continuing study of surface mining and reclama-

tion operations in the United States;

(8) develop and maintain an Information and Data Center on Surface Coal Mining, Reclamation, and Surface Impacts of Underground Mining, which will make such data available to the public and to Federal, regional, State, and local agencies conducting or concerned with land use planning and agencies concerned with surface and underground mining and reclamation operations:

(9) assist the States in the development of State programs for surface coal mining and reclamation operations which meet the requirements of this Act and, at the same time, reflect local require-

ments and local environmental conditions;

(10) assist the States in developing objective scientific criteria and appropriate procedures and institutions for determining those areas of a State to be designated unsuitable for all or certain types of surface coal mining pursuant to section 522; and

(11) monitor all Federal and State research programs dealing with local extraction and use and recommend to Congress the research and demonstration projects and necessary changes in public policy which are designated to (A) improve feasibility of underground coal mining, and (B) improve surface mining and reclamation techniques directed at eliminating adverse environmental and social impacts; and

(12) perform such other duties as may be provided by law and

relate to the purposes of this Act.

TITLE III—STATE MINING AND MINERAL RESOURCES AND RESEARCH INSTITUTE

AUTHORIZATION OF STATE ALLOTMENTS TO INSTITUTES

Sec. 301.(a) There are authorized to be appropriated to the Secretary of the Interior sums adequate to provide for each participating State \$200,000 for fiscal year 1975. \$300,000 for fiscal year 1976, and \$400,000 for each fiscal year thereafter for five years, to assist the States in carrying on the work of a competent and qualified mining and mineral resources research institute, or center (hereinafter referred to as "institute") at one public college or university at the State, which has in existence at the time of enactment of this title a school of mines, or division, or department conducting a program of substantial instruction and research in mining or minerals extraction or which establishes such a school of mines, or division, or department subsequent to the enactment of this title and which school of mines, or division, or department shall have been in existence for at least two years. The Advisory Committee on Mining and Minerals Resources Research as created by this title shall determine a college or university to have an eligible school of mines, or division, or department conducting a program of substantial instruction and research in mining or minerals extraction wherein education and research in the minerals engineering fields are being carried out and wherein at least five fulltime permanent faculty members are employed: Provided, That-

(1) such moneys when appropriated shall be made available to match, on a dollar-for-dollar basis, non-Federal funds which shall be at least equal to the Federal share to support the institute; (2) if there is more than one such eligible college or university in a State, funds under this title shall, in the absence of a designation to the contrary by act of the legislature of the State, be paid to one such college or university designated by the Governor of the State: and

(3) where a State does not have a public college; or university with an eligible school of mines, or division, or department conducting a program of substantial instruction and research in mining or minerals extraction, said advisory committee may allocate the State's allotment to one private college or university which it determines to have an eligible school of mines, or divi-

sion, or department as provided herein;

(b) It shall be the duty of each such institute to plan and conduct and or arrange for a component or components of the college or university with which it is affiliated to conduct competent research, investigations, demonstrations, and experiments of either a basic or practical nature, or both, in relation to mining and mineral resources and to provide for the training of mineral engineers and scientists through such research, investigations, demonstrations, and experiments. Such research, investigations, demonstrations, experiments, and training may include, without being limited to exploration; extraction; processing; development; production of mineral resources; mining and mineral technology; supply and demand for minerals; conservation and best use of available supplies of minerals; the economic, legal, social engineering, recreational, biological, geographic, ecological, and other aspects of mining, mineral resources, and mineral reclamation, having due regard to the interrelation on the natural environment, the varying conditions and needs of the respective States, to mining and mineral resources research projects being conducted by agencies of the Federal and State governments, and other, and to avoid any undue displacement of mineral engineers and scientists elsewhere engaged in mining and mineral resources research.

RESEARCH FUNDS TO INSTITUTES

SEC. 302. (a) There is authorized to be appropriated annually for seven years to the Secretary of the Interior the sum of \$15,000,000 in fiscal year 1975, said sum increased by \$2,000,000 each fiscal year thereafter for six years, which shall remain available until expended. Such moneys when appropriated shall be made available to institutes to meet the necessary expenses for purposes of:

(1) specific mineral research and demonstration projects of industrywide application, which could not otherwise be undertaken, including the expenses of planning and coordinating regional mining and mineral resources research projects by two or

more institutes, and

(2) research into any aspects of mining and mineral resources problems related to the mission of the Department of the Interior, which may be deemed desirable and are not otherwise being studied.

(b) Each application for a grant pursuant to subsection (a) of this section shall, among other things, state the nature of the project to be undertaken, the period during which it will be pursued, the

(c) The Secretary shall insofar as it is practicable, utilize the facilities of institutes designated in section 301 of this title to perform such special research, authorized by this section, and shall select the institutes for the performance of such special research on the basis of the qualifications without regard to race or sex of the personnel who will conduct and direct it, and on the basis of the facilities available in relation to the particular needs of the research project, special geographic, geologic, or climatic conditions within the immediate vicinity of the institute in relation to any special requirments of the research project, and the extent to which it will provide opportunity for training individuals as mineral engineers and scientists. The Secretary may designate and utilize such portions of the funds authorized to be appropriated by this section as he deem's appropriate for the purpose of providing scholarships, graduate fellowships, and postdoctoral fellowships.

(d) No grant shall be made under subsection (a) of this section except for a project approved by the Secretary of the Interior and all grants shall be made upon the basis of merit of the project, the need for the knowledge which it is expected to produce when completed, and the opportunity it provides for the training of individuals as mineral

engineers and scientists.

No portion of any grant under this section shall be applied to the acquisition by purchase or lease of any land or interests therein or the rental, purchase, construction, preservation, or repair of any building.

FUNDING CRITERIA

SEC. 303. (a) Sums available to institutes under the terms of sections 301 and 302 of this title shall be paid at such times and in such amounts during each fiscal year as determined by the Secretary, and upon vouchers approved by him. Each institute shall set forth its plan to provide for the training of individuals as mineral engineers and scientists under a curriculum appropriate to the field of mineral resources and mineral enginering and related fields; set forth policies and procedures which assure that Federal funds made available under this title for any fiscal year will supplement and, to the extent practicable, increase the level of funds that would, in the absence of such Federal funds, be made available for purposes of this title, and in no case supplant such funds; have an officer appointed by its governing authority who shall receive and account for all funds paid under the provisions of this title and shall make an annual report to the Secretary on or before the first day of September of each year, on work accomplished and the status of projects underway, together with a detailed statement of the amounts received under any provisions of this title during the preceding fiscal year, and of its disbursements on schedules prescribed by the Secretary. If any of the moneys received by the authorized

receiving officer of any institute under the provisions of this title shall by any action or contingency be found by the Secretary to have been improperly diminished, lost, or misapplied, it shall be replaced by the State concerned and until so replaced no subsequent appropriation shall be allotted or paid to any institute of such State.

(b) Moneys appropriated pursuant to this title shall be available for expenses for research, investigations, experiments, and training conducted under authority of this title. The institutes are hereby authorized and encouraged to plan and conduct programs under this title in cooperation with each other and with such other agencies and individuals as may contribute to the solution of the mining and mineral resources problems involved, and moneys appropriated pursuant to this title shall be available for paying the necessary expenses of planning, coordinating, and conducting such cooperative research.

DUTIES OF THE SECRETARY

Sec. 304. The Secretary of the Interior is hereby charged with the responsibility for the proper administration of this title and, after full consultation with other interested Federal agencies, shall prescribe such rules and regulations as may be necessary to carry out its provisions. The Secretary shall furnish such advice and assistance as will best promote the purposes of this title, participate in coordinating research initiated under this title by the institutes, indicate to them such lines of inquiry as to him seem most important, and encourage and assist in the establishment and maintenance of cooperation by and between the institutes and between them and other research organizations, the United States Department of the Interior, and other Federal establishments.

On or before the 1st day of July in each year after the passage of this title, the Secretary shall ascertain whether the requirements of

section 303(a) have been met as to each institute and State.

The Secretary shall make an annual report to the Congress of the receipts, expenditures, and work of the institutes in all States under the provisions of this title. The Secretary's report shall indicate whether any portion of an appropriation available for allotment to any State has been withheld and, if so, the reasons therefor.

AUTONOMY

SEC. 305. Nothing in this title shall be construed to impair or modify the legal relationship existing between any of the colleges or universities under whose direction an institute is established and the government of the State in which it is located, and nothing in this title shall in any way be construed to authorize Federal control or direction of education at any college or university.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Sec. 306. (a) The Secretary of the Interior shall obtain the continuing advice and cooperation of all agencies of the Federal Government concerned with mining and mineral resources of State and local governments, and of private institutions and individuals to assure that the programs authorized in this title will supplement and not duplicate established mining and minerals research programs, to stimulate research in otherwise neglected areas, and to contribute to a comprehensive nationwide program of mining and minerals research, having due regard for the protection and conservation of the environment. The Secretary shall make generally available information and reports on projects completed, in progress, or planned under the provisions of this title, in addition to any direct publication of information by the institutes themselves.

(b) Nothing in this title is intended to give or shall be construed as giving the Secretary of the Interior any authority over mining and mineral resources research conducted by any other agency of the Federal Government, or as repealing, superseding, or diminishing existing authorities or responsibilities of any agency of the Federal Government to plan and conduct, contract for, or assist in research in its area of responsibility and concern with mining and mineral resources.

(c) Contracts or other arrangements for mining and mineral resources research work authorized under this title with an institute, educational institution, or nonprofit organization may be undertaken without regard to the provisions of section 3684 of the Revised (31 U.S.C. 529) when, in the judgment of the Secretary of the Interior, advance payments of initial expense are necessary to facilitate such work.

(d) No research, demonstration, or experiment shall be carried out under this Act by an institute financed by grants under this Act unless all uses, products, processes, patents, and other developments resulting therefrom with such exception or limitation, if any, as the Secretary may find necessary in the public interest, be available promptly to the general public. Nothing contained in this section shall deprive the owner of any background patent relating to any such activities of any rights which that owner may have under that patent. There are authorized to be appropriated such sums as are necessary for the printing and publishing of the results of activities carried out by institutes under the provisions of this Act and for administrative planning and direction, but such appropriations shall not exceed \$1,000,000 in any fiscal year.

SEC. 307. The Secretary shall establish a center for cataloging current and projected scientific research in all fields of mining and mineral resources. Each Federal agency doing mining and mineral resources research shall cooperate by providing the cataloging center with information on work underway or scheduled by it. The cataloging center shall classify and maintain for public use a catalog of mining and mineral resources research and investigation projects in progress or scheduled by all Federal agencies and by such non-Federal agencies of government, colleges, universities, private institutions, firms and individuals as may make such information available.

INTERAGENCY COOPERATION

Src. 308. The President shall, by such means as he deems appropriate, clarify agency responsibility for Federal mining and mineral

resources research and provide for interagency coordination of such research, including the research authorized by this title. Such coordination shall include—

(a) continuing review of the adequacy of the Government-

wide program in mining and mineral resources research;

(b) identification and elimination of duplication and overlap between two or more agency programs;

(c) identification of technical needs in various mining and min-

eral resource's research categories;

(d) recommendations with respect to allocation of technical

effort among the Federal agencies;

(e) review of technical manpower needs and findings concerning management policies to improve the quality of the Government-wide research effort; and

(f) actions to facilitate interagency communication at manage-

ment levels.

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Sec. 309. (a) The Secretary of the Interior shall appoint an Advisory Committee on Mining and Mineral Research composed of—

(1) the Director, Bureau of Mines, or his delegate, with his

consent;

(2) the Director of the National Science Foundation, or his delegate, with his consent;

(3) the President, National Academy of Sciences, or his dele-

gate, with his consent;

(4) the President, National Academy of Engineering, or his delegate, with his consent;

(5) the Director, United States Geological Survay, or his dele-

gate, with his consent; and

(6) not more than four other persons who are knowledgeable in the fields of mining and mineral resources research, at least one of

whom shall be a representative of working coal miners.

(b) The Secretary shall designate the Chairman of the Advisory Committee. The Advisory Committee shall consult with, and make recommendations to, the Secretary of the Interior on all matters involving or relating to mining and mineral resources research and such determinations as provided in this title. The Secretary of the Interior shall consult with, and consider recommendations of, such Committee in the conduct of mining and mineral resources research and the making of any grant under this title.

(c) Advisory Committee members, other than officers or employees of Federal, State. or local governments, shall be, for each day (including traveltime) during which they are performing committee business, entitled to receive compensation at a rate fixed by the Secretary, but not in excess of the maximum rate of pay for grade GS-18 as provided in the General Schedule under section 5332 of title 5 of the United States Code, and shall, notwithstanding the limitations of sections 5703 and 5704 of title 5 of the United States Code, be fully reimbursed

for travel, subsistence, and related expenses.

TITLE IV-ABANDONED MINE RECLAMATION

ABANDONED COAL MINE RECLAMATION FUND

SEC. 401. (a) There is created on the books of the Treasury of the United States a trust fund to be known as the Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund (hereinafter referred to as the "fund") which shall be administered by the Secretary of the Interior.

(b) The fund shall consist of amounts deposited in the fund, from

time to time, derived from-

(1) the sale, lease, or rental of land reclaimed pursuant to this

title:

(2) any user charge imposed on or for land reclaimed pursuant to this title, after expenditures for maintenance have been deducted; and

(3) the reclamation fees levied under subsection (d) of this

section.

(c) Amounts covered into the fund shall be available for the acquistion and reclamation of land under section 405, administration of the fund and enforcement and collection of the fee as specified in subsection (d), acquisition and filling of voids and sealing of tunnels, shafts, and entryways under section 406, and for use under section 404, by the Secretary of Agriculture, of up to one-fifth of the money deposited in the fund annually and transferred by the Secretary of the Interior to the Secretary of Agriculture for such purposes. Such amounts shall be available for such purposes only when appropriated therefor; and such appropriations may be made without fiscal year limitation.

(d) All operators of coal mining operations subject to the provisions of this Act shall pay to the Secretary of the Interior, for deposit in the fund, a reclamation fee of thirty-five cents per ton of coal produced by surface coal mining and twenty-five cents per ton of coal produced by underground mining or 10 per centum of the value of the coal at the mine, as determined by the Secretary, whichever is less. Such fee shall be paid each calendar quarter occurring after the date of enactment of this Act, beginning with the first calendar quarter (or part thereof) occurring after such date of enactment and ending ten years after the date of enactment of this Act unless extended by an Act of Congress. At the end of each three-year period following the date of enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall adjust the fee to reflect any change in the cost of living index since the beginning of such three-year period.

(e) The geographic allocation of expenditures from the fund shall reflect both the area from which the revenue was derived as well as the program needs for the funds. Fifty per centum of the funds collected annually in any State or Indian reservation shall be expended in that State or Indian reservation by the Secretary to accomplish the purposes of this title: Provided, however, That if such funds have not been expended within three years after being paid into the fund, they shall be available for expenditure in any area. The balance of funds collected on an annual basis may be expended in any area at the discretion of the Secretary in order to meet the purposes of this

title.

OBJECTIVES OF FUND

SEC. 402. Objectives for the obligation of funds for the reclamation of previously mined areas shall reflect the following priorities in the order stated:

(a) the protection of health or safety of the public;

(b) protection of the environment from continued degradation and the conservation of land and water resources;

(c) the protection, construction, or enhancement of public facilities such as utilities, roads, recreation, and conservation facilities and their use:

(d) the improvement of lands and water to a suitable condition useful in the economic and social development of the area

affected; and

"(e) research and demonstration projects relating to the development of surface mining reclamation and water quality control program methods and techniques in all areas of the United States.

ELIGIBLE LANDS

SEC. 403. The only land eligible for reclamation expenditures under this title are those which were mined for coal or which were affected by such mining, wastebanks, coal processing, or other coal mining processes, and abandoned or left in an inadequate reclamation status prior to the date of enactment of this Act, and for which there is no continuing reclamation responsibility under State or other Federal laws.

RECLAMATION OF RURAL LANDS

SEC. 404. (a) In order to provide for the control and prevention of erosion and sediment damages from unreclaimed mined lands, and to promote the conservation and development of soil and water resources of unreclaimed mined lands and lands affected by mining, the Secretary of Agriculture is authorized to enter into agreements, of not more than ten years with landowners (including owners of water rights) residents and tenants, and individually or collectively, determined by him to have control for the period of the agreement of lands in question therein, providing for land stabilization, erosion, and sediment control, and reclamation through conservation treatment, including measures for the conservation and development of soil, water (excluding stream channelization), woodland, wildlife, and recreation resources, of such lands. Such agreements shall be made by the Secretary with the owners, including owners of water rights, residents, or tenants (collectively or individually) of the lands in question.

(b) The landowner, including the owner of water rights, resident, or tenant shall furnish to the Secretary of Agriculture a conservation and development plan setting forth the proposed land uses and conservation treatment which shall be mutually agreed by the Secretary of Agriculture and the landowner, including owner of water rights, resident, or tenant to be needed on the lands for which the plan was prepared. In those instances where it is determined that the water rights or water supply of a tenant, landowner, including owner of water rights, residents, or tenant have been adversely affected by a sur-

face or underground coal mine operation which has removed or disturbed a stratum so as to significantly affect the hydrologic balance, such plan may include proposed measures to enhance water quality or quantity by means of joint action with other affected landowners, including owner of water rights, residents, or tenants in consultation with appropriate State and Federal agencies.

(c) Such plan shall be incorporated in an agreement under which the landowner, including owner of water rights, resident, or tenant shall agree with the Secretary of Agriculture to effect the land uses and conservation treatment provided for in such plan on the lands described in the agreement in accordance with the terms and condi-

tions thereof.

(d) In return for such agreement by the landowner, including owner of water rights, resident, or tenant the Secretary of Agriculture is authorized to furnish financial and other assistance to such landowner, including owner of water rights, resident, or tenant in such amounts and subject to such conditions as the Secretary of Agriculture determines are appropriate and in the public interest for carrying out the land use and conservation treatment set forth in the agreement. Grants made under this section shall not exceed 80 per centum of the cost of carrying out such land uses and conservation treatment on not more than thirty acres of land occupied by such owner including water rights owners, resident or tenant, or on not more than thirty acres of land which has been purchased jointly by such landowners including water rights owners, residents, or tenant under an agreement for the enhancement of water quality or quantity or on land which has been acquired by an appropriate State or local agency for the purpose of implementing such agreement.

(e) The Secretary of Agriculture may terminate any agreement with a landowner including water rights owners, operator, or occupied by mutual agreement if the Secretary of Agriculture determines that such termination would be in the public interest, and may agree to such modification of agreements previously entered into hereunder as he deems desirable to carry out the purposes of this section or to facilitate the practical administration of the program authorized herein.

(f) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the Secretary of Agriculture, to the extent he deems it desirable to carry out the purposes of this section, may provide in any agreement hereunder for (1) preservation for a period not to exceed the period covered by the agreement and an equal period thereafter of the cropland, crop acreage, and allotment history applicable to land covered by the agreement for the purpose of any Federal program under which such history is used as a basis for an allotment or other limitation on the production of such crop; or (2) surrender of any such history and allotments.

(g) The Secretary of Agriculture shall be authorized to issue such rules and regulations as he determines are necessary to carry out the

provisions of this section.

(h) In carrying out the provisions of this section, the Secretary of Agriculture shall utilize the services of the Soil Conservation Service.

(i) Funds shall be made available to the Secretary of Agriculture for the purposes of this section, as provided in section 401(c).

ACQUISITION AND RECLAMATION OF ABANDONED AND UNRECLAIMED MINED LANDS

Sec. 405 (a) (1) The Congress hereby declares that the acquisition of any interest in land or mineral rights in order to eliminate hazards to the environment or to the health or safety of the public from mined lands, or to construct, operate, or manage reclamation facilities and projects constitutes acquisition for a public use or purpose, notwithstanding that the Secretary plans to hold the interest in land or mineral rights so acquired as an open space or for recreation, or to resell the land following completion of the reclamation facility or

project.

(2) The Secretary may acquire by purchase, donation, or otherwise, land or any interest therein which has been affected by surface mining and has not been reclaimed to its approximate original condition. Prior to making any acquisition of land under this section, the Secretary shall make a thorough study with respect to those tracts of land which are available for acquisition under this section and based upon those findings he shall select lands for purchase according to the priorities established in section 402. Title to all lands or interests therein acquired shall be taken in the name of the United States. The price paid for land under this section shall take into account the unrestored condition of the land. Prior to any individual acquisition under this section, the Secretary shall specifically determine the cost of such acquisition and reclamation and the benefits to the public to be gained therefrom.

(3) For the purposes of this section, when the Secretary seeks to acquire an interest in land or mineral rights, and cannot negotiate an agreement with the owner of such interest or right he shall request the Attorney General to file a condemnation suit and take interest or right, following a tender of just compensation awarded by a jury to such person. When the Secretary determines that time is of the essence because of the likelihood of continuing or increasingly harmful effects upon the environment which would substantially increase the cost or magnitude of reclamation or of continuing or increasingly serious threats to life, safety, or health, or to property, the Secretary may take such interest or rights immediately upon payment by the United States either to such person or into a court of competent jurisdiction of such amount as the Secretary shall estimate to the the fair market value of such interest or rights; except that the Secretary shall also pay to such person any further amount that may be subsequently awarded by a jury, with interest from the date of the taking.

(4) For the purposes of this section, when the Secretary takes action to acquire an interest in land and cannot determine which person or persons hold title to such interest or rights, the Secretary shall request the Attorney General to file a condemnation suit, and give notice, and may take such interest or rights immediately upon payment into court of such amount as the Secretary shall estimate to be the fair market value of such interest or rights. If a person or persons establishes title to such interest or rights within six years from the time of their taking, the court shall transfer the payment to such person or persons and the Secretary shall pay any further amount that

may be agreed to pursuant to negotiations or awarded by a jury subsequent to the time of taking. If no person or persons establish title to the interest or rights within six years from the time of such taking, the payment shall revert to the Secretary and be deposited in the fund.

(5) States are encouraged to acquire abandoned and unreclaimed mined lands within their boundaries and to transfer such lands to the Secretary to be reclaimed under appropriate Federal regulations. The Secretary is authorized to make grants on a matching basis to States in such amounts as he deems appropriate for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this title but in no event shall any grant exceed 90 per centum of the cost of acquisition of the lands for which the grant is made. When a State has made any such land available to the Federal Government under this title, such State shall have a preference right to purchase such lands after reclamation at fair market value less the State portion of the original acquisition price. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (1) of this subsection, reclaimed land may be sold to the State or local government in which it is located at a price less than fair market value, which in no case shall be less than the cost to the United States of the purchase and reclamation of the land, as negotiated by the Secretary, to be used for a valid public purpose. If any land sold to a State or local government under this paragraph is not used for a valid public purpose as specified by the Secretary in the terms of the sales agreement then all right, title, and interest in such land shall revert to the United States. Money received from such sale shall be deposited in the fund.

(6) The Secretary shall prepare specifications for the reclamation of lands acquired under this section. In preparing these specifications, the Secretary shall utilize the specialized knowledge of experience of any Federal department or agency which can assist him in the development of implementation of the reclamation program required under

this title.

(7) In selecting lands to be acquired pursuant to this section and in formulating regulations for the making of grants to the States to acquire lands pursuant to this title, the Secretary shall give priority to lands in this unreclaimed state which will meet the objectives as stated in section 402 above when reclaimed. For those lands which are reclaimed for public recreational use, the revenue derived from such lands shall be used first to assure proper maintenance of such funds and facilities thereon and any remaining moneys shall be deposited in the funds.

(8) Where land reclaimed pursuant to this section is deemed to be suitable for industrial, commercial, residential, or private recreational development, the Secretary may sell such land by public sale under a system of competitive bidding, at not less than fair market value and under such other regulations as he may promulgate to insure that such lands are put to proper use, as determined by the Secretary. If any such land sold is not put to the rse specified by the Secretary in the terms of the sales agreement, then all right, title, and interest in such land shall revert to the United States. Money received from such sale shall be deposited in the fund.

(9) The Secretary shall hold a public hearing, with the appropriate notice, in the county or counties or the appropriate subdivisions of the

State in which lands acquired to be reclaimed pursuant to this title are located. The hearings shall be held at a time which shall afford local citizens and governments the maximum opportunity to participate in the decision conserving the maximum opportunity to participate in

the decision concerning the use of the lands once reclaimed.

(b) (1) The Secretary is authorized to use money in the fund to acquire, reclaim, develop, and transfer land to any State, or any department, agency, or instrumentality of a State or of a political subdivision thereof, or to any person, firm, association, or corporation if he determines that such is an integral and necessary element of an economically feasible plan for a project to construct or rehabilitate housing for persons employed in mines or work incidental thereto, persons disabled as the result of such employment, persons displaced by governmental action, or persons, dislocated as the result of natural disasters or catastrophic failure from any cause. Such activities shall be accomplished under such terms and conditions as the Secretary shall require, which may include transfers of land with or without monetary consideration: Provided, That, to the extent that the consideration is below the fair market value of the land transferred, no portion of the difference between the fair market value and the consideration shall accrue as a profit to such person, firm, association, or corporation. Land development may include the construction of public facilities or other improvements including reasonable site work and offsite improvements such as sewer and water extensions which the Secretary determines necessary or appropriate to the economic feasibility of a project. No part of the funds provided under this title may be used to pay the actual construction costs of housing.

(2) The Secretary may carry out the purposes of this subsection directly or he may make grants and commitments for grants, and may advance money under such terms and conditions as he may require to any State, or any department, agency, or instrumentality of a State, or any public body or nonprofit organization designated by a State.

(3) The Secretary may provide, or contract with public and private organizations to provide information, advice, and technical assistance,

including demonstrations, in furtherance of this subsection.

(4) The Secretary may make expenditures to carry out the purposes of this subsection, without regard to the provisions of section 403, in any area experiencing a rapid development of its coal resources which the Secretary has determined does not have adequate housing facilities.

FILLING VOIDS AND SEALING TUNNELS

SEC. 406. (a) The Congress declares that voids and open and abandoned tunnels, shafts, and entryways resulting from mining constitute a hazard to the public health or safety. The Secretary, at the request of the Governor of any State, is authorized to fill such voids and seal such abandoned tunnels, shafts, and entryways which the Secretary determines could endanger life and property or constitute a hazard to the public health or safety.

(b) In those instances where mine waste piles are being reworked for coal conservation purposes, the incremental costs of disposing of the wastes from such operations by filling voids and sealing tunnels may be eligible for funding providing that the disposal of these wastes

meet the purposes of this section.

(c) The Secretary may acquire by purchase, donation, or otherwise such interest in land as he determines necessary to carry out the provisions of this section.

FUND REPORT

FUND REPORT

SEC. 407. Not later than January 1, 1976, and annually thereafter, the Secretary shall report to the Congress on operations under the fund together with his recommendations as to future uses of the fund.

TRANSFER OF FUNDS

Sec. 408. The Secretary of the Interior may transfer funds to other appropriate Federal agencies, in order to carry out the reclamation activities authorized by this title.

TITLE V—CONTROL OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF SURFACE COAL MINING

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION STANDARDS

Sec. 501. Not later than the end of the one-hundred-and-eighty-day period immediately following the date of enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall promulgate and publish in the Federal Register regulations covering a permanent regulatory procedure for surface coal mining and reclamation operations setting mining and reclamation performance standards based on and incorporating the provisions of title V and establishing procedures and requirements for preparation, submission, and approval of State programs and development and implementation of Federal programs under this title. Such regulations shall not be promulgated and published by the Secretary until he has—

(A) published proposed regulations in the Federal Register and afforded interested persons and State and local governments a period of not less than forty-five days after such publication to

submit written comments thereon;

(B) obtained the written concurrence of the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency with respect to those regulations promulgated under this section which relate to air or water quality standards promulgated under the authority of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended (33 U.S.C. 1151-1175), and the Clean Air Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. 1857); and

(C) held at least one public hearing on the proposed regulations.

The date, time, and place of any hearing held on the proposed regulations shall be set out in the publication of the proposed regulations. The Secretary shall consider all comments and relevant data presented at such hearing before final promulgation and publication of the regulations.

INITIAL REGULATORY PROCEDURES

SEC. 502. (a) No person shall open or develop any new or previously mined or abandoned site for surface coal mining operations on lands on which such operations are regulated by a State unless such person has obtained a permit from the State regulatory authority.

- (b) All surface coal mining operations on lands on which such operations are regulated by the State which commence operations pursuant to a permit issued on or after the date of enactment of this Act shall comply, and such permits shall contain terms requiring compliance with the provisions of subsections 515(b)(2), 515(b)(3), 515(b)(5), 515(b)(10), 515(b)(13), 515(b)(19), and 515(d) of this Act.
- (c) On and after one hundred thirty-five days from the date of enactment of this Act, all surface coal mining operations on lands on which such operations are regulated by a State which are in operation pursuant to a permit issued before the date of enactment of this Act shall comply with the provisions of subsections 515(b)(2), 515(b)(3), 515(b)(5), 515(b)(10), 515(b)(13), 515(b)(19), and 515(d) of this Act, with respect to lands from which overburden and the coal seam being mined have not been removed.

(d) Upon the request of the permit applicant or permittee subsequent to a written finding by the regulatory authority and under the conditions and procedures set forth in subsection 515(c), the regulatory authority may grant variances from the requirement to restore to approximate original contour set forth in subsections 515(b)(3) and

515(d).

(e) Not later than twenty months from the date of enactment of this Act, all operators of surface coal mines in expectation of operating such mines after the date of approval of a State program, or the implementation of a Federal program, shall file an application for a permit with the regulatory authority, such application to cover those lands to be mined after the date of approval of the State program. The regulatory authority shall process such applications and grant or deny a permit within six months after the date of approval of the State program, but in no case later than thirty months from the date of enactment of this Act.

(f) No later than one hundred and thirty-five days from the date of enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall implement a Federal enforcement program which shall remain in effect in each State in which there is surface coal mining until the State program has been approved pursuant to this Act or until a Federal program has been implemented

pursuant to this Act. The enforcement program shall—

(1) include inspections of surface coal mine sites which shall be made on a random basis (but at least one inspection for every site every three months), without advance notice to the mine operator and for the purpose of ascertaining compliance with the standards of subsection (b) above. The Secretary shall order any necessary enforcement action to be implemented pursuant to the Federal enforcement provision of this title to correct violations identified at the inspections;

(2) provide that upon receipt of inspection reports indicating that any surface coal mining operation has been found in violation of subsection (b) above, during not less than two consecutive State inspections or upon receipt by the Secretary of information which would give rise to reasonable belief that such standards are being violated by any surface coal mining operation, the Secretary shall order the immediate inspection of such operation by Federal

inspectors and the necessary enforcement actions, if any, to be implemented pursuant to the Federal enforcement provisions of this title. When the Federal inspection results from information provided to the Secretary by any person, the Secretary shall notify such person when the Federal inspection is proposed to be carried out and such person shall be allowed to accompany the inspector during the inspection:

(3) for purposes of this section, the term "Federal inspector" means personnel of the Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement and such additional personnel of the United States Geological Survey, Bureau of Land Management, or of the Mining Enforcement and Safety Administration so designated by the Secretary, or such other personnel of the Forest Service, Soil Conservation Service, or the Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service as arranged by appropriate agreement with the Secretary on a reimbursable or other basis;

(4) provide that the State regulatory agency file with the Secretary and with a designated Federal office centrally located in the county or area in which the inspected surface coal mine is located

copies of inspection reports made;

(5) provide that moneys authorized by section 714 shall be available to the Secretary prior to the approval of a State program pursuant to this Act to reimburse the States for conducting those inspections in which the standards of this Act are enforced and for the administration of this section.

(g) Following the final disapproval of a State program, and prior to promulgation of a Federal program or a Federal lands program pursuant to this Act, including judicial review of such a program, existing surface coal mining operations may continue surface mining operations pursuant to the provisions of section 502 of this Act.

STATE PROGRAMS

Sec. 503. (a) Each State in which there is or may be conducted surface coal mining operations, and which wishes to assume exclusive jurisdiction over the regulation of surface coal mining and reclamation operations, except as provided in section 521 and title IV of this Act, shall submit to the Secretary, by the end of the eighteen-month period beginning on the date of enactment of this Act, a State program which demonstrates that such State has the capability of carrying out the provisions of this Act and meeting its purposes through—

(1) a State law which provides for the regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations in accordance with the requirements of this Act and the regulations issued by the Secretary

pursuant to this Act:

(2) a State law which provides sanctions for violations of State laws, regulations, or conditions of permits concerning surface mining and reclamation operations, which sanctions shall meet the minimum requirements of this Act, including civil and criminal actions, forfeiture of bonds, suspension, revocation, and withholding of permits, and the issuance of cease-and-desist orders by the State regulatory authority or its inspectors:

(3) a State regulatory authority with sufficient administrative and technical personnel, and sufficient funding to enable the State to regulate surface coal mining and reclamation operations in accordance with the requirements of this Act:

(4) a State law which provides for the effective implementation, maintenance, and enforcement of a permit system, meeting the requirements of this title for the regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations for coal on lands within the State:

(5) establishment of a process for the designation of areas as unsuitable for surface coal mining in accordance with section 522;

(6) establishment, for the purpose of avoiding duplication, of a process for coordinating the review and issuance of permits for surface mining and reclamation operations with any other Federal or State permit process applicable to the proposed operations.

(b) The Secretary shall not approve any State program submitted

under this section until he has-

(1) solicited and publicly disclosed the views of the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency, the Secretary of Agriculture, and the heads of other Federal agencies concerned with or having special expertise pertinent to the proposed State

program.

(2) obtained the written concurrence of the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency with respect to those aspects of a State program which relate to air or water quality standards promulgated under the authority of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended (33 U.S.C. 1151–1175), and the Clean Air Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. 1857);

(3) held at least one public hearing on the State program

within the State; and

(4) found that the State has the legal authority and qualified personnel necessary for the enforcement of the environmental protection standards.

The Secretary shall approve or disapprove a State program, in whole or in part, within six full calendar months after the date such State

program was submitted to him.

- (c) If the Secretary disapproves any proposed State program in whole or in part, he shall notify the State in writing of his decision and set forth in detail the reasons therefor. The State shall have sixty days in which to resubmit a revised State program, or portion thereof: The Secretary shall approve or disapprove the resubmitted State program or portion thereof within sixty days from the date of resubmission.
- (d) For the purposes of this section and section 504, the inability of a State to take any action the purpose of which is to prepare, submit, or enforce a State Program, or any portion thereof, because the action is enjoined by the issuance of an injunction by any court of competent jurisdiction shall not result in a loss of eligibility for financial assistance under titles IV and VII of this Act or in the imposition of a Federal Program. Regulation of the surface coal mining and reclamation operations covered or to be covered by the State Program subject to the injunction shall be conducted by the State pursuant to Section

502 of this Act, until such time as the injunction terminates or for one year, whichever is shorter, at which time the requirements of sections 503 and 504 shall again be fully applicable.

FEDERAL PROGRAMS

SEC. 504. (a) The Secretary shall prepare and, subject to the provisions of this section, promulgate and implement a Federal program for a State if such State—

(1) fails to submit a State program covering surface mining and reclamation operations by the end of the eighteen-month pe-

riod beginning on the date of enactment of this Act;

(2) fails to resubmit an acceptable State program within sixty days of disapproval of a proposed State program: Provided, That the Secretary shall not implement a Federal program prior to the expiration of the initial period allowed for submission of a State program as provided for in clause (1) of this subsection; or

(3) fails to implement, enforce, or maintain its approved State

program as provided for in this Act.

If State compliance with clause (1) of this subsection requires an act of the State legislature the Secretary may extend the period for submission of a State program up to an additional six months. Promulgation and implementation of a Federal program vests the Secretary with exclusive jurisdiction for the regulation and control of surface mining and reclamation operations taking place on lands within any State not in compliance with this Act. After promulgation and implementation of a Federal program the Secretary shall be the regulatory authority. In promulgating and implementing a Federal program for a particular State the Secretary shall take into consideration the nature of that State's terrain, climate, biological, chemical, and other relevant physical conditions.

(b) In the event that a State has a State program for surface coal mining, and is not enforcing any part of such program, the Secretary may provide for the Federal enforcement, under the provisions of section 521, of that part of the State program not being enforced

by such State.

(c) Prior to promulgation and implementation of any proposed Federal program, the Secretary shall give adequate public notice and

hold a public hearing in the affected State.

(d) Permits issued pursuant to an approved State program shall be valid but reviewable under a Federal program. Immediately following promulgation of a Federal program, the Secretary shall undertake to review such permits to determine that the requirements of this Act are not violated. If the Secretary determines any permit to have been granted contrary to the requirements of this Act, he shall so advise the permittee and provide him a reasonable opportunity for submission of a new application and reasonable time to conform ongoing surface mining and reclamation operations to the requirements of the Federal program.

(e) A State which has failed to obtain the approval of a State program prior to implementation of a Federal program may submit a State program at any time after such implementation. Upon the sub-

mission of such a program, the Secretary shall follow the procedures set forth in section 503(b) and shall approve or disapprove the State program within six months after its submittal. Approval of a State program shall be based on the determination that the State has the capability of carrying out the provisions of this Act and meeting its purposes through the criteria set forth in section 503(a) (1) through (6). Until a State program is approved as provided under this section, the Federal program shall remain in effect and all actions taken by the Secretary pursuant to such Federal program, including the terms and conditions of any permit issued thereunder, shall remain in effect.

(f) Permits issued pursuant to the Federal program shall be valid but reviewable under the approved State program. The State regulatory authority may review such permits to determine that the requirements of this Act and the approved State program are not violated. If the State regulatory authority determines any permit to have been granted contrary to the requirements of the Act or the approved State program, he shall so advise the permittee and provide him a reasonable opportunity for submission of a new application and reasonable time to conform ongoing surface mining and reclamation operations to the requirements of the Act or approved State program.

(g) Whenever a Federal program is promulgated for a State pursuant to this Act, any statutes or regulations of such State which are in effect to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations subject to this Act shall, insofar us they interfere with the achievement of the purposes and the requirements of this Act and the Federal program, be preempted and superseded by the Federal program.

(h) Any Federal program shall include a process for coordinating the review and issuance of permits for surface mining and reclamation operations with any other Federal or State permit process applicable

to the proposed operation.

STATE LAWS

Sec. 505. (a) No State law or regulation in effect on the date of enactment of this Act, or which may become effective thereafter, shall be superseded by any provision of this Act or any regulation issued pursuant thereto, except insofar as such State law or regulation is

inconsistent with the provisions of this Act.

(b) Any provision of any State law or regulation in effect upon the date of enactment of this Act, or which may become effective thereafter, which provides for more stringent land use and environmental controls and regulations of surface coal mining and reclamation operations than do the provisions of this Act or any regulation issued pursuant thereto shall not be construed to be inconsistent with this Act. Any provision of any State law or regulation in effect on the date of enactment of this Act, or which may become effective thereafter, which provides for the control and regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations for which no provision is contained in this Act shall not be construed to be inconsistent with this Act.

(c) Nothing in this Act shall be construed as affecting in any way the right of any person to enforce or protect, under applicable State law, his interest in water resources affected by a surface coal mining

operation.

Sec. 506. (a) After the expiration of the thirty month period following the date of enactment of this Act, no person shall engage in or carry out on lands within a State any surface coal mining operations unless such person has first obtained a permit issued by such State pursuant to an approved State program or by the Secretary pursuant to a Federal program; except a person conducting surface coal mining operations existing at the date of enactment of this Act under a valid permit from the State regulatory authority may conduct such operations beyond such period if an application for a permit has been filed in accordance with the provisions of this Act, but the initial administrative decision has not been rendered.

(b) All permits issued pursuant to the requirements of this Act shall be issued for a term not to exceed five years and shall be non-transferable: Provided, That a successor in interest to a permittee who applies for a new permit within thirty days of succeeding to such interest and who is able to obtain the bond coverage of the original permittee may continue surface coal mining and reclamation operations according to the approved mining and reclamation plan of the original permittee until such successor's application is granted or

denied.

(c) A permit shall terminate if the permittee has not commenced the surface coal mining and reclamation operations covered by such

permit within three years of the issuance of the permit.

(d) (1) Any valid permit issued pursuant to this Act shall carry with it the right of successive renewal upon expiration with respect to areas within the boundaries of the existing permit. The holder of the permit may apply for renewal and such renewal shall be issued, subsequent to public hearing upon the following requirements and written finding by the regulatory authority that—

(A) the terms and conditions of the existing permit are being

satisfactorily met:

(B) the present surface coal mining and reclamation operation is in full compliance with the environmental protection standards of this Act and the approved State plan pursuant to this Act;

(C) the renewal requested does not jeopardize the operator's

continuing responsibility on existing permit areas;

(D) the operator has provided evidence that the performance bond in effect for said operation will continue in full force and effect for any renewal requested in such application as well as any additional bond the regulatory authority might require pursuant to section 509; and

(E) any additional revised or updated information required by the regulatory authority has been provided. Prior to the approval of any extension of permit the regulatory authority shall

provide notice to the appropriate public authorities.

(2) If an application for renewal of a valid permit includes a proposal to extend the mining operation beyond the boundaries authorized in the existing permit, the portion of the application for revision of a valid permit which addresses any new land areas shall be subject to the full standards applicable to new applications under this Act.

(3) Any permit renewal shall be for a term not to exceed the period of the original permit established by this Act. Application for permit renewal shall be made at least one hundred and twenty days prior to the expiration of the valid permit.

APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS

SEC. 507. (a) Each application for a surface coal mining and reclamation permit pursuant to an approved State program or a Federal program under the provisions of this Act shall be accompanied by a fee as determined by the regulatory authority. Such fee shall be based as nearly as possible upon the actual or anticipated cost of reviewing, administering, and enforcing such permit issued pursuant to a State or Federal program.

(b) The permit application shall be submitted in a manner satisfactory to the regulatory authority and shall contain, among other

things—

(1) the names and addresses of (A) the permit applicant; (B) every legal owner of record of the property (surface and mineral) to be mined; (C) the holders of record of any leasehold interest in the property; (D) any purchaser of record of the property under a real estate contract; (E) the operator if he is a person different from the applicant; and (F) if any of these are business entities other than a single proprietor, the names and addresses of the principals, officers, and resident agent;

(2) the names and addresses of the owners of record of all surface and subsurface areas within five hundred feet of any part of

the permit area:

(3) a statement of any current or previous surface coal mining permits in the United States held by the applicant and the permit

identification:

(4) if the applicant is a partnership, corporation, association, or other business entity, the following where applicable: the names and addresses of every officer, partner, director, or person performing a function similar to a director, of the applicant, together with the name and address of any person owning, of record or beneficially either alone or with associates, 10 per centum or more of any class of stock of the applicant and a list of all names under which the applicant, partner, or principal shareholder previously operated a surface mining operation within the United States;

(5) a statement of whether the applicant, any subsidiary, affiliate, or persons controlled by or under common control with the applicant, has ever held a Federal or State mining permit which subsequent to 1960 has been suspended or revoked or has had a mining bond or similar security deposited in lieu of bond forfeited

and, if so, a brief explanation of the fact involved:

(6) a copy of the applicant's advertisement to be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the locality of the proposed site at least once a week for four successive weeks, and which includes the ownership, a description of the exact location and boundaries of the proposed site sufficient so that the proposed operation is readily locatable by local residents, and the location of where the application is available for public inspection:

(7) a description of the type and method of coal mining operation that exists or is proposed, the engineering techniques proposed or used, and the equipment used or proposed to be used;

(8) the anticipated or actual starting and termination dates of each phase of the mining operation and number of acres of

land to be affected;

(9) evidence of the applicant's legal right to enter and com-

mence surface mining operations on the area affected;

(10) the name of the watershed and location of the surface stream or tributary into which surface and pit drainage will be

discharged;

(11) a determination of the hydrologic consequences of the mining and reclamation operations, both on and off the mine site, with respect to the hydrologic regime, quantity and quality of water in surface and ground water systems including the dissolved and suspended solids under seasonal flow conditions and the collection of sufficient data for the mine site and surrounding area so that an assessment can be made of the probable cumulative impacts of all anticipated mining in the area upon the hydrology of the area and particularly upon water availability;

(12) when requested by the regulatory authority, the climatological factors that are peculiar to the locality of the land to be affected, including the average seasonal precipitation, the average direction and velocity of prevailing winds, and the

seasonal temperature ranges:

(13) an accurate map or plan to an appropriate scale clearly showing (a) the land to be affected as of the date of application and (b) all types of information set forth on topographical maps of the United States geological survey of a scale of 1:24,000 or larger, including all man-made features and significant known archeological sites existing on the date of application;

Such a map or plan shall among other things specified by the regulatory authority show all boundaries of the land to be affected, the boundary lines and names of present owners of record of all surface areas abutting the permit area, and the location of all

buildings within one thousand feet of the permit area;

(14) cross-section maps or plans of the land to be affected including the actual area to be mined, prepared by or under the direction of and certified by a registered professional engineer, or registered land surveyor and a professional geologist (when specific subsurface information is deemed essential and requested by the regulatory authority), showing pertinent elevation and location of test borings or core samplings and depicting the following information: the nature and depth of the various strata of overburden; the location of subsurface water, if encountered, and its quality; the nature and thickness of any coal or rider seam above the coal seam to be mined; the nature of the stratum immediately beneath the coal seam to be mined; all mineral crop lines and the strike and dip of the coal to be mined within the area of land to be affected; existing or previous surface mining limits; the location and extent of known workings or any underground mines. including mine openings to the surface; the location of aquifers; the estimated elevation of the water table; the location of spoil, waste, or refuse areas and topsoil preservation areas; the location of all impoundments for waste or erosion control; any settling or water treatment facilities; constructed or natural drainways and the location of any discharges to any surface body of water on the area of land to be affected or adjacent thereto; and profiles at appropriate cross sections of the anticipated final surface configuration that will be achieved pursuant to the operator's proposed reclamation plan;

(15) a statement of the results of test borings or core samplings from the permit area, including logs of the drill holes; the thickness of the coal seam found, an analysis of the chemical properties of such coal; the sulfur content of any coal seam; chemical analysis of potentially acid or toxic forming sections of the overburden; and chemical analysis of the stratum lying immediately under-

neath the coal to be mined; and

(16) information pertaining to coal seams, test borings, or core samplings as required by this section shall be made available to any person with an interest which is or may be adversely affected: Provided, That information which pertains only to the analysis of the chemical and physical properties of the coal (excepting information regarding such mineral or elemental content which is potentially toxic in the environment), shall be kept confidential

and not made a matter of public record.

- (c) Each applicant for a permit shall be required to submit to the regulatory authority as part of the permit application a certificate issued by an insurance company authorized to do business in the United States certifying that the applicant has a public liability insurance policy in force for the surface mining and reclamation operations for which such permit is sought, or evidence that the applicant has satisfied other State or Federal self-insurance requirements. Such policy shall provide for personal injury and property damage protection in an amount adequate to compensate any persons damaged as a result of surface coal mining and reclamation operations and entitled to compensation under the applicable provisions of State law. Such policy shall be maintained in full force and effect during the term of the permit or any renewal, including the length of all reclamation operations.
- (d) Each applicant for a permit shall be required to submit to the regulatory authority as part of the permit application a reclamation plan which shall meet the requirements of this Act.
- (e) Each applicant for a surface coal mining and reclamation permit shall file a copy of his application for public inspection with the recorder at the courthouse of the county or an appropriate official approved by the regulatory authority where the mining is proposed to occur, except for that information pertaining to the coal seam itself.

RECLAMATION PLAN REQUIREMENTS

SEC. 508. (a) Each reclamation plan submitted as part of a permit application pursuant to any approved State program or a Federal program under the provisions of this Act shall include, in the degree

of detail necessary to demonstrate that reclamation required by the State or Federal program can be accomplished, a statement of:

(1) the identification of the entire area to be mined and affected over the estimated life of the mining operation and the size, sequence, and timing of the subareas for which it is anticipated that individual permits for mining will be sought;

(2) the condition of the land to be covered by the permit prior

to any mining including:

(A) the uses existing at the time of the application, and if the land has a history of previous mining, the uses which preceded any mining:

(B) the capability of the land prior to any mining to support a variety of uses giving consideration to soil and foundation characteristics, topography, and vegetative cover;

(3) the use which is proposed to be made of the land following reclamation, including a discussion of the utility and capacity of the reclaimed land to support a variety of alternative uses and the relationship of such use to existing land use policies and plans, and the comments of any State and local governments or agencies thereof which would have to approve or authorize the proposed use of the land following reclamation;

(4) a detailed description of how the proposed postmining land use is to be achieved and the necessary support activities

which may be needed to achieve the proposed land use;

(5) the engineering techniques proposed to be used in mining and reclamation and a description of the major equipment; a plan for the control of surface water drainage and of water accumulation; a plan, where appropriate, for backfilling, soil stabilization, and compacting, grading, and appropriate revegetation (where vegetation existed immediately prior to mining); and estimate of the cost per acre of the reclamation, including a statement as to how the permittee plans to comply with each of the requirements set out in section 515:

(6) the steps to be taken to comply with applicable air and water quality laws and regulations and any applicable health and

safety standards:

(7) the consideration which has been given to developing the reclamation plan in a manner consistent with local, physical, environmental, and climatological conditions and current mining and reclamation technologies;

(8) the consideration which has been given to insuring the

maximum practicable recovery of the mineral resource:

(9) a detailed estimated timetable for the accomplishment of

each major step in the reclamation plan;

(10) the consideration which has been given to making the surface mining and reclamation operations consistent with appli-

cable State and local land use plans and programs;

(11) all lands, interests in lands, or options on such interests held by the applicant or pending bids on interests in lands by the applicant, which lands are contiguous to the area to be covered by the permit;

(12) the results of test borings which the applicant has made at the area to be covered by the permit, including the location of subsurface water, and an analysis of the chemical properties including acid forming properties of the mineral and overburden: Provided, That information about the mineral shall be withheld by the regulatory authority if the applicant so requests:

(13) a detailed description of the measures to be taken during the mining and reclamation process to assure the protection of (A) the quantity and quality of surface and ground water systems, both on- and off-site, from adverse effects of the mining and reclamation process, and (B) the rights of present users to such

water: and

(14) such other requirements as the regulatory authority shall

prescribe by regulation.

(b) Any information required by this section which is not on public file pursuant to State law shall be held in confidence by the regulatory authority. PERFORMANCE RONDS

Sec. 509. (a) After a surface coal mining and reclamation permit application has been approved but before such a permit is issued, applicant shall file with the regulatory authority, on a form prescribed and furnished by the regulatory authority, a bond for performance payable, as appropriate, to the United States or to the State, and conditional upon faithful performance of all the requirements of this Act and the permit. The bond shall cover that area of land within the permit area upon which the operator will initiate and conduct surface coal mining and reclamation operations within the initial term of the permit. As succeeding increments of surface coal mining and reclamation operations are to be initiated and conducted within the permit area, the permittee shall file with the regulator authority an additional bond or bonds to cover such increments in accordance with this section. The amount of the bond required for each bonded area shall depend upon the reclamation requirements of the approved permit and shall be determined by the regulatory authority on the basis of at least two independent estimates. The amount of the bond shall be sufficient to assure the completion of the reclamation plan if the work had to be performed by a third party in the event of forfeiture and in no case shall the bond be less than \$10,000.

(b) Liability under the bond shall be for the duration of the surface mining and reclamation operation and for a period coincident with operator's responsibility for vegetation requirements in section 515.

The bond shall be executed by the operator and a corporate surety licensed to do business in the State where such operation is located, except that the operator may elect to deposit cash, negotiable bonds of the United States Government or such State, or negotiable certificates of deposit of any bank organized or transacting business in the United States. The cash deposit or market value of such securities shall be equal to or greater than the amount of the bond required for the bonded area.

(c) The regulatory authority may accept the bond of the applicant itself without separate surety when the applicant demonstrates to the satisfaction of the regulatory authority the existence of a suitable agent to receive service of process and a history of financial solvency and continuous operation sufficient for authorization to self-insure or bond such amount.

(d) Cash or securities so deposited shall be deposited upon the same terms as the terms upon which surety bonds may be deposited. Such securities shall be security for the repayment of such negotiable

certificate of deposit.

(e) The amount of the bond or deposit required and the terms of each acceptance of the applicant's bond shall be adjusted by the regulatory authority from time to time as affected land acreages are increased or decreased or where the cost of future reclamation obviously changes.

PERMIT APPROVAL OF DENIAL

Sec. 510. (a) Upon the basis of a complete mining application and reclamation plan or a revision or renewal thereof, as required by this Act and pursuant to an approved State program or Federal program under the provisions of this Act, including public notification and an opportunity for a public hearing as required by section 513, the regulatory authority shall grant or deny the application for a permit and notify the applicant in writing. Within ten days after the granting of a permit, the regulatory authority shall notify the State and the local official who has the duty of collecting real estate taxes in the local political subdivision in which the area of land to be affected is located that a permit has been issued and shall describe the location of the land.

(b) No permit, revision, or renewal application shall be approved unless the application affirmatively demonstrates and the regulatory authority finds in writing on the basis of the information set forth in the application or from information otherwise available which will be documented in the approval, and made available to the applicant, that—

(1) all the requirements of this Act and the State or Federal

program have been complied with;

(2) the applicant has demonstrated that reclamation as required by this Act and the State or Federal program can be accomplished under the reclamation plan contained in the permit application:

(3) the assessment of the probable cumulative impact of all anticipated mining in the area on the hydrologic balance specified in section 507(b) has been made and the proposed operation thereof has been designed to prevent irreparable offsite impacts

to hydrologic balance;

(4) the area proposed to be mined is not included within an area designated unsuitable for surface coal mining pursuant to section 522 of this Act or is not within an area being considered for such designation (unless in such an area as to which an administrative proceeding has commenced pursuant to section 522(a)(4)(D) of this Act, the operator making the permit application demonstrates that, prior to September 1, 1974, he has

made substantial legal and financial commitments in relation to the operation for which he is applying for a permit); and

(5) the proposed surface coal mining operation, if located west of the one hundredth meridian west longitude, would not have a substantial adverse effect on valley floors underlain by unconsolidated stream laid deposits where farming can be practiced in the form of flood irrigated or naturally subirrigated hay meadows or other crop lands (excluding undeveloped range lands), where such valley floors are significant to present or potential farming or

ranching operations.

(c) The applicant shall file with his permit application a schedule listing any and all notices of violations of this Act and any law, rule, or regulation of the United States or of any department or agency in the United States pertaining to air or water environmental protection incurred by the applicant in connection with any coal surface mining operation during the one-year period prior to the date of application. The schedule shall also indicate the final resolution of any such notice of violation. Where the schedule or other information available to the regulatory authority indicates that any surface coal mining operation owned or controlled by the applicant is currently in violation of this Act or such other laws referred to in this subsection, the permit shall not be issued until the applicant submits proof that such violation has been corrected or is in the process of being corrected to the satisfaction of the regulatory authority, department, or agency which has jurisdiction over such violation.

REVISION OF PERMITS

Sec. 511. (a) (1) During the term of the permit the permittee may submit an application, together with a revised reclamation plan, to

the regulatory authority for a revision of the permit.

(2) An application for a revision of a permit shall not be approved unless the regulatory authority finds that reciamation as required by this Act and the State or Federal program can be accomplished under the revised Reclamation Plan. The revision shall be approved or disapproved within a period of time established by the State or Federal program. The regulatory authority shall establish guidelines for a determination of the scale or extent of a revision request for which all permit application information requirements and procedures, including notice and hearings, shall apply: Provided that any revisions which propose a substantial change in the intended future use of the land or significant alterations in the Reclamation Plan shall, at a minimum be subject to notice and hearing requirements.

(3) Any extensions to the area covered by the permit except incidental boundary revisions must be made by application for another

permit

(b) No transfer, assignment or sale of the rights granted under any permit issued pursuant to this Act shall be made without the written

approval of the regulatory authority.

(c) The regulatory authority may require reasonable revision or modification of the permit provisions during the term of such permit: Provided, That such revision or modification shall be subject to notice and hearing requirements established by the State or Federal program.

COAL EXPLORATION PERMITS

Sec. 512 (a) Each State program or Federal program shall include a requirement that coal exploration operations which substantially disturb the natural land surface be conducted under a permit issued

by the regulatory authority.

(b) Each application for a coal exploration permit pursuant to an approved State or Federal program under the provisions of this Act shall be accompanied by a fee established by the regulatory authority. Such fee shall be based, as nearly as possible, upon the actual or anticipated cost of reviewing, administering, and enforcing such permit issued pursuant to a State or Federal program. The application and supporting technical data shall be submitted in a manner satisfactory to the regulatory authority and shall include a description of the purpose of the proposed exploration project. The supporting technical data shall include, among other things:

(1) a general description of the existing environment;

(2) the location of the area of exploration by either metes or bounds, lot, tract, range, or section, whichever is most applicable, including a copy of the pertinent United States Geological Survey topographical map or maps with the area to be explored delineated

(3) a description of existing roads, railroads, utilities, and

rights-of-way, if not shown on the topographical map;

(4) the location of all surface bodies of water, if not shown on

the topographical map;

(5) the planned approximate location of any access roads, cuts, drill holes, and necessary facilities that may be constructed in the course of exploration, all of which shall be plotted on the topographical map;

(6) the estimated time of exploration;

(7) the ownership of the surface land to be explored;

(8) the written permission of all surface landowners of any exploration activities, except where the applicant owns such exploration rights;

(9) provisions for reclamation of all land disturbed in exploration, including excavations, roads, drill holes, and the removal of

necessary facilities and equipment; and

(10) such other information as the regulatory authority may

require.

(c) Specifically identified information submitted by the applicant in the application and supporting technical data as confidential concerning trade secrets or privileged commercial or financial information which relates to the competitive rights of the applicant shall not be available for public examination.

(d) If an applicant is denied a coal exploration permit under this Act, or if the regulatory authority fails to act within a reasonable time, then the applicant may seek relief under the appropriate adminis-

trative procedures.

(e) Any person who conducts any coal exploration activities in connection with surface coal mining operations under this Act without first having obtained a permit to explore from the appropriate regulatory authority or shall fail to conduct such exploration activities in a manner consistent with his approved coal exploration permit, shall be subject to the provisions of section 518.

PUBLIC NOTICE AND PUBLIC HEARINGS

Sec. 513. (a) At the time of submission of an application for a surface coal mining and reclamation permit, or revision of an existing permit, pursuant to the provisions of this Act or an approved State program, the applicant shall submit to the regulatory authority a copy of his advertisement of the ownership, precise location, and boundaries of the land to be affected. At the time of submission such advertisement shall be placed in a local newspaper of general circulation in the locality of the proposed surface mine at least once a week for four consecutive weeks. The regulatory authority shall notify various local governmental bodies, planning agencies, and sewage and water treatment authorities, or water companies in the locality in which the proposed surface mining will take place, notifying them of the operator's intention to surface mine a particularly described tract of land and indicating the application's permit number and where a copy of the proposed mining and reclamation plan may be inspected. These local bodies, agencies, authorities, or companies have obligation to submit written comments within thirty days on the mining applications with respect to the effect of the proposed operation on the environment which are within their area of responsibility. Such comments shall be made available to the public at the same locations as are the mining applications.

(b) Any person with a valid legal interest or the officer or head of any Federal, State, or local governmental agency or authority shall have the right to file written objections to the proposed initial or revised application for a permit for surface coal mining and reclamation operation with the regulatory authority within thirty days after the last publication of the above notice. If written objections are filed and a hearing requested, the regulatory authority shall then hold a public hearing in the locality of the proposed mining within a reasonable time of the receipt of such objections. The date, time, and location of such public hearing shall be advertised by the regulatory authority in a newspaper of general circulation in the locality at least once a week for three consecutive weeks prior to the scheduled hearing date. The regulatory authority may arrange with the applicant upon request by any party to the administrative proceeding access to the proposed mining area for the purpose of gathering information relevant to the proceeding. At this public hearing, the applicant for a permit shall have the burden of establishing that his application is in compliance with the applicable State and Federal laws. Not less than ten days prior to any proposed hearing, the regulatory authority shall respond to the written objections in writing. Such response shall include the regulatory authority's preliminary proposals as to the terms and conditions, and amount of bond of a possible permit for the area in question and answers to material factual questions presented in the written objections. The regulatory authority's responsibility under this subsection shall in any event be to make publicly available its estimate as to any other

conditions of mining or reclamation which may be required or contained in the preliminary proposal. In the event all parties requesting the hearing stipulate agreement prior to the requested hearings, and

withdraw their request, such hearings need not be held.

(c) For the purpose of such hearing, the regulatory authority may administer oaths, subpense witnesses, or written or printed materials, compel attendance of the witnesses, or production of the materials, and take evidence including but not limited to site inspections of the land to be affected and other surface coal mining operations carried on by the applicant in the general vicinity of the proposed operation. A verbatim transcript and complete record of each public hearing shall be ordered by the regulatory authority.

DECISIONS OF REGULATORY AUTHORITY AND APPEALS

Sec. 514. (a) If a public hearing has been held pursuant to section 513(b) the regulatory authority shall issue and furnish the applicant for a permit and persons who are parties to the administrative proceedings with the written finding of the regulatory authority, granting or denying the permit in whole or in part and stating the rea-

sons therefor, within thirty days of said hearings.

(b) If there has been no public hearing held pursuant to section 513(b) the regulatory authority shall notify the applicant for a permit within a reasonable time, taking into account the time needed for proper investigation of the site, the complexity of the permit application and whether or not written objection to the application has been filed, whether the application has been approved or disapproved. If the application is approved, the permit shall be issued. If the application is disapproved, specific reasons therefor must be set forth in the notification. Within thirty days after the applicant is notified that the permit or any portion thereof has been denied, the applicant may request a hearing on the reasons for the said disapproval. The regulatory authority shall hold a hearing within thirty days of such request and provide notification to all interested parties at the time that the applicant is so notified. Within thirty days after the hearing the regulatory authority shall issue and furnish the applicant, and all persons who participated in the hearing, with the written decision of the regulatory authority granting or denying the permit in whole or in part and stating the reasons therefor.

(c) Any applicant or any person who has participated in the administrative proceedings as an objector, and who is aggrieved by the decision of the regulatory authority, or if the regulatory authority fails to act within a reasonable period of time, shall have the right of appeal for review by a court of competent jurisdiction in accordance

with State or Federal law.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

SEC. 515. (a) Any permit issued under any approved State or Federal program pursuant to this Act to conduct surface coal mining operations shall require that such surface coal mining operations will meet all applicable performance standards of this Act, and such other requirements as the regulatory authority shall promulgate.

(b) General performance standards shall be applicable to all surface coal mining and reclamation operations and shall require the operator as a minimum to—

(1) conduct surface coal mining operations so as to maximize the utilization and conservation of the solid fuel resource being recovered so that reaffecting the land in the future through sur-

face coal mining can be minimized:

(2) restore the land affected to a condition at least fully capable of supporting the uses which it was capable of supporting prior to any mining, or higher or better uses of which there is a reasonable likelihood, so long as such use or uses do not present any actual or probable hazard to public health or safety or pose any actual or probable threat of water diminution or pollution, and the permit applicants' declared proposed land use following reclamation is not deemed to be impractical or unreasonable, inconsistent with applicable land use policies and plans, involves unreasonable delay in implementation, or is violative of Federal, State, or local law;

(3) with respect to all surface coal mining operations backfill, compact (where advisable to insure statability or to prevent leaching of toxic materials), and grade in order to restore the approximate original contour of the land with all highwalls, spoil piles and depressions eliminated (unless small depressions are needed in order to retain moisture to assist revegetation or as otherwise authorized pursuant to this Act: Provided, however, That in surface coal mining which is carried out at the same location over a substantial period of time where the operation transects the coal deposit; and the thickness of the coal deposits relative to the volume of the overburden is large and where the operator demonstrates that the overburden and other spoil and waste materials at a particular point in the permit area or otherwise available from the entire permit area is insufficient, giving due consideration to volumetric expansion, to restore the approximate original contour, the operator, at a minimum, shall backfill, grade, and compact (where advisable) using all available overburden and other spoil and waste materials to attain the lowest practicable grade but not more than the angle or repose, to provide adequate drainage and to cover all acid-forming and other toxic materials, in order to achieve an ecologically sound land use compatible with the surrounding region: And provided further, That in surface coal mining where the volume of overburden is large relative to the thickness of the coal deposit and where the operator demonstrates that due to volumetric expansion the amount of overburden and other spoil and waste materials removed in the course of the mining operation is more than sufficient to restore the approximate original contour, the operator shall after restoring the approximate contour, backfill, grade, and compact (where advisable) the excess overburden and other spoil and waste materials to attain the lowest grade but not more than the angle of repose, and to consider all acid-forming and other toxic materials, in order to achieve an ecologically sound land use compatible with the surrounding region and that such overburden or spoil shall

be shaped and graded in such a way as to prevent slides, erosion, and water pollution and is revegetated in accordance with the requirements of this Act;

(4) stabilize and protect all surface areas including spoil piles affected by the mining and reclamation operation to effectively

control erosion and attendant air and water pollution;

(5) remove the topsoil from the land in a separate layer, replace it on the backfill area, or if not utilized immediately, segregate it in a separate pile from other spoil and when the topsoil is not replaced on a backfill area within a time short enough to avoid deterioration of the topsoil, maintain a successful cover by quick growing plant or other means thereafter so that the topsoil is preserved from wind and water erosion, remains free of any contamination by other acid or toxic material, and is in a usable condition for sustaining vegetation when restored during reclamation, except if topsoil is of insufficient quantity or of poor quality for sustaining vegetation, or if other strata can be shown to be more suitable for vegetation requirements, then the operator shall remove, segregate, and preserve in a like manner such other strata which is best able to support vegetation;

(6) restore the topsoil or the best available subsoil which has

been segregated and preserved;

(7) protect offsite areas from slides or damage occurring during the surface mining and reclamation operations, and not deposit spoil material or locate any part of the operations or waste accumulations outside the permit area;

(8) create, if authorized in the approved mining and reclamation plan and permit, permanent impoundments of water on mining sites as part of reclamation activities only when it is ade-

quately demonstrated that—

(A) the size of the impoundment is adequate for its in-

tended purposes;

(B) the impoundment dam construction will be so designed as to achieve necessary stability with an adequate margin of safety compatible with that of structures constructed under Public Law 83–566;

(C) the quality of impounded water will be suitable on a permanent basis for its intended use and that discharges from the impoundment will not degrade the water quality in the re-

ceiving stream;

(D) the level of water will be reasonably stable;

(E) final grading will provide adequate safety and access

for proposed water users; and

(F) such water impoundments will not result in the diminution of the quality or quantity of water utilized by adjacent or surrounding landowners for agricultural, industrial, recreational, or domestic uses;

(9) fill all auger holes with an impervious and noncombustible

material in order to prevent drainage;

(10) minimize the disturbances to the prevailing hydrologic balance at the mine-site and in associated offsite areas and to the quality and quantity of water in surface and ground water systems both during and after surface coal mining operations and during reclamation by—

(A) avoiding acid or other toxic mine drainage by such

measures as, but not limited to—

(i) preventing or removing water from contact with

toxic producing deposits:

(ii) treating drainage to reduce toxic content which adversely affects downstream water upon being released to water courses:

(iii) casing, sealing, or otherwise managing boreholes, shafts, and wells to keep acid or other toxic drainage from

entering ground and surface waters;

(B) conducting surface mining operations so as to prevent additional contributions of suspended solids to streamflow or runoff outside the permit area above natural levels under seasonal flow conditions as measured prior to any mining, and avoiding channel deepening or enlargement in operations requiring the discharge of water from mines:

(C) removing temporary or large siltation structures from drainways after disturbed areas are revegetated and

stabilized:

(D) restoring recharge capacity of the aguifer at the mine

site to approximate premining conditions;

(E) preserving throughout the mining and reclamation process the hydrologic integrity of alluvial valley floors in the arid and semiarid areas of the country; and

(F) such other actions as the regulatory authority may

prèscribe.

(11) with respect to surface disposal of mine wastes, tailings, coal processing wastes, and other wastes in areas other than the mine working or excavations, stabilize all waste piles in designated areas through construction in compacted layers including the use of incombustible and impervious materials if necessary and assure the final contour of the waste pile will be compatible with natural surroundings and that the site can and will be stabilized and revegetated according to the provisions of this Act;

(12) refrain from surface coal mining within five hundred feet from active and abandoned underground mines in order to prevent break-throughs and to protect health or safety of miners: Provided, That the regulatory authority shall permit an operator to mine closer to an abandoned underground mine: Provided, That this does not create hazards to the health and safety of miners; or shall permit an operator to mine near, through or partially through an abandoned underground mine working where such mining through will achieve improved resource recovery, abatement of water pollution or elimination of public hazards and such mining shall be consistent with the provisions of the Act;

(13) with respect to the use of existing or new impoundments for the disposal of coal mine wastes, coal processing wastes, or other liquid or solid wastes, incorporate the best engineering practices for the design and construction of water retention facilities and construct or reconstruct such facilities to insure that the

construction will be so designed to achieve necessary stability with an adequate margin of safety to protect the health and safety of the public and which at a minimum, is compatible with that of structures constructed under Public Law 83–566 (16 U.S.C. 1006); that leachate will not pollute surface or ground water, and that no mine waste such as coal fines and slimes determined as unsuitable for construction constituents by sound engineering methods and design practices are used in the construction of water impoundments, water retention facilities, dams, or settling ponds; and that the location will not endanger public health and safety should failure occur;

(14) insure that all debris, acid forming materials, toxic materials, or materials constituting a fire hazard are treated or disposed of in a manner designed to prevent contamination of ground

or surface waters or sustained combustion;

(15) insure that explosives are used only in accordance with existing State and Federal law and the regulations promulgated by the regulatory authority; which shall include provisions to—

(Å) provide adequate advance written notice by publication and/or posting of the planned blasting schedule to local governments and to residents who might be affected by the use of such explosives and maintain for a period of at least two years a log of the magnitudes and times of blasts; and

(B) limit the type of explosives and detonating equipment, the size, the timing and frequency of blasts based upon the physical conditions of the site so as to prevent (i) injury to persons, (ii) damage to public and private property outside the permit area, (iii) adverse impacts on any underground mine, and (iv) change in the course, channel, or availability of ground or surface water outside the permit area:

(16) insure that all reclamation efforts proceed in an environmentally sound manner and as contemporaneously as practicable

with the surface mining operations;

(17) insure the construction, maintenance, and postmining conditions of access roads into and across the site of operations will control or prevent erosion and siltation, pollution of water, damage to fish or wildlife or their habitat, or public or private property: Provided, That the regulatory authority may permit the retention after mining of certain access roads where consistent with State and local land use plans and programs and where necessary may permit a limited exception to the restoration of approximate original contour for that purpose;

(18) refrain from the construction of roads or other access ways up a stream bed or drainage channel or in such proximity to such channel so as to seriously after the normal flow of water:

(19) establish on the regraded areas, and all other lands affected, a diverse, effective and permanent vegetative cover native to the area of land to be affected and capable of self-regeneration and plant succession at least equal in extent of cover to the natural vegetation of the area; except, that introduced species may be

used in the revegetation process where desirable and necessary to

achieve the approved postmining land use plan:

(20) assume the responsibility for successful revegetation, as required by paragraph (19) above, for a period of five full years after the last year of augmented seeding, fertilizing, irrigation, or other work in order to assure compliance with paragraph (19) above, except in those areas or regions of the country where the annual average precipitation is twenty-six inches or less, then the operator's assumption of responsibility and liability will extend for a period of ten full years after the last year of augmented seeding, fertilizing, irrigation, or other work: Provided, That when the regulatory authority approves a long-term intensive agricultural postmining land use, the applicable five- or ten-year period of responsibility for revegetation shall commence at the date of initial planting for such long-term intensive agricultural postmining land use: Provided further, That when the the regulatory authority issues a written finding approving a long-term, intensive, agricultural postmining land use as part of the mining and reclamation plan, the authority may grant exceptions to the provisions of paragraph (19) above; and

(21) meet such other criteria as are necessary to achieve reclamation in accordance with the purposes of this Act, taking into consideration the physical, climatological, and other characteristics of the site, and to insure the maximum practicable recovery of

the mineral resources.

(c) (1) Each State program may and each Federal program shall include procedures pursuant to which the regulatory authority may permit variances for the purposes set forth in paragraph (3) of this subsection.

(2) Where an applicant meets the requirements of subparagraphs (3) and (4) of this subsection a variance from the requirement to restore to approximate original contour set forth in subsection 515(b) (3) or 515(d) of this section may be granted for the surface mining of coal where the mining operation will remove an entire coal seam or seams running through the upper fraction of a mountain, ridge, or hill (except as provided in subsection (c) (4) (A) hereof) by removing all of the overburden and creating a level plateau or a gently rolling contour with no highwalls remaining, and capable of suporting postmining uses in accord with the requirements of this subsection.

(3) In cases where an industrial, commercial (including commercial agricultural), residential or public facility (including recreational facilities) development is proposed for the postmining use of the affected land, the regulatory authority may grant a variance for a surface mining operation of the nature described in subsection (c) (2)

where-

(A) after consultation with the appropriate land use planning agencies, if any, the proposed development is deemed to constitute an equal or better economic or public use of the affected land, as compared with the premining use;

(B) the equal or better economic or public use can be obtained only if one or more exceptions to the requirements of section 515

(b)(3) are granted;

- (C) the applicant presents specific plans for the proposed postmining land use and appropriate assurances that such use will be—
 - (i) compatible with adjacent land uses;

(ii) obtainable according to data regarding expected need and market:

(iii) assured of investment in necessary public facilities; (iv) suported by commitments from public agencies where appropriate;

(v) practicable with respect to private financial capability

for completion of the proposed development;

(vi) planned pursuant to a schedule attached to the reclamation plan so as to integrate the mining operation and rec-

lamation with the postmining land use; and

(vii) designed by a registered engineer in conformance with professional standards established to assure the stability, drainage, and configuration necessary for the intended use of the site:

(D) the proposed use would be consistent with adjacent land uses, and existing State and local land use plans and programs;

(É) the regulatory authority provides the governing body of the unit of general-purpose government in which the land is located and any State or Federal agency which the regulatory agency, in its discretion, determines to have an interest in the proposed use, an opportunity of not more than sixty days to review and comment on the proposed use;

(F) a public hearing is held in the locality of the proposed surface mining operation prior to the grant of any permit including

a variance; and

(G) all other requirements of this Act will be met.

(4) In granting any variance pursuant to this subsection the regulatory authority shall require that—

(A) the toe of the lowest coal seam mined and the overburden associated with it are retained in place as a barrier to slides and erosion;

(B) the reclaimed area is stable:

(C) the resulting plateau or rolling contour drains inward from the outslopes except at specified points;

(D) no damage will be done to natural watercourses;

(E) all other requirements of this Act will be met.
(5) The regulatory authority shall promulgate specific regulations to govern the granting of variances in accord with the provisions of this subsection, and may impose such additional requirements as he deems to be necessary.

(6) All exceptions granted under the provisions of this subsection shall be reviewed not more than three years from the date of issuance of the permit, unless the applicant affirmatively demonstrates that the proposed development is proceeding in accordance with the terms

of the approved schedule and reclamation plan.

(d) The following performance standards shall be applicable to steep-slope surface coal mining and shall be in addition to those general performance standards required by this section: Provided, how-

ever, That the provisions of this subsection (d) shall not apply to those situations in which an operator is mining on flat or gently rolling terrain, on which an occasional steep slope is encountered through which the mining operation is to proceed, leaving a plain or predominantly flat area:

(1) Insure that when performing surface mining on steep slopes, no debris, abandoned or disabled equipment, spoil material, or waste mineral matter be placed on the downslope below the bench or mining cut, except that where necessary soil or spoil material from the initial block or short linear cut of earth necessary to obtain initial access to the coal seam in a new surface mining operation can be placed on a limited and specified area of the downslope below the initial cut if the permittee demonstrates that such soil or spoil material will not slide and that the other requirements of this subsection can still be met: Provided, That spoil material in excess of that required for the reconstruction of the approximate original contour under the provisions of paragraphs 515(b)(3) or 515(d)(2) or excess spoil from a surface coal mining operation granted a variance under subsection 515(c) may be permanently stored at such offsite spoil storage areas as the regulatory authority shall designate and for the purposes of this Act such areas shall be deemed in all respects to be part of the lands affected by surface coal mining operations. Such offsite spoil storage areas shall be designed by a registered engineer in conformance with professional standards established to assure the stability, drainage, and configuration necessary for the intended use of the site.

(2) Complete backfilling with spoil material shall be required to

(2) Complete backfilling with spoil material shall be required to cover completely the highwall and return the site to the approximate original contour, which material will maintain stability following min-

ing and reclamation.

(3) The operator may not disturb land above the top of the highwall unless the regulatory authority finds that such disturbance will facilitate compliance with the environmental protection standards of this section: Provided, however, That the land disturbed above the highwall shall be limited to that amount necessary to facilitate said compliance.

(4) For the purposes of this section, the term "steep-slope" is any slope above twenty degrees or such lesser slope as may be defined by the regulatory authority after consideration of soil, climate, and other

characteristics of a region or State.

SURFACE EFFECTS OF UNDERGROUND COAL MINING OPERATIONS

SEC. 516. (a) The Secretary shall promulgate rules and regulations directed toward the surface effects of underground coal mining operations, embodying the following requirements and in accordance with the procedures established under section 501 of this Act.

(b) Each permit issued under any approved State or Federal program pursuant to this Act and relating to underground coal mining

shall require the operator to-

(1) adopt measures consistent with known technology in order to prevent subsidence to the extent technologically and economically feasible, maximize mine stability, and maintain the value and use of such surface lands, except in those instances where

the mining technology used requires planned subsidence in a predictable and controlled manner: Provided. That nothing in this subsection shall be construed to prohibit the standard method of room and pillar continuous mining;

(2) seal all portals, entryways, drifts, shafts, or other openings between the surface and underground mine workings when no

longer needed for the conduct of the mining operations;

(3) fill or seal exploratory holes no longer necessary for mining, maximizing to the extent practicable return of mine and processing waste, tailings, and any other waste incident to the

mining operation, to the mine workings or excavations;

(4) with respect to surface disposal of mine wastes, tailings, coal processing wastes, and other wastes in areas other than the mine workings or excavations, stabilize all waste piles created by the permittee from current operations through construction in compacted layers including the use of incombustible and impervious materials if necessary and assure that the leachate will not pollute surface or ground waters and that the final contour of the waste accumulation will be compatible with natural surroundings and that the site is stabilized and revegetated according to the

provisions of this section:

- (5) with respect to the use of existing or new impoundments for the disposal of coal mine wastes, coal processing wastes, or other liquid or solid wastes, incorporate the best engineering practices for the design and construction of water retention facilities and construct or reconstruct such facilities to insure that the construction will be so designed to achieve necessary stability with an adequate margin of safety to protect the health and safety of the public and which, at a minimum, is compatible with that of structures constructed under Public Law 83-566 (16 U.S.C. 1006); that leachate will not pollute surface or ground water, and that no mine waste such as coal fines and slimes determined as unsuitable for construction constituents by sound engineering methods and design practices are used in the construction of water impoundments, water retention facilities, dams, or settling ponds and that the location will not endanger public health and safety should failure occur;
- (6) establish on regarded areas and all other lands affected, a diverse and permanent vegetative cover capable of self-regeneration and plant succession and at least equal in extent of cover to the natural vegetation of the area:

(7) protect offsite areas from damages which may result from such mining operations:

(8) eliminate fire hazards and otherwise eliminate conditions which constitute a hazard to health and safety of the public;

(9) minimize the disturbances to the prevailing hydrologic balance at the mine-site and in associated offsite areas and to the quality and quantity of water in surface and ground water systems both during and after coal mining operations and during reclamation by-

(A) avoiding acid or other toxic mine drainage by such measures as, but not limited to—

(i) preventing or removing water from contact with

toxic producing deposits:

(ii) treating drainage to reduce toxic content which adversely affects downstream water upon being released to water courses:

(iii) casing, sealing, or otherwise managing boreholes, shafts, and wells to keep acid or other toxic drainage

from entering ground and surface waters; and

(B) conducting mining operations so as to prevent additional contributions of suspended solids to streamflow or runoff outside the permit area above natural levels under seasonal flow conditions as measured prior to any mining, and avoiding channel deepening or enlargement in operations requiring the discharge of water from mines.

(c) In order to protect the stability of the land, the regulatory authority shall suspend underground coal mining under urbanized areas, cities, towns, and communities and adjacent to industrial or commercial buildings, major impoundments, or permanent streams if he finds imminent danger to inhabitants of the urbanized areas, cities,

towns, and communities.

(d) The provisions of title V of this Act relating to State and Federal programs, permits, bonds, inspections and enforcement, public review, and administrative and judicial review shall be applicable to surface coal mining and reclamation operations incident to underground coal mining with such modifications to the permit application requirements, permit approval or denial procedures, and bond requirements, as are deemed necessary by the Secretary due to the differences between surface and underground coal mining. The Secretary shall promulgate such modifications in accordance with the rulemaking procedure established in section 501 of this Act.

INSPECTIONS AND MONITORING

SEC. 517. (a) The Secretary shall cause to be made such inspections of any surface coal mining and reclamation operations as are necessary to evaluate the administration of approved State programs, or to develop or enforce any Federal program, and for such purposes authorized representatives of the Secretary shall have a right of entry to, upon, or through any surface coal mining and reclamation operations.

(b) For the purpose of developing or assisting in the development. administration, and enforcement of any approved State or Federal program under this Act or in the administration and enforcement of any permit under this Act, or of determining whether any person is in violation of any requirement of any such State or Federal program or any other requirement of this Act-

(1) the regulatory authority shall require any permittee to (A) establish and maintain appropriate records, (B) make monthly reports to the regulatory authority, (C) install, use, and maintain any necessary monitoring equipment or methods, (D)

evaluate results in accordance with such methods, at such locations, intervals, and in such manner as a regulatory authority shall prescribe, and (E) provide such other information relative to surface mining and reclamation operations as the regulatory authority deems reasonable and necessary:

(2) for those surface coal mining and reclamation operations which remove or disturb strata that serve as aquifers which significantly insure the hydrologic balance of water use either on or off the mining site, the regualtory authority shall specify those—

(A) monitoring sites to record the quantity and quality of surface drainage above and below the minesite as well as in

the potential zone of influence;

(B) monitoring sites to record level, amount, and samples of ground water and aquifers potentially affected by the mining and also directly below the lower most (deepest) coal seam to be mined;

(C) records of well logs and borehole data to be main-

tained; and

(D) monitoring sites to record precipitation. The monitoring, data collection, and analysis required by this section shall be conducted according to standards and procedures set forth by the regulatory authority in order to assure their

reliability and validity; and

(3) the authorized representatives of the regulatory authority, without advance notice and upon presentation of appropriate credentials (A) shall have the right to entry to, upon, or through any surface mining and reclamation operations or any premises in which any records required to be maintained under paragraph (1) of this subsection are located; and (B) may at reasonable times, and without delay, have access to and copy any records, inspect any monitoring equipment or method of operation required under this Act.

(c) The inspections by the regulatory authority shall (1) occur on an irregular basis averaging not less than one inspection per month for the surface mining and reclamation operations for coal covered by each permit; (2) occur without prior notice to the permittee or his agents or employees; and (3) include the filing of inspection reports adequate to enforce the requirements of and to carry out the terms and purposes of this Act and the regulatory authority shall make copies of such inspection reports immediately and freely available to the public at a central location in the pertinent geographic area of mining. The Secretary or regulatory authority shall establish a system of continual rotation of inspectors so that the same inspector does not consistently visit the same operations.

(d) Each permittee shall conspicuously maintain at the entrances to the surface mining and reclamation operations a clearly visible sign which sets forth the name, business address, and phone number of the permittee and the permit number of the surface mining and reclama-

tion operations.

(e) Each inspector, upon detection of each violation of any requirement of any State or Federal program or of this Act, shall forthwith inform the operator in writing, and shall report in writing any such violation to the regulatory authority.

(f) Copies of any records, reports, inspection materials, or information obtained under this title by the regulatory authority shall be made immediately available to the public at central and sufficient locations in the county, multicounty, and State area of mining so that they are conveniently available to residents in the areas of mining.

PENALTIES

Sec. 518. (a) In the enforcement of a Federal program or Federal lands program, or during Federal enforcement pursuant to section 502 or during Federal enforcement of a State program pursuant to section 521 of this Act, any permittee who violates any permit condition or who violates any other provision of this title, may be assessed a civil penalty by the Secretary, except that if such violation leads to the issuance of a cessation order under section 521, the civil penalty shall be assessed. Such penalty shall not exceed \$5,000 for each violation. Each day of a continuing violation may be deemed a separate violation for purposes of penalty assessments. In determining the amount of the penalty, consideration shall be given to the permittee's history of previous violations at the particular surface coal mining operation; the appropriateness of such penalty to the size of the business of the permittee charged; the seriousness of the violation, including any irreparable harm to the environment and any hazard to the health or safety of the public; whether the permittee was negligent; and the demonstrated good faith of the permittee charged in attempting to achieve rapid compliance after notification of the violation.

(b) A civil penalty shall be assessed by the Secretary only after the person charged with a violation described under subsection (a) of this section has been given an opportunity for a public hearing. Where such a public hearing has been held, the Secretary shall make findings of fact, and he shall issue a written decision as to the occurrence of the violation and the amount of the penalty which is warranted, incorporating, when appropriate, an order therein requiring that the penalty be paid. When appropriate, the Secretary shall consolidate such hearings with other proceedings under section 521 of this Act. Any hearing under this section shall be of record and shall be subject to section 554 of title 5 of the United States Code. Where the person charged with such a violation fails to avail himself of the opportunity for a public hearing, a civil penalty shall be assessed by the Secretary after the Secretary has determined that a violation did occur, and the amount of the penalty which is warranted, and has issued an order requiring that

the penalty be paid.

(c) If no complaint, as provided in this section, is filed within thirty days from the date of the final order or decision issued by the Secretary under subsection (b) of this section, such order and decision shall be conclusive.

(d) Interest at the rate of 6 per centum per annum shall be charged against a person on any unpaid civil penalty assessed against him pursuant to the final order of the Secretary, said interest to be computed from the thirty-first day after issuance of such final assessment order.

(e) Civil penalties owed under this Act, either pursuant to subsection (c) of this section or pursuant to an enforcement order entered under section 526 of this Act, may be recovered in a civil action

ن الرا brought by the Attorney General at the request of the Secretary in

any appropriate district court of the United States.

(f) Any person who willfully and knowingly violates a condition of a permit issued pursuant to a Federal program, a Federal lands program or Federal enforcement pursuant to section 502 or during Federal enforcement of a State program pursuant to section 525 of this Act or fails or refuses to comply with any order issued under section 525 or section 526 of this Act, or any order incorporated in a final decision issued by the Secretary under this Act, except an order incorporated in a decision issued under subsection (b) of this section or section 703 of this Act, shall, upon conviction, be punished by a fine of not more than \$10,000, or by imprisonment for not more than one year or both.

(g) Whenever a corporate permittee violates a condition of a permit issued pursuant to a Federal program, a Federal lands program or Federal enforcement pursuant to section 502 or Federal enforcement of a State program pursuant to section 521 of this Act or fails or refuses to comply with any order issued under section 521 of this Act, or any order incorporated in a final decision issued by the Secretary under this Act except an order incorporated in a decision issued under subsection (b) of this section or section 703 of this Act, any director, officer, or agent of such corporation who willfully and knowingly authorized, ordered, or carried out such violation, failure, or refusal shall be subject to the same civil penalties, fines, and imprisonment that may be imposed upon a person under subsections (a) and (f) of this section.

(h) Whoever knowingly makes any false statement, representation, or certification, or knowingly fails to make any statement, representation, or certification in any application, record, report, plan, or other document filed or required to be maintained pursuant to a Federal program or a Federal lands programs or any order or decision issued by the Secretary under this Act, shall, upon conviction be punished by a fine of not more than \$10,000, or by imprisonment for not more than

one year or both.

(i) As a condition of approval of any State program submitted pursuant to section 503 of this Act, the civil and criminal penalty provisions thereof shall, at a minimum, incorporate penalties no less stringent than those set forth in this section, and shall contain the same or similar procedural requirements relating thereto.

RELEASE OF PERFORMANCE BONDS OR DEPOSITS

Sec. 519. (a) The permittee may file a request with the regulatory authority for the release of all or part of the performance bond or deposit. Within thirty days after any application for bond or deposit release has been filed with the regulatory authority, the operator shall submit a copy of an advertisement placed on five successive days in a newspaper of general circulation in the locality of the surface mining operation. Such advertisement shall be considered part of any bond release application and shall contain a notification of the location of the land affected, the number of acres, the permit number and the date approved, the amount of the bond filed and the portion sought to be released, and the type and the approximate dates of reclamatic work

performed, and a description of the results achieved as they relate to the operator's approved reclamation plan. In addition, as part of any bond release application, the applicant shall submit copies of letters which he has sent to adjoining property owners, local governmental bodies, planning agencies, and sewage and water treatment authorities, or water companies in the locality in which the surface mining and reclamation activities took place, notifying them of his intention to seek release from the bond.

(b) Upon receipt of the notification and request, the regulatory authority shall within a reasonable time conduct an inspection and evaluation of the reclamation work involved. Such evaluation shall consider, among other things, the degree of difficulty to complete any remaining reclamation, whether pollution of surface and subsurface water is occurring, the probability of continuance of future occurrence of such pollution, and the estimated cost of abating such pollution.

(c) The regulatory authority may release in whole or in part said bond or deposit if the authority is satisfied that reclamation covered by the bond or deposit or portion thereof has been accomplished as required by this Act according to the following schedule:

(1) When the operator completes the backfilling, regrading, and drainage control of a bonded area in accordance with his approved reclamation plan, the release of 60 per centum of the bond

or collateral for the applicable permit area;

(2) After revegetation has been established on the regraded mined lands in accordance with the approved reclamation plan. When determining the amount of bond to be released after successful revegetation has been established, the regulatory authority shall retain that amount of bond for the revegetated area which would be sufficient for a third party to cover the cost of reestablishing revegetation and for the period specified for operator responsibility in section 515 of reestablishing revegetation;

(3) When the operator has completed successfully all surface mining and reclamation activities, but not before the expiration of the period specified for operator responsibility in section 515: Provided, however, That no bond shall be fully released until all

reclamation requirements of this Act are fully met.

(d) If the regulatory authority disapproves the application for release of the bond or portion thereof, the authority shall notify the permittee, in writing, stating the reasons for disapproval and recommending corrective actions necessary to secure said release.

(e) With any application for total or partial bond release filed with the regulatory authority, the regulatory authority shall notify the municipality in which a surface mining operation is located by certified mail at least 30 days prior to the release of all or a portion of the bond.

(f) Any person with a valid legal interest or the officer or head of any Federal, State, or local governmental agency shall have the right to file written objections to the proposed release from bond to the regulatory authority within thirty days after the last publication of the above notice. If written objections are filed, and a hearing requested, the regulatory authority shall inform all the interested parties, of the time and place of the hearing, and hold a public hearing in the locality of the surface mining operation proposed for bond release

a week for two consecutive weeks.

(g) For the purpose of such hearing the regulatory authority shall have the authority and is hereby empowered to administer oaths, subpena witnesses, or written or printed materials, compel the attendance of witnesses, or production of the materials, and take evidence including but not limited to inspections of the land affected and other surface mining operations carried on by the applicant in the general vicinity. A verbatim transcript and a complete record of each public hearing shall be ordered by the regulatory authority.

CITIZEN SUITS

SEC. 520. (a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section. any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected may commence a civil action on his own behalf—
(1) against any person including—
(A) the United States, and

(B) any other governmental instrumentality or agency to the extent permitted by the eleventh amendment to the Constitution who is alleged to be in violation of the provisions of this Act or the regulation promulgated thereunder, or order issued by the regulatory authority; or

(2) against the Secretary or the appropriate State regulatory authority to the extent permitted by the eleventh amendment to the Constitution where there is alleged a failure of the Secretary or the appropriate State regulatory authority to perform any act or duty under this Act which is not discretionary with the Secretary or with the appropriate State regulatory authority.

(b) No action may be commenced—

(1) under subsection (a) (1) of this section—

(A) prior to sixty days after the plaintiff has given notice in writing under oath of the violation (i)" to the Secretary, (ii) to the State in which the violation occurs, and (iii) to any alleged violator of the provisions, regulations, or order:

(B) if the Secretary or the State has commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil action in a court of the United States or a State to require compliance with the provisions of this Act or the regulations thereunder, or the order, but in any such action in a court of the United States any person

may intervene as a matter of right; or

(2) under subsection (a) (2) of this section prior to sixty days after the plaintiff has given notice in writing under oath of such action to the Secretary, in such manner as the Secretary shall by regulation prescribe, or to the appropriate State regulatory authority, except that such action may be brought immediately after such notification in the case where the violation or order or lack of order complained of constitutes an imminent threat to the health or safety of the plaintiff or would immediately affect a legal interest of the plaintiff.

(c) (1) Any action respecting a violation of this Act or the regulations thereunder may be brought only in the judicial district in which the surface mining operation complained of is located.

(2) In such action under this section, the Secretary, or the State regulatory authority, if not a party, may intervene as a matter of

7

(d) The court, in issuing any final order in any action brought pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, may award costs of litigation to any party, whenever the court determines such award is appropriate. The court may, if a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction is sought, require the filing of a bond or equivalent security in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

(e) Nothing in this section shall restrict any right which any person (or class of persons) may have under this or any statute or common law to seek enforcement of any of the provisions of this Act and the regulations thereunder, or to seek any other relief (including relief against the Secretary or the appropriate State regulatory authority).

(f) Any resident of the United States who is injured in any manner through the failure of any operator to comply with the provisions of this Act, or of any regulation, order, permit, or plan or reclamation issued by the Secretary, may bring an action for damage (including attorney fees) in an appropriate United States district court.

ENFORCEMENT

Sec. 521. (a) (1) Whenever, on the basis of any information available to him, including receipt of information from any person, the the Secretary has reason to believe that any person is in violation of any requirement of this Act or any permit condition required by this Act, the Secretary shall notify the State regulatory authority, if one exists, in the State in which such violation exhists. If no such State authority exists or the State regulatory authority fails within ten days after notification to take appropriate action to cause said violation to be corrected or to show good cause for such failure and transmit notification of its action to the Secretary, the Secretary shall immediately order Federal inspection of the surface coal mining operation at which the alleged violation is occurring unless the information available to the Secretary is a result of a previous Federal inspection of such surface coal mining operation. When the Federal inspection results from information provided to the Secretary by any person, the Secretary shall notify such person when the Federal inspection is proposed to be carried out and such person shall be allowed to accompany the inspector during the inspection.

(2) When, on the basis of any Federal inspection, the Secretary or his authorized representative determines that any condition or practices exist, or that any permittee is in violation of any requirement of this Act or any permit condition required by this Act, which condition, practice, or violation also creates an imminent danger to the health or safety of the public, or is causing, or can reasonably be expected to cause significant, imminent environmental harm to land, air, or water resources, the Secretary or his authorized representative shall immediately order a cessation of surface coal mining and recla-

(3) When, on the basis of a Federal inspection which is carried out during the enforcement of a Federal program or a Federal lands program, Federal inspection pursuant to section 502, or section 504(b) or during Federal enforcement of a State program in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, the Secretary or his authorized representative determines that any permittee is in violation of any requirement of this Act or any permit condition required by this Act, but such violation does not create an imminent danger to the health or safety of the public, or cause or can be reasonably expected to cause significant, imminent environmental harm to land, air, or water resources, the Secretary or authorized representative shall issue a notice to the permittee or his agent fixing a reasonable time but not more than ninety days for the abatement of the violation.

If, upon expiration of the period of time as originally fixed or subsequently extended, for good cause shown and upon the written finding of the Secretary or his authorized representative, the Secretary or his authorized representative finds that the violation has not been abated, he shall immediately order a cessation of surface coal mining and reclamation operations or the portion thereof relevant to the violation. Such cessation order shall remain in effect until the Secretary or his abated, or until modified, vacated, or terminated by the Secretary or his authorized representative pursuant to subparagraph (a) (5) of this

section.

(4) When, on the basis of a Federal inspection which is carried out during the enforcement of a Federal program or a Federal lands program, Federal inspection pursuant to section 502, or section 504(b) or during Federal enforcement of a State program in accordance with subsection (b) of this section, the Secretary or his authorized representative determines that a pattern of violations of any requirements of this Act or any permit conditions required by this Act exists or has existed, and if the Secretary or his authorized representative also find that such violations are caused by the unwarranted failure of the permittee to comply with any requirements of this Act or any permit conditions, or that such violations are willfully caused by the permittee, the Secretary or his authorized representative shall forthwith issue an order to the permittee to show cause as to why the permittee's failure to show cause as to why the permit should not be suspended or revoked, the Secretary or his authorized representative shall forthwith suspend or revoke the permit.

(5) Notices and orders issued pursuant to this section shall set forth with reasonable specificity the nature of the violation and the remedial action required, the period of time established for abatement, and a reasonable description of the portion of the surface coal mining and reclamation operation to which the notice or order applies. Each notice or order issued under this section shall be given promptly to the permittee or his agent by the Secretary or his authorized representative

who issues such notice or order, and all such notices and orders shall be in writing and shall be signed by such authorized representatives. Any notice or order issued pursuant to this section may be modified, vacated, or terminated by the Secretary or his authorized representative. A copy of any such order or notice shall be sent to the State regu-

latory authority in the State in which the violation occurs.

(b) Whenever the Secretary finds that violations of an approved State program appear to result from a failure of the State to enforce such State program effectively, he shall so notify the State. If the Secretary finds that such failure extends beyond thirty days after such notice, he shall give public notice of such finding. During the period beginning with such public notice and ending when such State satisfies the Secretary that it will enforce this Act, the Secretary shall enforce any permit condition required under this Act, shall issue new or revised permits in accordance with requirements of this Act, and may issue such notices and orders as are necessary for compliance therewith.

(c) The Secretary may request the Attorney General to institute a civil action for relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction, restraining order, or any other appropriate order in the district court of the United States for the district in which the surface coal mining and reclamation operation is located or in which the permittee thereof has his principal office, whenever such permittee or his agent (A) violates or fails or refuses to comply with any order or decision issued by the Secretary under this Act, or (B) interferes with, hinders, or delays the Secretary or his authorized representative in carrying out the provisions of this Act, or (C) refuses to admit such authorized representative to the mine, or (D) refuses to permit inspection of the mine by such authorized representative, or (E) refuses to furnish any information or report requested by the Secretary in furtherance of the provisions of this Act, or (F) refuses to permit access to, and copying of, such records as the Secretary determines necessary in carrying out the provisions of this Act. Such court shall have jurisdiction to provide such relief as may be appropriate. Temporary restraining orders shall be issued in accordance with rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, as amended. Any relief granted by the court to enforce an order under clause (A) of this section shall continue in effect until the completion or final termination of all proceedings for review of such order under this title, unless, prior thereto,

the district court granting such relief sets it aside or modifies it.

(d) As a condition of approval of any State program submitted pursuant to section 503 of this Act, the enforcement provisions thereof shall, at a minimum, incorporate sanctions no less stringent than those set forth in this section, and shall contain the same or similar pro-

cedural requirements relating thereto.

DESIGNATING AREAS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING

Sec. 522. (a) (1) To be eligible to assume primary regulatory authority pursuant to section 503, each State shall establish a planning process enabling objective decisions based upon competent and scientifically sound data and information as to which, if any, land areas of a State are unsuitable for all or certain types of surface coal mining operations pursuant to the standards set forth in paragraphs (2) and (3) of this subsection but such designation shall not prevent the mineral exploration pursuant to the Act of any area so designated.

(2) Upon petition pursuant to subsection (c) of this section, the State regulatory authority shall designate an area as unsuitable for all or certain types of surface coal mining operations if the State regulatory authority determines that reclamation pursuant to the requirements of this Act is not feasible.

(3) Upon petition pursuant to subsection (c) of this section, a surface area may be designated unsuitable for certain types of surface

coal mining operations if such operations will-

(A) be incompatible with existing land use plans or programs;

(B) affect fragile or historic lands in which such operations could result in significant damage to important historic, cultural,

scientific, and esthetic values and natural systems; or

(C) affect renewable resource lands in which such operations could result in a substantial loss or reduction of long-range productivity of water supply or of food or fiber products, and such lands to include aquifers and aquifer recharge areas; or

(D) affect natural hazard lands in which such operations could substantially endanger life and property, such lands to include areas subject to frequent flooding and areas of unstable geology.

(4) To comply with this section, a State must demonstrate it has

developed or is developing a process which includes—

(A) a State agency responsible for surface coal mining lands review:

(B) a data base and an inventory system which will permit proper evaluation of the capacity of different land areas of the State to support and permit reclamation of surface coal mining operations;

(C) a method or methods for implementing land use planning

decisions concerning surface coal mining operations; and

(D) proper notice, opportunities for public participation, including a public hearing prior to making any designation or redesignation, pursuant to this section, and measures to protect the legal interests of affected individuals in all aspects of the State planning process.

(5) Determinations of the unsuitability of land for surface coal mining, as provided for in this section, shall be integrated as closely as possible with present and future land use planning and regulation

processes at the Federal, State, and local levels.

(6) The requirements of this section shall not apply to lands on which surface coal mining operations are being conducted on the date of enactment of this Act or under a permit issued pursuant to this Act, or where substantial legal and financial commitments in such opera-

tions are in existence prior to September 1, 1974.

(b) The Secretary shall conduct a review of the Federal lands to determine, pursuant to the standards set forth in paragraphs (2) and (3) of subsection (a) of this section, whether there are areas on Federal lands which are unsuitable for all or certain types of surface coal mining operations. When the Secretary determines an area on Federal lands to be unsuitable for all or certain types of surface coal

mining operations, he shall withdraw such area or condition any mineral leasing or mineral entries in a manner so as to limit surface coal mining operations on such area. Where a Federal program has been implemented in a State pursuant to section 504, the Secretary shall implement a process for designation of areas unsuitable for surface coal mining for non-Federal lands within such State and such process shall incorporate the standards and procedures of this section.

(c) Any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected shall have the right to petition the regulatory authority to have an area designated as unsuitable for surface coal mining operations, or to have such a designation terminated. Such a petition shall contain allegations of facts with supporting evidence which would tend to establish the allegations. As soon as practicable after receipt of the petition the regulatory authority shall hold a public hearing in the locality of the affected area, after appropriate notice and publication of the date, time, and location of such hearing. After a person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected has filed a petition and before the hearing, as required by this subsection, any person may intervene by filing allegations of facts with supporting evidence which would tend to establish the allegations. Within sixty days after such hearing, the regulatory authority shall issue and furnish to the petitioner and any other party to the hearing, a written decision regarding the petition, and the reasons therefor. In the event that all the petitioners stipulate agreement prior to the requested hearing, and withdraw their request, such hearing need not be held.

(d) Prior to designating any land areas as unsuitable for surface coal mining operations, the regulatory authority shall prepare a detailed statement on (i) the potential coal resource of the area, (ii) the demand for coal resources, and (iii) the impact of such designation on the environment, the economy, and the supply of coal.

(e) Subject to valid existing rights to surface coal mining operations except those which exist on the date of enactment of this Act shall be

permitted—

(1) on any lands within the boundaries of units of the National Park System, the National Wildlife Refuge System, the National System of Trails, the National Wilderness Preservation System, the Wild and Scenic Rivers System, including study rivers designated under section 5(a) of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act and National Recreation Areas designated by Act of Congress;

(2) on any Federal lands within the boundaries of any national forest except surface operations and impacts incident to an under-

ground coal mine;

(3) which will adversely affect any publicly owned park or places included in the National Register of Historic Sites unless approved jointly by the regulatory authority and the Federal, State, or local agency with jurisdiction over the park or the historic site:

(4) within one hundred feet of the outside right-of-way line of any public road, except that the regulatory authority may permit such roads to be relocated or the area affected to lie within one hundred feet of such road, if after public notice and opportunity for public hearing in the locality a written finding is made that

the interests of the public and the landowners affected thereby

will be protected; or

(5) within three hundred feet from any occupied dwelling, unless waived by the owner thereof, nor within three hundred feet of any public building, school, church, community, or institutional building, public park, or within one hundred feet of a cemetery. FEDERAL LANDS

SEC. 523. (a) No later than six months after the date of enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall promulgate and implement a Federal lands program which shall be applicable to all surface coal mining and reclamation operations taking place pursuant to any Federal law on any Federal lands: Provided, That except as provided in section 712 the provisions of this Act shall not be applicable to Indian lands. The Federal lands program shall, at a minimum, incorporate all of the requirements of this Act and shall take into consideration the diverse physical, climatological, and other unique characteristics of the Federal lands in question. Where Federal lands in a State with an approved State program are involved, the Federal lands program shall, at a minimum, include the requirements of the approved State

(b) The requirements of this Act and the Federal lands program shall be incorporated by reference or otherwise in any Federal mineral lease, permit, or contract issued by the Secretary which may involve surface mining and reclamation operations. Incorporation of such requirements shall not, however, limit in any way the authority of the Secretary to subsequently issue new regulations, revise the Federal lands program to deal with changing conditions or changed technology, and to require any surface mining and reclamation operations to conform with the requirements of this Act and the regulations issued

pursuant to this Act.

(c) The Secretary may enter into agreements with a State or with a number of Staates to provide for a joint Federal-State program covering a permit or permits for surface mining and reclamation operations on land areas which contain lands within any State and Federal lands which are interspersed or checkerboarded and which should, for conservation and administrative purposes, be regulated as a single management unit. To implement a joint Federal-State program the Secretary may enter into agreements with the States, may delegate authority to the States, or may accept a delegation of authority from the States for the purpose of avoiding duality of administration of a single permit for surface mining and reclamation operations.

(d) Except as specifically provided in subsection (c) this section shall not be construed as authorizing the Secretary to delegate to the States any authority or jurisdiction to regulate or administer surface mining and reclamation operations or other activities taking place on

the Federal lands.

(e) The Secretary shall require as one of the terms and conditions of any permit, lease, or contract to surface mine coal owned by the United States, that the lessee, permittee, or contractor give satisfactory assurances that no class of purchasers of the mined coal shall be unreasonably denied purchase thereof.

PUBLIC AGENCIES, PUBLIC UTILITIES, AND PUBLIC CORPORATIONS

Sec. 524. Any agency, unit, or instrumentality of Federal, State, or local government, including any publicly owned utility or publicly owned corporation of Federal, State, or local government, which proposes to engage in surface coal mining operations which are subject to the requirements of this Act shall comply with the provisions of title V. REVIEW BY SECRETARY

Sec. 525, (a) (1) A permittee issued a notice or order by the Secretary pursuant to the provisions of subparagraphs (a) (2) and (3) of section 521 of this title, or pursuant to a Federal program or the Federal lands program or any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected by such notice or order or by any modification, vacation, or termination of such notice or order, may apply to the Secretary for review of the notice or order within thirty days of recepit thereof or within thirty days of its modification, vacation, or termination. Upon receipt of such application, the Secretary shall cause such investigation to be made as he deems appropriate. Such investigation shall provide an opportunity for a public hearing, at the request of the applicant or the person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected, to enable the applicant or such person to present information relating to the issuance and continuance of such notice or order or the modification, vacation, or termination thereof. The filing of an application for review under this subsection shall not operate as a stay of any order or notice.

(2) The permittee and other interested persons shall be given written notice of the time and place of the hearing at least five days prior thereto. Any such hearing shall be of record and shall be sub-

ject to section 554 of title 5 of the United States Code.

(b) Upon receiving the report of such investigation, the Secretary shall make findings of fact, and shall issue a written decision, incorporating therein an order vacating, affirming, modifying, or terminating the notice or order, or the modification, vacation, or termination of such notice or order complained of and incorporate his findings therein.

(c) Pending completion of the investigation required by this section, the applicant may file with the Secretary a written request that the Secretary grant temporary relief from any notice or order issued under section 521 of this title, a Federal program or the Federal lands program together with a detailed statement giving reasons for granting such relief. The Secretary may grant such relief, under such conditions as he may prescribe, if-

(1) a hearing has been held in the locality of the permit area on the request for temporary relief in which all parties were given

an opportunity to be heard;

(2) the applicant shows that there is substantial likelihood that the findings of the Secretary will be favorable to him; and

(3) such relief will not adversely affect the health or safety of the public or cause significant, imminent environmental harm to land, air, or water resources.

(d) Following the issuance of an order to show cause as to why a pirmit should not be suspended or revoked pursuant to section 521, the

Secretary shall hold a public hearing after giving written notice of the time, place, and date thereof. Any such hearing shall be of record and shall be subject to section 554 of title 5 of the United States Code. Within sixty days following the public hearing, the Secretary shall issue and furnish to the permittee and all other parties to the hearing a written decision, and the reasons therefor, concerning suspension or revocation of the permit. If the Secretary revokes the permit, the permittee shall immediately cease surface coal mining operations on the permit area and shall complete reclamation within a period specified by the Secretary, or the Secretary shall declare as forfeited the performance bonds for the operation.

JUDICIAL REVIEW

Sec. 526. (a) (1) Any action of the Secretary to approve or disapprove a State program or to prepare and promulgate a Federal program pursuant to this Act shall be subject to judicial review only by the appropriate United States Court of Appeals upon the filing in such court within sixty days from the date of such action of a petition by any person who participated in the administrative proceedings related thereto and who is aggrieved by the action praying that the action be modified or set aside in whole or in part. A copy of the petition shall forthwith be sent by registered or certified mail to the Secretary, and the Attorney General and thereupon the Secretary shall certify, and the Attorney General shall file in such court the record upon which the action complained of was issued, as provided in section 2112 of title 28, United States Code.

(2) All other orders or decisions issued by the Secretary pursuant to this Act shall be subject to judicial review only in United States district court for the locality in which the surface coal mining operation is located. Such review shall be in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In the case of a proceeding to review an order or decision issued by the Secretary under section penalties of this Act, the court shall have jurisdiction to enter an order requiring payment of any civil penalty assessment enforced by its judgment. The availability of review established in this subsection shall not be construed to limit the operation of the rights established in section 520.

(b) The court shall hear such petition or complaint solely on the record made before the Secretary. The findings of the Secretary if supported by substantial evidence on the record considered as a whole, shall be conclusive. The court may affirm, vacate, or modify any order or decision or may remand the proceedings to the Secretary for such further action as it may direct.

(c) In the case of a proceeding to review any order or decision issued by the Secretary under this Act, except an order or decision pertaining to any order issued under section 521 of this title, the court may, under such conditions as it may prescribe, grant such temporary relief as it deems appropriate pending final determination of the proceedings if—

(1) all parties to the proceedings have been notified and given an opportunity to be heard on a request for temporary relief;

(2) the person requesting such relief shows that there is a substantial likelihood that he will prevail on the merits of the final determination of the proceeding; and

(3) such relief will not adversely affect the public health or safety or cause significant imminent environmental harm to land,

air, or water resources.

(d) The commencement of a proceeding under this section shall not, unless specifically ordered by the court, operate as a stay of the action,

order or decision of the Secretary.

(e) Action of the State regulatory authority pursuant to an approval State program shall be subject to judicial review by the court of competent jurisdiction in accordance with State law, but the availability of such review shall not be construed to limit the operation of the rights established in section 520.

SPECIAL BITUMINOUS COAL MINES

SEC. 527. The regulatory authority is authorized to and shall issue separate regulations for those special bituminous coal surface mines located west of the one hundredth meridian west longitude which meet the following criteria:

(a) the excavation of the specific mine pit takes place on the same relatively limited site for an extended period of time;

(b) the excavation of the specific mine pit follows a coal seam having an inclination of fifteen degrees or more from the horizontal, and continues in the same area proceeding downward with lateral expansion of the pit necessary to maintain stability or as necessary to accommodate the orderly expansion of the total mining operation;

(c) the excavation of the specific mine pit involves the mining of more than one coal seam and mining has been initiated on the deepest coal seam contemplated to be mined in the current opera-

tion.

(d) the amount of material removed is large in proportion to the surface area disturbed;

(e) there is no practicable alternative method of mining the coal involved:

(f) there is no practicable method to reclaim the land in the

manner required by this Act; and

(g) the specific mine pit has been actually producing coal since January 1, 1972, in such manner as to meet the criteria set forth in this section, and, because of past duration of mining, is substantially committed to a mode of operation which warrants exceptions to some provisions of this title.

Such alternative regulations shall pertain only to the standards governing onsite handling of spoils, elimination of depressions capable of collecting water, creation of impoundments, and regrading to the approximate original contour and shall specify that remaining highwalls are stable. All other performance standards in this title shall apply to such mines.

SURFACE MINING OPERATIONS NOT SUBJECT TO THIS ACT

Sec. 528. (a) The provisions of this Act shall not apply to any of the following activities:

(1) the extraction of coal by a landowner for his own non-

commercial use from land owner or leased by him; and

(2) the extraction of coal for commercial purposes where the surface mining operation affects two acres or less.

ANTHRACITE COAL MINES

SEC. 529. (a) The Secretary is hereby authorized to and shall issue separate regulations according to time schedules established in the Act for anthracite coal surface mines, if such mines are regulated by environmental protection standards of the State in which they are located. Such afternative regulations shall adopt, in each instance, the environmental protection provisions of the State regulatory program in existence at the date of enactment of this Act in lieu of sections 515 and 516. Provisions of sections 509 and 519 are applicable except for specified bond limits and period of revegetation responsibility. All other provisions of this Act apply and the regulation issued by the Secretary of Interior for each State anthracite regulatory program shall so reflect: Provided, however, That upon amendment of a State's regulatory program for anthracite mining or regulations thereunder in force in lieu of the above-cited sections of this Act, the Secretary shall issue such additional regulations as necessary to meet the purposes of this Act.

TITLE VI—DESIGNATION OF LANDS UNSUITABLE FOR NON-COAL MINING

DESIGNATION PROCEDURES

Sec. 601. (a) With respect to Federal lands within any State, the Secretary of Interior may, and if so requested by the Governor of such State, shall review any area within such lands to assess whether it may be unsuitable for mining operations for minerals or materials other than coal, pursuant to the criteria and procedures of this section.

(b) An area of Federal lands may be designated under this section as unsuitable for mining operations if (a) such area consists of Federal land of a predominantly urban or suburban character, used primarily for residential or related purposes, the mineral estate of which remains in the public domain, or (b) such area consists of Federal land where mining operations would have an adverse impact on lands

used primarily for residential or related purposes.

(c) Any person having an interest which is or may be adversely affected shall have the right to petition the Secretary to seek exclusion of an area from mining operations pursuant to this section or the redesignation of an area or part thereof as suitable for such operations. Such petition shall contain allegations of fact with supporting evidence which would tend to substantiate the allegations. The petitioner shall be granted a hearing within a reasonable time and a finding with reasons therefor upon the matter of their petition. In any instance where a governor requests the Secretary to review an area, or where the

Secretary finds the national interest so requires, the Secretary may temporarily withdraw the area to be reviewed from mineral entry or leasing pending such review: Provided, however, That such temporary withdrawal be ended as promptly as practicable and in no event

shall exceed two years.

(d) In no event is a land area to be designated unsuitable for mining operations under this section on which mining operations are being conducted prior to the holding of a hearing on such petition in accordance with subsection (c) hereof. Valid existing rights shall be preserved and not affected by such designation. Designation of an area as unsuitable for mining operations under this section shall not prevent subsequent mineral exploration of such area, except that such exploration shall require the prior written consent of the holder of the surface estate, which consent shall be filed with the Secretary. The Secretary may promulgate, with respect to any designated area, regulations to minimize any adverse effects of such exploration.

(e) Prior to any designation pursuant to this section, the Secretary shall prepare a detailed statement on (i) the potential mineral resources of the area, (ii) the demand for such mineral resources, and (iii) the impact of such designation or the absence of such designation on the evironment, economy, and the supply of such mineral resources.

- (f) When the Secretary designates an area of Federal lands as unsuitable for all or certain types of mining operations for minerals and materials other than coal pursuant to this section he may withdraw such area from mineral entry or leasing, or condition such entry or leasing so as to limit such mining operations in accordance with his determination, if the Secretary also determines, based on his analysis pursuant to subsection 601(e), that the benefits resulting from such designation, would be greater than the benefits to the regional or national economy which could result from mineral development of such area.
- (g) Any party with a valid legal interest who has appeared in the proceedings in connection with the Secretary's determination pursuant to this section and who is aggrieved by the Secretary's decision (or by his failure to act within a reasonable time) shall have the right of appeal for review by the United States district court for the district in which the pertinent area is located.

TITLE VII—ADMINISTRATIVE AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

DEFINITIONS

Sec. 701. For the purpose of this Act—

(1) "Secretary" means the Secretary of the Interior, except

where otherwise described;

(2) "State" means a State of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, American Samoa, and Guam;

(3) "Office" means the Office of Surface Mining, Reclamation,

and Enforcement established pursuant to title II;

(4) "commerce" means trade, traffic, commerce, transportation, transmission, or communication among the several States, or be-

tween a State and any other place outside thereof, or between points in the same State which directly or indirectly affect interstate commerce:

(5) "surface coal mining operations" means—

(A) activities conducted on the surface of lands in connection with a surface coal mine or surface operations and impacts incident to an underground coal mine, the products of which enter commerce or the operations of which directly or indirectly affect interstate commerce. Such activities include excavation for the purpose of obtaining coal including such common methods as contour, strip, auger mountaintop removal, box cut, open pit, and area mining, and in situ distillation or retorting, leaching or other chemical or physical processing, and the cleaning, concentrating, or other processing or preparation, loading of coal for interstate commerce at or near the mine site: Provided, however, That such activities do not include the extraction of coal incidental to the extraction of other minerals where coal does not exceed 16% per centum of the tonnage of minerals removed for purposes of commercial use or sale or coal explorations subject to section 530 of this Act: and

(B) the areas upon which such activities occur or where such activities disturb the natural land surface. Such areas shall also include any adjacent land the use of which is incidental to any such activities, all lands affected by the construction of new roads or the improvement or use of existing roads to gain access to the site of such activities and for haulage, and excavations, workings, impoundments, dams, ventilation shafts, entryways, refuse banks, dumps, stockpiles, overburden piles, spoil banks, culm banks, tailings, holes or depressions, repair areas, storage areas, processing areas, shipping areas and other areas upon which are sited structures, facilities, or other property or materials on the surface,

resulting from or incident to such activities;

(6) "surface coal mining and reclamation operations" means surface mining operations and all activities necessary and incident to the reclamation of such operations after the date of enactment of this Act;

(7) "lands within any State" or "lands within such State" means all lands within a State other than Federal lands and In-

dian lands:

(8) "Federal lands" means any land, including mineral interests, owned by the United States without regard to how the United States acquired ownership of the land and without regard to the agency having responsibility for management thereof, except Indian lands;

(9) "Indian lands" means all lands, including mineral interests, within the exterior boundaries of any Indian reservation, notwithstanding the issuance of any patent, and including rights-of-way, and all lands held in trust for or supervised by any Indian tribe;

(10) "Indian tribe" means any Indian tribe, band, group, or community having a governing body recognized by the Secretary;

(11) "State program" means a program established by a State pursuant to section 503 to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations, on lands within such State in accord with the requirements of this Act and regulations issued by the Secretary pursuant to this Act:

(12) "Federal program" means a program established by the Secretary pursuant to section 504 to regulate surface coal mining and reclamation operations on lands within a State in accordance

with the requirements of this Act:

t

(13) "Federal lands program" means a program established by the Secretary pursuant to section 523 to regulate surface coal

mining and reclamation operations on Federal lands;

(14) "Reclamation plan" means a plan submitted by an applicant for a permit under a State program or Federal program which sets forth a plan for reclamation of the proposed surface mining operations pursuant to section 508:

(15) "State regulatory authority" means the department or agency in each State which has primary responsibility at the State

level for administering this Act;

(16) "regulatory authority" means the State regulatory authority where the State is administering this Act under an approved State program or the Secretary where the Secretary is administering this Act under a Federal program;

(17) "person" means an individual, partnership, association, society, joint stock company, firm, company, corporation, or other

business organization:

(18) "permit" means a permit to conduct surface mining and reclamation operations issued by the State regulatory authority pursuant to a State program or by the Secretary pursuant to a Federal program;

(19) "permit applicant" or "applicant" means a person apply-

ing for a permit;

(20) "permittee" means a person holding a permit;

(21) "Fund" means the Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund

established pursuant to section 401;

(22) "other minerals" means clay, stone, sand, gravel, metalliferous and nonmetalliferous ores, and any other solid material or substances of commercial value excavated in solid form from natural deposits on or in the earth, exclusive of coal and those minerals which occur naturally in liquid or gaseous form;

(23) "approximate original contour" means that surface configuration achieved by backfilling and grading of the mined area so that it closely resembles the surface configuration of the land prior to mining and blends into and complements the drainage pattern of the surrounding terrain, with all highwalls, spoil piles, and depressions eliminated except that water impoundments may be permitted where the regulatory authority determines that they are in compliance with section 515(b) (21) of this Act;

(24) "operator" means any person, partnership, or corporation engaged in coal mining who removes or intends to remove more than two hundred and fifty tons of coal from the earth by coal mining within twelve consecutive calendar months in any one

location:

(25) "permit area" means the area of land indicated on the approved map submitted by the operator with his application, which area of land shall be covered by the operator's bond as required by section 509 of this Act and shall be readily identifiable by appropriate markers on the site:

(26) "unwarranted failure to comply" means the failure of a permittee to prevent the occurrence of any violation of his permit or any requirement of this Act due to indifference, lack of diligence, or lack of reasonable care, or the failure to abate any violation of such permit or the Act due to indifference, lack of diligence, or lack of reasonable care:

(27) "alluvial valley floors" means the unconsolidated stream laid deposits holding streams where water availability is sufficient for subirrigation or flood irrigation agricultural activities:

(28) "imminent danger to the health or safety of the public" means the existence of any condition or practice, or any violation of a permit or other requirement of this Act in a surface coal mining and reclamation operation, which condition, practice, or violation could reasonably be expected to cause substantial physical harm to persons outside the permit area before such condition, practice, or violation can be abated.

OTHER FEDERAL LAWS

Sec. 702. (a) Nothing in this Act shall be construed as superseding, amending, modifying, or repealing the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970 (30 U.S.C. 21a), the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (42 U.S.C. 4321-47), or any of the following Acts or with any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder, including, but not limited to—

(1) The Federal Metal and Nonmetallic Mine Safety Act (30 U.S.C. 721-740).

(2) The Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969 (83 Stat. 742).

(3) The Federal Water Pollution Control Act (79 Stat. 903), as amended, the State laws enacted pursuant thereto, or other Federal laws relating to preservation of water quality.

(4) The Clean Air Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. 1857).
(5) The Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 U.S.C. 3251).

(6) The Refuse Act of 1899 (33 U.S.C. 407).

(7) The Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act of (16 U.S.C. 661-666c).

(b) Nothing in this Act shall affect in any way the authority of the Secretary or the heads of other Federal agencies under other provisions of law to include in any lease, license, permit, contract, or other instrument such conditions as may be appropriate to regulate surface mining and reclamation operations on lands under their jurisdiction.

(c) To the greatest extent practicable each Federal agency shall cooperate with the Secretary and the States in carrying out the provi-

sions of this Act.

EMPLOYEE PROTECTION

Sec. 703. (a) No person shall discharge, or in any other way discriminate against, or cause to be fired or discriminated against, any

employee or any authorized representative of employees by reason of the fact that such employee or representative has filed, instituted, or caused to be filed or instituted any proceeding under this Act, or has testified or is about to testify in any proceeding resulting from the administration or enforcement of the provisions of this Act.

(b) Any employee or a representative of employees who believes that he has been fired or otherwise discriminated against by any person in violation of subsection (a) of this section may, within thirty days after such alleged violation occurs, apply to the Secretary for a review of such firing or alleged discrimination. A copy of the application shall be sent to the person or operator who will be the respondent. Upon receipt of such application, the Secretary shall cause such investigation to be made as he deems appropriate. Such investigation shall provide an opportunity for a public hearing at the request of any party to such review to enable the parties to present information relating to the alleged violation. The parties shall be given written notice of the time and place of the hearing at least five days prior to the hearing. Any such hearing shall be of record and shall be subject to section 554 of title 5 of the United States Code. Upon receiving the report of such investigation the Secretary shall make findings of fact. If he finds that a violation did occur, he shall issue a decision incorporating therein and his findings in an order requiring the party committing the violation to take such affirmative action to abate the violation as the Secretary deems appropriate, including, but not limited to, the rehiring or reinstatement of the employee or representative of employees to his former position with compensation. If he finds that there was no violation, he shall issue a finding. Orders issued by the Secretary under this subparagraph shall be subject to judicial review in the same manner as orders and decisions of the Secretary are subject to judicial review under this Act.

(c) Whenever an order is issued under this section to abate any violation, at the request of applicant, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of all costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees), to have been reasonably incurred by the applicant for, or in connection with, the institution and prosecution of such proceedings, shall be assessed against

the persons comitting the violation.

(d) The Secretary shall conduct continuing evaluations of potential losses or shifts of employment which may result from the enforcement of this Act or any requirement of this Act including, where appropriate, investigating threatened mine closures or reductions in employment allegedly resulting from such enforcement or requirement. Any employee who is discharged or laid off, threatened with discharge or layoff, or otherwise discriminated against by any person because of the alleged results of the enforcement or requirement of this Act. or any representative of such employee, may request the Secretary to conduct a full investigation of the matter. The Secretary shall thereupon investigate the matter, and, at the request of any interested party, shall hold public hearings on not less than five days' notice, and shall at such hearings require the parties, including the employer involved, to present information relating to the actual or potential effect of such limitation or order on employment and on any alleged discharge, layoff, or other discrimination and the detailed reasons or justification

therefor. Any such hearing shall be of record and shall be subject to section 554 of title 5 of the United States Code. Upon receiving the report of such investigation, the Secretary shall promptly make findings of fact as to the effect of such enforcement or requirement on employment and on the alleged discharge, layoff, or discrimination and shall make such recommendations as he deems appropriate. Such report, findings, and recommendations shall be available to the public. Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to require or authorize the Secretary or a State to modify or withdraw any enforcement action or requirement. PROTECTION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES

SEC. 704. Section 114, title 18, United States Code, is hereby amended by adding the words "or of the Department of the Interior" after the words "Department of Labor" contained in that section.

GRANTS TO THE STATES

Sec. 705. (a) The Secretary is authorized to make annual grants to any State for the purpose of assisting such State in developing, administering, and enforcing State programs under this Act. Such grants shall not exceed 80 per centum of the total costs incurred during the first year, 60 per centum of total costs incurred during the second year, and 40 per centum of the total costs incurred during the third and fourth years.

(b) The Secretary is authorized to cooperate with and provide assistance to any State for the purpose of assisting it in the development, administration, and enforcement of its State programs. Such coopera-

tion and assistance shall include—

(1) technical assistance and training including provision of necessary curricular and instruction materials, in the development, administration, and enforcement of the State programs; and

(2) assistance in preparing and maintaining a continuing inventory of information on surface mining and reclamation operations for each State for the purposes of evaluating the effectiveness of the State programs. Such assistance shall include all Federal departments and agencies making available data relevant to surface mining and reclamation operations and to the development, administration, and enforcement of State programs concerning such operations.

ANNUAL REPORT

Sec. 706. The Secretary shall submit annually to the President and the Congress a report concerning activities conducted by him, the Federal Government, and the States pursuant to this Act. Among other matters, the Secretary shall include in such report recommendations for additional administrative or legislative action as he deems necessary and desirable to accomplish the purposes of this Act.

PREFERENCE FOR PERSONS ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY THE ACT

Sec. 707. (a) In the award of contracts for the reclamation of abandoned and unreclaimed mined areas pursuant to title IV and for research and demonstration projects pursuant to section 716 of this

Act the Secretary shall develop regulations which will accord a preference to surface mining operators who can demonstrate that their surface mining operations, despite good-faith efforts to comply with the requirements of this Act, have been adversely affected by the regulation of surface mining and reclamation operations pursuant to this

(b) Contracts awarded pursuant to this section shall require the contractor to afford an employment preference to individuals whose

employment has been adversely affected by this Act.

EMPLOYMENT IMPACT AND UNEMPLOYMENT ASSISTANCE

SEC. 708. (a) The President shall take into consideration and shall minimize, to the fullest extent practicable, any adverse impact of actions taken pursuant to this Act upon employmnt. All agencies of Government shall cooperate fully under their existing statutory authority

to minimize any such adverse impact.

(b) (1) The Secretary of Labor shall make grants, in accordance with regulations prescribed by him, to States to provide cash benefits to any individual who loses his job in the coal mining industry as a direct result of the closure of a mine which closed as a direct result of the administration and enforcement of this Act and who is not eligible for unemployment assistance or who has exhausted his rights to such assistance (within the meaning of paragraph (4)(B)).

(2) Regulations of the Secretary of Labor under paragraph (1) may require that States enter into agreements as such regulations-

(A) shall provide that—

(i) a benefit under this subsection shall be available to any individual who is unemployed as a result of the administration and enforcement of this Act as defined in subsection (b) (1) of this section, and who is not eligible for unemployment assistance:

(ii) a benefit provided to such an individual shall be available to such individual for any week of unemployment which begins after the date on which this Act is enacted;

(iii) the amount of a benefit with respect to a week of

unemployment shall be equal to-

(I) in the case of an individual who has exhausted his eligibility for unemployment assistance, the amount of the weekly unemployment compensation payment for which he was most eligible; or

(II) in the case of any other individual, an amount which shall be set by the State which the individual was last employed at a level which shall take into account the benefit levels provided by State law for persons covered by the State's unemployment compensation program, but which shall not be less than the minimum weekly amount, nor more than the maximum weekly amount, under the unemployment compensation law of the State: and

(B) may provide that individuals eligible for a benefit under this subsection have been employed for up to one month in the fifty-two-week period preceding the filing of a claim for benefits

under this subsection.

- (3) Unemployment resulting from the administration and enforcement of this Act shall be defined in regulations of the Secretary of Labor, consistent with the provisions of subsection (b)(1) of this section. Such regulations shall provide that such unemployment includes unemployment clearly attributable to such administration and enforcement. The determination as to whether an individual is unemployed as a result of such administration and enforcement (within the meaning of such regulations) shall be made by the State in which the individual was last employed in accordance with such industry, business, or employer certification process or such other determination procedure (or combination thereof) as the Secretary of Labor shall, consistent with the purposes of paragraph (1) of this subsection, determine as most appropriate to minimize administrative costs, appeals, or other delay, in paying to individuals the cash allowances provided under this section.
 - (4) For purposes of this subsection—
 (A) an individual shall be considered unemployed in any week

if he is—
(i) not working

(ii) able to work, and (iii) available for work,

within the meaning of the State unemployment compensation law in effect in the State in which such individual was last employed, and provided that he would not be subject to disqualification under that law for such week, if he were eligible for benefits under such law:

(B)(i) the phrase "not eligible" for unemployment assistance means not eligible for compensation under any State or Federal unemployment compensation law (including the Railroad Unemployment Insurance Act (45 U.S.C. 351 et seq.)) with respect to such week of unemployment, and is not receiving compensation with respect to such week of unemployment under the unemployment compensation law of Canada; and

(ii) the phrase "exhausted his rights to such assistance" means exhausted all rights to regular, additional, and extended compensation under all State unemployment compensation laws and chapter 85 of title 5, United States Code, and has no further rights to regular, additional, or extended compensation under any State or Federal unemployment compensation law (including the Railroad Unemployment Insurance Act (45 U.S.C. 351 et seq.)) with respect to such week of unemployment, and is not receiving compensation with respect to such week of unemployment under the unemployment compensation law of Canada.

SEVERABILITY

SEC. 709. If any provision of this Act or the applicability thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of this Act and the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

ALASKAN SURFACE COAL MINE STUDY

SEC. 710. (a) The Secretary is directed to contract with the National Academy of Sciences-National Academy of Engineering for an indepth study of surface coal mining conditions in the State of Alaska in order to determine which, if any, of the provisions of this Act should be modified with respect to surface coal mining operations in Alaska.

(b) The Secretary shall report on the findings of the study to the President and Congress no later than two years after the date of enactment of this Act.

(c) The Secretary shall include in his report a draft of legislation

to implement any changes recommended to this Act.

(d) Until one year after the Secretary has made this report to the President and Congress, or three years after the date of enactment of this Act, whichever comes first, the Secretary is authorized to suspend the applicability of any provision of this Act, or any regulation issued pursuant thereto, to any surface coal mining operation in Alaska in existence on the date of the enactment of this Act if he determines that it is necessary to insure the continued operation of such surface coal mining operation. The Secretary may exercise his suspension authority only after he has (1) published a notice of proposed suspension in the Federal Register and in a newspaper of general circulation in the area of Alaska in which the affected surface coal mining operation is located, and (2) held a public hearing on the proposed suspension in Alaska.

(e) There is hereby authorized to be appropriated for the purpose

of this section \$250,000.

STUDY OF RECLAMATION STANDARDS FOR SURFACE MINING OF OTHER MINERALS

Sec. 711. (a) The Chairman of the Council on Environmental Quality is directed to contract with the National Academy of Sciences-National Academy of Engineering, other Government agencies or private groups as appropriate, for an in-depth study of current and developing technology for surface and open pit mining and reclamation for minerals other than coal designed to assist in the establishment of effective and reasonable regulation of surface and open pit mining and reclamation for minerals other than coal. The study shall—

(1) assess the degree to which the requirements of this Act can

be met by such technology and the costs involved;

(2) identify areas where the requirements of this Act cannot

be met by current and developing technology;

(3) in those instances describe requirements most comparable to those of this Act which could be met, the costs involved, and the differences in reclamation results between these requirements and those of this Act; and

(4) discuss alternative regulatory mechanisms designed to insure the achievement of the most beneficial post-mining land use

for areas affected by surface and open-pit mining.

(b) The study together with specific legislative recommendations shall be submitted to the President and the Congress no later than eighteen months after the date of enactment of this Act: Provided, That, with respect to surface or open pit mining for sand and gravel the study shall be submitted no later than twelve months after the date of enactment of this Act.

(c) There are hereby authorized to be appropriated for the purpose

of this section \$500,000.

INDIAN LANDS

Sec. 712. (a) The Secretary is directed to study the question of the regulation of surface mining on Indian lands which will achieve the purpose of this Act and recognize the special jurisdictional status of these lands. In carrying out this study the Secretary shall consult with Indian tribes. The study report shall include proposed legislation designed to allow Indian tribes to elect to assume full regulatory authority over the administration and enforcement of regulation of surface mining of coal on Indian lands.

(b) The study reported required by subsection (a) together with drafts of proposed legislation and the view of each Indian tribe which would be affected shall be submitted to the Congress as soon as possible

but not later than January 1, 1976.

(c) On and after one hundred and thirty-five days from the enactment of this Act, all surface coal mining operations on Indian lands shall comply with requirements at least as stringent as those imposed by subsections 515(b)(2), 515(b)(3), 515(b)(5), 515(b)(10), 515(b)(13), 515(b) (19), and 515(d) of this Act and the Secretary shall incorporate the requirements of such provisions in all existing and new leases issued for coal on Indian lands.

(d) On and after thirty months from the enactment this Act, all surface coal mining operations on Indian lands shall comply with requirements at least as stringent as those imposed by sections 507, 508, 509, 510, 515, 516, 517, and 519 of this Act and the Secretary shall incorporate the requirements of such provisions in all existing and

new leases issued for coal on Indian lands.

(e) With respect to leases issued after the date of enaciment of this Act, the Secretary shall include and enforce terms and conditions in addition to those required by subsections (c) and (d) as may be requested by the Indian tribe in such leases.

(f) Any change required by subsection (c) or (d) of this section in the terms and conditions of any coal lease on Indian lands existing on the date of enactment of this Act, shall require the approval of the

Secretary.

(g) The Secretary shall provide for adequate participation by the various Indian tribes affected in the study authorized in this section and not more than \$700,000 of the funds authorized in section 715(a) shall be reserved for this purpose.

EXPERIMENTAL PRACTICES

Sec. 713. In order to encourage advances in mining and reclamation practices, the regulatory authority may authorize departures in individual cases on an experimental basis from the environmental pro-

tection performance standards promulgated under sections 515 and 516 of this Act. Such departures may be authorized if (i) the experimental practices are potentially more or at least as environmentally protective, during and after mining operations, as those required by promulgated standards; (ii) the mining operation is no larger than necessary to determine the effectiveness and economic feasibility of the experimental practices; and (iii) the experimental practices do not reduce the protection afforded public health and safety below that provided by promulgated standards.

AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS

SEC. 714. There is authorized to be appropriated to the Secretary for the purposes of this Act the following sums, and all such funds appropriated shall remain available until expended:

(a) For the implementation and funding of sections 502,522,405(b)(3), and 712, contract authority is granted to the Secretary of the Interior for the sum of \$10,000,000 to become available immediately upon enactment of this Act and \$10,000,000 for each of the two succeeding

fiscal years.

(b) For administrative and other purposes of this Act, except as otherwise provided for in this Act, authorization is provided for the sum of \$10,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1975, for each of the two succeeding fiscal years the sum of \$20,000,000 and \$30,000,000 for each fiscal year thereafter.

RESEARCH AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECTS ON ALTERNATIVE COAL MINING **TECHNOLOGIES**

SEC. 715. (a) The Secretary is authorized to conduct and promote the coordination and acceleration of, research, studies, surveys, experiments, demonstration projects, and training relating to-

(1) the development and application of coal mining technologies which provide alternatives to surface disturbance and which maximize the recovery of available coal resources, including the improvement of present underground mining methods, methods for the return of underground mining wastes to the mine void, methods for the underground mining of thick coal seams and very deep seams; and

(2) safety and health in the application of such technologies

methods and means.

(b) In conducting the activities authorized by this section, the Secretary may enter into contracts with and make grants to qualified

institutions, agencies, organizations, and persons.

(c) There are authorized to be appropriated to the Secretary, to carry out the purposes of this section, \$35,000,000 for each fiscal year beginning with the fiscal year 1976, and for each year thereafter for the next four years.

SURFACE OWNER PROTECTION

SEC. 716. (a) The provisions and procedures specified in this section shall apply where coal owned by the United States under land the surface rights to which are owned by a surface owner as defined in this section is to be mined by methods other than underground mining techniques. In order to minimize disturbance to surface owners from surface coal mining of Federal coal deposits, the Secretary shall, in his discretion but, to the maximum extent practicable, refrain from leasing such coal deposits for development by methods other than underground mining techniques.

(b) Any coal deposits subject to this section shall be offered for lease pursuant to section 2(a) of the Mineral Leasing Act of 1920 (30 U.S.C. 201a), except that no award shall be made by any method

other than competitive bidding.

(c) Prior to placing any deposit subject to this section in a leasing tract, the Secretary shall give to any surface owner whose land is to be included in the proposed leasing tract actual written notice of his intention to place such deposits under such land in a leasing tract.

(d) The Secretary shall not enter into any lease of such coal deposits until the surface owner has given written consent and the Secretary has obtained such consent, to enter and commence surface mining operations, and the applicant has agreed to pay in addition to the rental and royalty and other obligations due the United States the money value of the surface owner's interest as determined according to

the provisions of subsection (e).

(e) The value of the surface owner's interest shall be fixed by the Secretary based on appraisals made by three appraisers. One such appraiser shall be appointed by the Secretary, one appointed by the surface owner concerned, and one appointed jointly by the appraisers named by the Secretary and such surface owner. In computing the value of the surface owner's interest, the appraisers shall first fix and determine the fair market value of the surface estate and they shall then determine and add the value of such of the following losses and costs to the extent that such losses and costs arise from the surface coal mining operations:

(1) loss of income to the surface owner during the mining and

reclamation process;

(2) cost to the surface owner for relocation or dislocation during the mining and reclamation process:

(3) cost to the surface owner for the loss of livestock, crops,

water or other improvements;

(4) any other damage to the surface reasonably anticipated to be caused by the surface mining and reclamation operations; and

(5) such additional reasonable amount of compensation as the Secretary may determine is equitable in light of the length of the tenure of the ownership; Provided, That such additional reasonable amount of compensation may not exceed the value of the losses and costs as established pursuant to this subsection and in paragraphs (1) through (4) above, or one hundred dollars (\$100.00) per acre, whichever is less.

(f) All bids submitted to the Secretary for any such lease shall, in addition to any rental or royalty and other obligations, be accompanied by the deposit of an amount equal to the value of the surface owner's interest computed under subsection (e). The Secretary shall pay such amount to the surface owner either upon the execution of such lease or upon the commencement of mining, or shall require post-

ing of bond to assure installment payments over a period of years acceptable to the surface owner, at the option of the surface owner. At the time of initial payment, the surface owner may request a review of the initial determination of the amount of the surface owner's interest for the purpose of adjusting such amount to reflect any increase in the Consumer Price Index since the initial determination. The lessee shall pay such increased amount to the Secretary to be paid over to the surface owner. Upon the release of the performance bonds or deposits under section 519, or at an earlier time as may be determined by the Secretary, all rights to enter into and use the surface of the land subject to such lease shall revert to the surface owner.

(g) For the purpose of this section the term "surface owner" means the natural person or persons (or corporation, the majority stock of which is held by a person or persons who meet the other requirements

of this section) who-

(1) hold legal or equitable title to the land surface;

(2) have their principal place of residence on the land; or personally conduct farming or ranching operations upon a farm or ranch unit to be affected by surface coal mining operations; or receive directly a significant portion of their income, if any, from such farming or ranching operations; and

(3) have met the conditions of paragraphs (1) and (2) for a period of at least three years prior to the granting of the consent. In computing the three-year period the Secretary may include periods during which title was owned by a relative of such person by blood or marriage during which period such relative would have met

the requirements of this subsection.

- (h) Where surface lands over coal subject to this section are owned by any person who meets the requirements of paragraphs (1) and (2) of subsection (g) but who does not meet the requirements of paragraph (3) of subsection (g), the Secretary shall not place such coal deposit in a leasing tract unless such person has owned such surface lands for a period of three years. After the expiration of such three-year period such coal deposit may be leased by the Secretary, provided that if such person qualifies as a surface owner as defined by subsection (g) his consent has been obtained pursuant to the procedures set forth in this section.
- (i) Nothing in this section shall be construed as increasing or diminishing any property rights held by the United States or by any other land owner.
- (j) The determination of the value of the surface owner's interest fixed pursuant to subsection (e) or any adjustment to that determination made pursuant to subsection (f) shall be subject to judicial review only in the United States district court for the locality in which the leasing tract is located.
- (k) At the end of each two-year period after the date of enactment of this Act, the Secretary shall submit to the Congress a report on the implementation of the Federal coal leasing policy established by this section. The report shall include a list of the surface owners who have (1) given their consent, (2) received payments pursuant to this section, (3) refused to give consent, and (4) the acreage of land involved in each category. The report shall also indicate the Secretary's views

on the impact of the leasing policy on the availability of Federal coal to meet national energy needs and on receipt of fair market value for Federal coal.

(l) This section shall not apply to Indian lands.

(m) Any person who gives, offers or promises anything of value to any surface owner or offers or promises any surface owner to give anything of value to any other person or entity in order to induce such surface owner to give the Secretary his written consent pursuant to this section, and any surface owner who accepts, receives, or offers or agrees to receive anything of value for himself or any other person or entity, in return for giving his written consent pursuant to this section shall be subject to a civil penalty of one and a half times the monetary equivalent of the thing of value. Such penalty shall be assessed by the Secretary and collected in accordance with the procedures set out in subsections 518(b), 518(c), 518(d), and 518(e) of this Act.

(n) Any Federal coal lease issued subject to the provisions of this section shall be automatically terminated if the lessee, before or after issuance of the lease, gives, offers or promises anything of value to the surface owner or offers or promises any surface owner to give anything of value to any other person or entity in order to (1) induce such surface owner to give the Secretary his written consent pursuant to this section, or (2) compensate such surface owner for giving such consent. All bonuses, royalties, rents and other payments made by the

lessee shall be retained by the United States.

(o) The provisions of this section shall become effective on February 1, 1976. Until February 1, 1976, the Secretary shall not lease any coal deposits owned by the United States under land the surface rights to which are not owned by the United States, unless the Secretary has in his possession a document which demonstrates the acquiescence prior to December 3, 1974, of the owner of the surface rights to the extraction of minerals within the boundaries of his property by current surface coal mining methods.

FEDERAL LESSEE PROTECTION

SEC. 717. In those instances where the coal proposed to be mined by surface coal mining operations is owned by the Federal Government and the surface is subject to a lease or a permit issued by the Federal Government, the application for a permit shall include either:

(1) the written consent of the permittee or lessee of the surface lands involved to enter and commence surface coal mining opera-

tions on such land, or in lieu thereof; and

(2) evidence of the execution of a bond or undertaking to the United States or the State, whichever is applicable, for the use and benefit of the permittee or lessee of the surface lands involved to secure payment of any damages to the surface estate which the operations will cause to the crops, or to the tangible improvements of the permittee or lessee of the surface lands as may be determined by the parties involved, or as determined and fixed in an action brought against the operator or upon the bond in a court of competent jurisdiction. This bond is in addition to the performance bond required for reclamation under this Act. And the House agree to the same.

That the Senate recede from its disagreement to the amendment of the House to the title of the bill and agree to the same with an amendment as follows:

In lieu of the matter proposed to be inserted by the amendment of the House to the title of the bill insert the following:

To provide for the cooperation between the Secretary of the Interior and the States with respect to the regulation of surface coal mining operations, and the acquisition and reclamation of abandoned mines, and for other purposes.

And the House agree to the same.

Morris K. Udall, PATSY T. MINK, JOSEPH P. VIGORITO. JOHN MELCHER. TENO RONCALIO. JOHN F. SEIBERLING, PHILIP E. RUPPE, Managers of the Part of the House. HENRY M. JACKSON. LEE METCALF. J. Bennett Johnston, Jr., FLOYD K. HASKELL, GAYLORD NELSON. CLIFFORD P. HANSEN, JAMES L. BUCKLEY. Managers on the Part of the Senate.

JOINT STATEMENT OF THE COMMITTEE OF CONFERENCE

The managers on the part of the House and the Senate at the conference on the disagreeing votes of the two Houses on the amendment of the House to the bill (S. 425) to provide for the cooperation between the Secretary of the Interior and the States with respect to the regulation of surface mining operations, and the acquisition and reclamation of abandoned mines, and for other purposes, submit this joint statement in explanation of the effect of the language agreed upon by the managers and recommended in the accompanying conference report.

Introduction

The Senate bill and House amendment are quite similar with respect to their approach, structure, and coverage of major provisions of the legislation to regulate surface coal mining operations including the surface impacts of underground mining. Both provided for a State lead with respect to implementing a regulatory program including a period for States to develop their own programs, equal to or exceeding the minimum requirements in the Federal legislation. Both pieces of legislation included requirements for: mining permits, applications, reclamation plans, permit approval and denial criteria, environmental protection standards, inspections and monitoring, performance bonds, enforcement, penalties, citizen suits, designation of areas unsuitable for mining and a Federal lands program.

Following are brief summaries of the resolution of differences between the major provisions of the two bills along with specific com-

ments on some agreed on provisions.

I. Major Provisions

1. Mining and Minerals Resource Research Institutes.—Both Senate bill and House amendment contained titles establishing State mining and minerals resources research institutes. The primary differences between these titles lay in the levels of funding and the criteria for determining eligibility of a State or private institution. In general, the Conference followed the House amendment, although the original three tiers of funding were reduced to two, in keeping with the Senate approach.

Under the approved version, each participating State will receive \$200,000 for fiscal year 1975, \$300,000 for fiscal year 1976 and \$400,000 for each fiscal year thereafter for five years. In addition, the Secretary is authorized to expend \$15 million in fiscal year 1975 and that sum increased by \$2 million each fiscal year thereafter for six years for specific mineral and demonstration projects of industrywide application and other projects carried out by the Institutes. However, the

main thrust of the program would concern the training of mineral engineers and scientists. In conformance with the Senate bill, the definition of qualifying institutions was broadened to include schools of mines. An advisory committee would be given the responsibility of determining whether or not a college or university has an eligible school of mines, division or department meeting the criteria set forth in the House amendment.

The conferees also adopted the House provision to protect the owner of background patents and the general requirement that the Secre-

tary make the results of research available to the public.

2. Reclamation Program.—The Senate bill included a program to reclaim previously mined lands to be conducted by the Secretary of Interior and the Secretary of Agriculture. The initial authorization for this program was \$100 million.

The House amendment included a similar reclamation program to be carried out by the Secretary of Interior and the Secretary of Agriculture pursuant to program priorities set out in the House program. The House amendment included a \$200 million authorization and earmarked funds from the miscellaneous receipts of the Outer Continental Shelf Fund to the extent necessary to make up the difference

between annual appropriations and the \$200 million level.

Conferees melded the two program approaches, including the priorities of the House approach. The funding difference between the programs was resolved by adopting a reclamation fee of 35¢ per ton for surface mined coal and 25¢ per ton for underground mined coal, or 10% of the value of the coal at the mine (whichever is lesser) on each ton of coal mined. Imposition of the reclamation fee begins on the date of enactment and is to be imposed for a ten-year period unless extended by Congress. Under the Conference version, 50% of the reclamation fee revenues derived in any State are to be expended by the Secretary in that state for the purposes of the title.

3. Interim Environmental Standards.—The Senate bill did not apply specific environmental standards to existing mines until 24

months after enactment.

The House amendment provides that certain environmental standards would be applicable during an interim period between enactment and implementation of a State or Federal program. In some cases the interim standards differed from their counterparts in the permanent program.

The Conferees adopted a simplified version of the House approach by reducing the number of standards applicable in the interim period. Moreover, the particular standards of the interim period are the same as those in the permanent program in order to provide greater conti-

nuity between the interim and permanent programs.

4. Implementation Timetable.—The Senate bill and House amendment contained differing mechanisms to accomplish the implementation of the Act. The Senate bill allowed States eighteen months within which to submit regulatory programs in compliance with the Act to the Secretary. Pending approval of a State program (or promulgation of a Federal program for those States not obtaining approval of submitted programs) any person opening a coal surface mining operation after the date of enactment of this Act or expending

an existing mine by more than fifteen per centum was required to submit an application and obtain a permit in compliance with the full standards of the Act. Finally, under the Senate bill, no person could operate a coal surface mine after the twenty-four month period after the date of enactment without a permit issued pursuant to an approved State program or Federal program, an exception was made for a person operating a mine at the date of enactment of the Act. Such an operation could continue after the expiration of the twenty-four month period if the operator had filed an application for a permit and was awaiting administrative action on the application.

The House amendment, on the other hand, gave the States twenty-four months within which to submit regulatory programs to the Secretary. Pending approval of a State program or the promulgation of a Federal program, all coal surface mines had to comply with the provisions of a special "interim" period program, which included environmental standards and a Federal inspection and enforcement program. All coal surface mines were required to be in compliance with a State or Federal program within six months from such approval or imple-

mentation.

The conferees adopted a blend of the two provisions. In the approved version, the States are given eighteen months within which to submit programs to the Secretary. Pending approval of State programs or implementation of a Federal program, all coal surface mines are required to comply with an abbreviated list of environmental standards, including standards relating to spoil placement, approximate original contour and hydrology. Coal operators may obtain variances from these standards according to the permanent variance provisions of the legislation as set forth in subsection 515(c). All coal operators must obtain a permit in compliance with a State or Federal program within thirty months from the date of enactment of the Act except that coal surface mine operations existing at the date of enactment for which an application has been submitted but with respect to which the initial administrative decision has not been rendered, may continue in operation past the thirty-month deadline. As in the House amendment, the Secretary is given full inspection and enforcement powers during the "interim" period pending approval of State programs or promulgation of Federal programs.

5. Variances.—Both the Senate bill and House amendment contained a variance from the requirement to restore the mined area to the approximate original contour, but only with respect to socially valuable uses of the post-mining site. The Senate provisions allowed a variance from approximate original control for mountain-top removal operations and required that the affected area be shaped in such a way as to promote controlled internal drainage. The House amendment included broader exemptions to regrading, backfilling, spoil placement and revegetation under steep slope requirements.

The conferees merged the provisions of the House amendment and the Senate bill. Under the new provision, a variance from the approximate original contour standard is limited to mountain-top removal operations including reshaping and drainage requirements. In addition, the House criteria limiting the post-mining land uses qualifying for the variance to industrial, commercial (including commercial

agricultural), residential or public facility (including recreational facilities) developments were adopted. Plans for such development are to demonstrate feasibility of the proposed project as well as appropriate site engineering and the House amendment requirement that the variance would be reviewed within three years was approved.

6. Enforcement.—The Senate bill and House amendment contained similar enforcement provisions which made available to the Secretary and State regulatory authorities an array of sanctions and procedures for violations of the Act and of permits. The House amendment required cease and desist orders upon the existence of certain conditions or practices or violations of the Act or permit which created imminent dangers to the public health or safety or posed a threat of significant, imminent harm or damage to land, air or water resources. The Senate bill made such cease and desist orders under similar conditions discretionary. The House amendment, contrary to the Senate bill, also made available to the Secretary the full range of enforcement sanctions and provisions against coal operators pending the development of approved State programs pursuant to the Act.

The conferees elected to adopt the approach of the House amendment and to combine all enforcement provisions in one section.

7. Designation of Areas Unsuitable for Surface Coal Mining.—

7. Designation of Areas Unsuitable for Surface Coal Mining.—Both the Senate bill and House amendment provide for the establishment of a process by which the regulatory authority could designate land areas as unsuitable for the surface mining of coal. In addition to the prohibition of surface mining which may result from the operation of the designation process, certain outright prohibitions were included in the Senate bill and House amendment. Thus both the Senate bill and the House amendment would prohibit new surface coal mining operations on lands within the National Park System, the National Wilderness Preservation System, and the House amendment contained additional bans applicable to the National Forest System (including national grasslands) and alluvial valley floors.

The conferees adopted certain of the statutory prohibitions (e.g., lands within the National Park System, National Wildlife Refuge System, National Wilderness System), and modified others, (rejected the prohibition applicable to national grasslands but retained a ban on National Forests). The blanket prohibition on mining on alluvial valley floors which had been included in the House amendment was modified to apply only to alluvial valley floors, which the regulatory authority found to be significant for present or potential farming or

ranching operations.

In general, the conferees approved the House approach to the designation process which provides that where reclamation pursuant to the Act is not feasible, designation is mandatory. The conferees also approved language to clarify the intention that a State is not required to review all lands within its jurisdiction, but, rather, that the designation process is to be invoked upon petition pursuant to the section's requirements. A designation of unsuitability will not affect existing operations or operations for which there are substantial legal and financial commitments in existence prior to September 1, 1974.

8. Special Bituminous Coal Mines.—The Senate bill exempted "open pit" coal mines from regulation under the Act and directed the Secre-

tary to conduct a study of such operations and report to Congress with the recommendations regarding environmental controls appropriate to such operations. The definition of open pit included concepts of: relation of size of excavation to acreage disturbed; movement of mining downward as provided for across large areas; duration of operation on same relative limited site; practicality of meeting reclamation standards; and existence of a practical alternative method of mining.

The House amendment included a provision addressing "special bituminous coal mines" which were defined as operations that would result in excess of 900 feet deep according to existing mine plans, were in existence at least 10 years prior to the date of enactment and met several other criteria. Such mines were not exempted from the Act, but the Secretary was authorized to allow appropriate variation from certain requirements dealing with spoil handling, regrading to ap-

proximate original contour, and drainage.

The conferees adopted the basic approach of the House provision and included the regulation of such mines under the provisions of the Act but provided authority for the secretary to issue special environmental provisions as may be necessary. The approved provision includes from both the Senate bill and the House amendment to define eligibilty under this section. The conferees expressed their concern that this section not be used so that eligibility would become the rule rather than the exception and specifically intend that it only apply to existing mine pits which have been producing coal in commercial quantities since January 1, 1972.

9. Anthracite Coal Mines.—The Senate bill contained no special provisions concerning anthracite mining in Pennsylvania. The House amendment contained an exemption for anthracite coal mines. The exemption required the Secretary to issue separate regulations for such mines in lieu of the bill's interim performance standards, the permit application and approval requirements, and the permanent enforcement standards. Performance bond limits and liabilities were also to be adjusted by the Secretary. All other provisions of the Act were to apply. It is understood that the only anthracite mines qualifying under

this provision were those in Pennsylvania.

The conferees adopted the House approach, but reduced the exempted provisions to environmental protection performance standards and permit approval or denial provisions. It is the understanding of the Conferees that if the State fails to enforce its regulatory program for anthracite coal mines, the Secretary is authorized to take over the enforcement of the special anthracite regulations as well as the provisions of the Act which are not exempted.

10. Designation of Areas as Unsuitable for Mining of Minerals Other Than Coal.—The Senate bill contained no provision relating

to mining of minerals other than coal.

The House amendment included a separate title which authorizes the Secretary to designate certain areas unsuitable for mining of minerals other than coal. Upon the request of the governor of any State, or petition of any citizen which contains allegations of fact with supporting evidence, the Secretary shall review a proposed area for designation. The House amendment provided that an area may be designated if it is of a predominantly urban or suburban nature, the mineral estate of which remains in the public domain, or where mining operations would result in damage to important historic or environmental values.

The conferees adopted a modified version of the House provision. This provision does not authorize designations based on historic or environmental values. Under the version adopted by the Conferees, an area may be designated unsuitable for non-coal surface mining if the lands involved are either used for residential or related purposes, or if mining operations would have an adverse impact on lands

used primarily for such purposes.

11. Employment Impact and Worker Assistance.—The Senate bill and the House amendment contained very similar provisions to provide for extended unemployment assistance and economic relief for individuals who lost their jobs through the administration and enforcement of this Act. The purpose of such a provision was to cushion any regional or community impacts in high density mining areas such as rural Appalachia. These provisions have been opposed by the Administration as inflationary.

In an effort to reduce the possible cost of the employment provisions, the Conferees modified the employment assistance provision. The new proposed Section 708 is substantially the same as the provisions included in S. 3267, "Standby Energy Emergency Authorities Act." The provisions of S. 3267 were developed jointly by minority and majority staff of both houses, representatives of the White House, Office of Management and Budget, Labor Department and

the Federal Energy Office.

This provision requires the Secretary of Labor to make grants, in accordance with regulations prescribed by him, to States to provide cash benefits to any individual who loses his job in the coal mining industry as direct result of the closure of a mine which closed as a direct result of the administration and enforcement of the Act and who is not eligible for unemployment assistance or who has exhausted his rights to such assistance.

12. Alaska Study.—The Senate bill included no special provision

regarding surface coal mining in Alaska.

The House amendment directed the Secretary of Interior, through the National Academy of Sciences-National Academy of Engineering, to conduct a study to promulgate a set of surface coal mining regulations best suited to govern such operations given the special physical and climatic locations of such mines. Until the Secretary made his report to Congress and promulgated regulations resulting from such a study, the provisions of the Act would not apply.

The conferees adopted the House approach of directing that a study be made, but further provided that provisions of the Federal Act are to apply during the study period. However, if the Secretary finds that the suspension of specific provisions of the Act are necessary to insure continuation of an existing mining operation, then such suspension

is authorized after public notice and hearing.

13. Studies.—The Senate bill included several programs to study coal surface and open pit mining, other minerals mining impacts, as well as technologies and resource recovery matters. The Chairman of the Council on Environmental Quality, the National Academy of Sciences and the National Academy of Engineering were to have partic-

ipated in this program. The House amendment authorized the Secretary to conduct research and demonstration projects into alternative coal mining technologies relating to underground mining and safety; a study of Alaskan surface mining, and reclamation of surface mined areas research and development.

These various alternatives were reduced by Conferees to a single effort directing the Chairman of CEQ to contract with the National Academy of Sciences and the National Academy of Engineering for an in-depth study involving surface and open pit mining for minerals

other than coal.

This study, with an authorization of \$500,000 merged features of

both Senate and House bills.

14. Indian Lands.—The Senate bill provided for a study of the question of regulating surface coal mining on Indian lands. The House amendment contained a separate title addressing regulation of surface coal mining on Indian lands. Under this provision, Indian tribes were to be treated as are States under the Act in that a tribe could elect to become the regulatory authority for the purposes of enforcement of the Act or could choose to allow the Secretary to administer the program for the tribe.

The conferees chose to provide for a study of the issues involved in implementing a full regulatory program on Indian lands rather than adopting a regulatory scheme which could be implemented by the tribe under the approved provision. The Secretary is to submit his report by January 1, 1976, along with proposed legislation designed to allow tribes to assume regulatory authority over a surface mining regulatory program. The provision approved by the conferees also requires operations on Indian lands to comply with requirements at least as stringent as the full program's provisions by 30 months after enactment. These are the same time periods as are applicable for non-Indian lands. The Secretary is to enforce these provisions as well as incorporate such standards into existing and new leases.

15. Surface Owner Protection.—Both the House and the Senate recognized the special peculiarities that obtain where coal deposits have been reserved to the United States when title to the surface

rights has been issued to patentees.

Undoubtedly, underground coal mining operations often cause some disruption to the surface. But contemplated surface mining operations, particularly in the West where coal of as much as 100 feet in thickness may lie as many as 80 feet underneath the surface of the land, may in the opinion of the conferees result in a massive upheaval of the surface land.

The Senate bill dealt with this problem by prohibiting any leasing of Federal coal lying under land not owned by the United States. The House amendment instead provided that such coal could be leased but not without the consent of the surface owner. The conferees agreed that neither approach was wholly right. Just as there should not be an absolute prohibition to development of a natural resource belonging to all the citizens of the Nation, particularly when there is an energy crisis, so there ought not to be an opportunity for an individual owning land to reap a windfall in order to obtain his consent.

Section 716 of the conference report includes a moratorium, but for a short period only, from the date of enactment of the bill until February 1976. And it embodies the House concept of surface owner consent, but with a carefully drafted definition of what a "surface owner" is. He must not only hold title to the land, but also, for at least three years before granting consent to a surface mining operation, must have his principal place of residence on the land, or personally farm or ranch the land affected by the mining operation, or receive directly a "significant portion" of his income from such farming. The conferees do not intend by this to impose an arbitrary or mechanical formula for determining what is "significant." This should be construed in terms of the importance of the amount to the surface owner's income. Significant is not intended to be measured by a fixed percentage of income. For example, where a person's gross income is relatively small, a loss of but a fraction thereof may be significant. By so defining "surface owner," the conferees seek to prevent speculators purchasing land only in the hope of reaping a windfall profit simply because Federal coal deposits lie underneath the land.

At the same time, so that there will not be any undue locking up of Federal coal, generous compensation is guaranteed to the surface owner, based not only upon the market value of the property but also the costs of dislocation and relocation, loss of income and other values

and damages.

The procedure for obtaining surface owner consent is intended to assure that the surface owner will be dealing solely with the Secretary in deciding whether or not to give his consent to surface coal mining. Penalties would be assessed to discourage the making of "side deals" in order to circumvent the strict provisions governing surface owner consent.

Finally, section 716 established as one criterion for Federal coal leasing "that the Secretary shall, in his discretion but to the maximum extent practicable" refrain from leasing Federal coal underlying lands held by surface owners. In implementing this policy, the Secretary should consider economic as well as physical conditions in determining what is "practicable."

II. COMMENTS REGARDING SPECIFIC PROVISIONS

1. Nondegradation Issue.—Both the House and Senate bills fully recognize that surface coal mining causes significant disruption of the environment while it is taking place. While the bill requires that land which cannot be reclaimed should not be surface-mined, it is not intended that all surface coal mining be forbidden. Therefore, the language of section 102(a) which refers to a "nationwide program to prevent the adverse effects to society and the environment" is not intended to mean that all surface mining be banned.

2. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation.—Title II establishes the Office of Surface Mining and Enforcement within the Department of Interior. The language of this new title is based on very similar language of both the Senate bill and the House amendment.

In order to provide the Secretary administrative discretion, the conferees did not adopt the House provision directing the placement of the office under the Assistant Secretary for Land and Water. The conferees believe, however, that it would be unwise to place the office under an Assistant Secretary whose program responsibilities include agencies whose missions could conflict with the responsibilities of the office.

In order to assist in getting the office established and underway expeditiously, authority is granted to borrow on a reimbursable or other basis personnel from within the Department or from other Federal agencies. Such utilization of personnel might result in a delegation of authority to them, but in these instances, responsibility for those aspects of the program are to remain within the newly created office.

Concern has been expressed that the establishment of a new office at the Federal level implicitly requires a similar entity in every State in order to manage the State program. This is not the case. It should be noted that many States already have a particular governmental unit regulating surface coal mining industry. The conferees believe that some aspects of the regulatory program might be carried out on the State level by more than one agency, especially where States with surface coal mining agencies have another agency which regulates surface impacts of underground mines.

3. Abandoned Mine Reclamation Fund.—Title IV establishes an abandoned mine reclamation program. The primary purpose of this program is to provide authority to the Secretary of Interior to reclaim previously mined, abandoned, and inadequately reclaimed lands, correct water pollution problems from past coal mine operations, and remedy surface impacts from underground mines.

Priorities for the implementation of this program are established. The first priority is the protection of the health and safety of the public. It is intended that projects to correct such hazards to the public as the stabilization of mine waste embankments or waste piles are to

be included among the first projects undertaken.

A rural lands program administered by the Secretary of Agriculture is authorized for reclamation of private farm lands. The conferees agreed that this program should be implemented through the Soil Conservation Service. While the Soil Conservation Service may want to integrate such projects on a watershed or drainage area basis in order to enhance program effectiveness, it is not intended that such an approach and its planning process slow down reclamation or deny work in those areas or instances where the landowners are willing to participate but the watershed planning is not completed. It is also intended that the rural lands program will be coordinated with the reclamation program implemented by the Department of Interior.

The reclamation program authorized for the Department of Interior provides mechanisms for bringing lands into public ownership prior to reclamation and then utilizing such lands for various purposes

which may require a change in ownership.

The Secretary of the Interior is given authority to reclaim lands to be used for the purposes of housing for miners, mining related em-

ployees or persons displaced by natural disasters or catastrophic failures. Reclamation work in this instance includes the construction of on- and off-site public facilities necessary to support such housing. For the purposes of this section, the term public facilities includes those public works needed for supporting housing (on- and off-lands developed for housing sites), including roads, water, sewers, education, health or other municipal facilities; supporting services and equipment required. Such facilities, works and services may be temporary or permanent. Through this program, the Secretary may provide aid to communities undergoing rapid growth due to the opening of coal mines and coal related operations such as power plants and coal conversion facilities. Employment in all such activities is considered to be coal related. In carrying out this work, the Secretary may contract with other Federal or state agencies, including the Regional Commissions, established under Federal statute for developmental purposes. The Secretary is also given authority to contract for plans, technical assistance and demonstrations. Existing applicable Federal standards for the design and construction of such facilities should, in general, be followed by the Secretary where appropriate, however, the Secretary may fund innovative projects meeting the identified needs.

The conferees added section 408 authorizing the Secretary to transfer funds to other appropriate Federal agencies (such as the Corps of Engineers or Environmental Protection Agency) in order to carry out the reclamation activities. It was recognized that this authority might be desirable since such agencies have appropriate program responsibilities and expertise, such as reducing sediment and other pollution from entering reservoirs, navigable waterways as well as in acid mine drainage control.

The reclamation program is supported by a reclamation fee which, depending on the value of the coal will be no greater than 25 cents per ton of coal mined with underground methods and 35 cents per ton of coal mined by surface mining methods. The differential fee was adopted recognizing the differing costs in meeting various health and safety objectives mandated by law.

It is estimated that the reclamation fee adopted by the conferees would yield approximately \$165 million per year based on the most recent annual coal statistics concerning tonnage, method of mining and average value at the mine. The fee is quite small relative to the current prices of coal. When translated into power cost per kilowatt hour (assuming conservative figures of 10,000 BTU/lb and a conversion rate of 10,000 BTU/kwh) it is less than 0.015 cents per kwhr of electricity. For consumers utilizing from 250 to 750 kwhr per month, this represents an increase of 4–12 cents per month on their utility bill. The conferees do not consider this small increase a burden on current coal consumers or inflationary in nature.

4. Interim Environmental Standards.—Section 502 incorporates by reference seven of the permanent environmental standards to be applicable in the interim period to all surface coal mining operations. One of these standards pertains to the use of mine waste impoundments to dispose of wastes from both underground and surface mines and coal processing plants. The balance of the standards represent

other key provisions of the permanent program pertaining to surface coal mining operations: post-mining land use objectives, regrading to approximate original contour, steep slope requirements including limitation of spoil placement on downslopes, segregation and preservation of topsoil, protection of the hydrologic balance, and revegetation requirements.

The conferees believe that the application of these standards to existing mining operations will remedy much of the environmental degradation resulting from current coal surface mining practices and provide a fair basis for transition into the full range of requirements

in the permanent program.

The incorporation of the requirements of the interim standards into existing operations within the regulatory time period is practical mechanism for assuring compliance without raising the possibility of unwarranted hardship on the operator. The approved language provides that operators are to be given a "reasonable time" to remedy conditions which are violative of the Act, and thus as an operator may have to accomplish significant adjustments in his operations to achieve initial compliance, a reasonable time may be a more lengthy period than would be the case after the Act is fully implemented. Similarly, where an operator is attempting to obtain a variance under the Act to allow the continuation of a particular operation, it is not the intention of the Congress that the operation be interrupted if action on the variance application is not taken prior to the implementation of the Interior standards. In such an event, the determination of a reasonable time for the operator to comply should take into account the administration capabilities of the implementation of new regulations and the operator acting in good faith should not be unfairly penalized.

5. Application Fee.—The requirements in section 507(a) and in section 530(b) of the Act that applications for mining and reclamation permits or coal exploration permits be accompanied by a fee as determined by the regulatory authority and based as nearly as possible upon the actual or anticipated cost of reviewing, administering and enforcing such permits are intended to eventually permit both Senate and Federal regulatory programs to be self-funding. It may, however, be unduly burdensome to require the total amount of the fee to be paid immediately. Therefore, it is the intent of the conferees that the regulatory authority develop procedures for the purpose of spreading the cost of the reclamation fee over the term of the permit.

6. Valid Existing Rights.—The language "subject to valid existing rights" in Section 522(e) is intended to make clear that the prohibition of strip mining on the national forests is subject to previous state court interpretation of valid existing rights. The language of 522(e) is in no way intended to affect or abrogate any previous state court decisions. For example, in West Virginia's Monongahela National Forest, strip mining of privately owned coal underlying federally owned surface has been prohibited as a result of U.S. vs. Polino (133 F.S., 722, 1955). In this case the court held that "stripping was not authorized by mineral reservation in a deed executed before the practice was adopted in the county where the land lies, unless the contract expressly grants stripping rights by use of direct or clearly equiv-

alent words. The party claiming such rights must show usage or custom at the time and place where the contract is to be executed and must show that such rights were contemplated by the parties." The phrase "subject to valid existing rights" is thus in no way intended to open up national forest lands to strip mining where previous legal precedents have prohibited stripping.

Section 522 provides for the establishment of a process for designating lands unsuitable for surface coal mining while title VI grants authority to the Secretary to prohibit mining operations for minerals or materials other than coal on Federal lands. Designation of an area of Federal lands in Alaska under this provision or under title VI will not affect such land's availability for selection by the State of Alaska under the Alaska Statehood Act or by AlaskaNatives under the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act.

7. Designation of Federal Lands as Unsuitable for Surface Mining.—Section 522(b) directs the Secretary of the Interior to review the Federal lands to determine whether there are areas which are unsuitable for surface coal mining on Federal lands until this review is completed.

8. Special Bituminous Coal Mines.—Section 527 provides for the adjustment of several environmental standards for a limited number of existing mine pits in the United States. The Conferees agreed that there were probably a few "open-pit" type coal mines in the Western States which would be unduly burdened by meeting all of the environmental standards as proposed in the bill. In particular, a special provision was included in the House bill which was designed to allow special regulations to be applicable to the "big-pit" mine pit at the Kemmerer mine. The conferees redrafted this section so that it would be applicable to other mines which have the very unusual characteristics of the "big-pit" at Kemmerer.

The specific environmental standards that are affected by Section 527 are those related to: spoil handling, regarding to approximate original contour, elimination of depressions capable of collecting water, and creation of impoundments. It is thought that some mine pits, because of their setting, design and duration of existing operation are sufficiently committed to a mode of operation which makes adjustment to the basic standards in the act difficult. A judgment was made that in these limited cases, such pits could continue with their basic mode of operation, meeting the special requirements of this section and all other requirements of the act.

The compromise language was carefully drawn to apply to pits which were operational prior to January 1, 1972. New mine pits, those opened or re-started after January 1, 1972, must be designed or adjusted to meet the basic environmental standards of the Act. This applies even in those same settings where existing pits may be determined eligible for the special standards. In other words, specific pits, not entire operations which may cover thousands of acres are eligible under this section. Similarly, in determining the practicability of existing pits to adjust to meet the basic environmental standards of the Act, the Secretary should ascertain that the long-range plan of the pit is such that adjustment cannot be made to bring the operation in con-

formance with the Act. In some instances, it would seem probable that the reworking of old pits or combination of existing pits on a mined site would provide an opportunity for a mining operation adjustment to meet the basic provisions of the Act and the eligibility for exceptions should be so conditioned.

9. Alaska Study.—Section 711 recognized that the physical setting of the far north coal fields in Alaska may require special provisions for environmental control which are not required in the coal fields in the 48 contiguous states. Similarly, some of the specific provisions agreed to by the conferees may need to be adjusted in order to allow operations within the environmental objectives and intent of this legislation.

The Secretary is directed to contract with the National Academy of Sciences-National Academy of Engineering for a study to determine if additional or different environmental protection provisions are needed. The Academies offer an opportunity for an independent analysis of this problem and will be able to combine appropriate engineering and environmental capability for the effort.

10. Funding.—The conferees adopted the general House approach to funding the administration of the State and Federal regulatory programs. The funding of the interim program provides reimbursement to the states of costs incurred in implementing and enforcing the interim environmental protection standards. Contract authority is provided to the Secretary of the Interior in order to assure that funds are available upon enactment so program implementation is not delayed. The funds provided the states during the interim program are to be used for improving state regulatory programs and developing state programs to be submitted under the provisions of the Act. It is not intended that these funds be used in such a way as to permit states to reduce their present level of effort in regulating surface coal mining operations.

Morris K. Udall,
Patsy T. Mink,
Joseph P. Vigorito,
John Melcher,
Teno Roncalio,
John F. Seiberling,
Philip E. Ruppe,
Managers on the Part of the House.
Henry M. Jackson,
Lee Metcalf,

J. Bennett Johnston, Jr., Floyd K. Haskell, Gaylord Nelson, Clifford P. Hansen, James L. Buckley, Managers on the part of the Senate.